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ADVISORY · ASSURANCE & ACCOUNTING · TAXATION · TRANSACTION CONSULTING

 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority 
and Food Development Centre

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Food Development Centre, an agency of the
Government of Manitoba, which comprise the statements of financial position as at March 31, 2017 and
the statements of operations, change in net (debt) financial assets and cash flow for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Food Development Centre as at March 31, 2017 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

May 11, 2017
Winnipeg, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants

BMM-Home
Magnus



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Financial Position

(in thousands)

March 31, 2017

2017 2016
Actual Actual

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 825 $ 203
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 581 1,475
Portfolio investments 41 41

1,447 1,719

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 5) 298 523
Deferred revenue 122 201
Accrued vacation and overtime entitlements 293 251
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 371 326
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 8) 1,313 1,506

2,397 2,807

Net (debt) financial assets (950) (1,088)

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 9) 8,798 10,408
Prepaid expenses 34 39

8,832 10,447

Accumulated surplus $ 7,882 $ 9,359

Designated assets (Note 10)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Operations

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

2017 2017 2016
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue: 
Grants:

Province of Manitoba operating grant $ 2,020 $ 2,020 $ 2,020
Other grants  193 193 193

2,213 2,213 2,213

Fee for service 1,002 1,080 952
Lease revenue 359 358 329
Administration fees (Note 11) 1,104 871 751
Donations and other - 4 46
Investment income 4 3 2

4,682 4,529 4,293

Expenses: 
Salaries and benefits 2,738 2,456 2,369
Supplies and project expenses 153 208 156
Purchased services 66 64 87
Travel and transportation 101 35 62
Courier 35 34 32
Marketing 55 37 23
Library publications 7 6 1
Occupancy expenses 398 360 317
Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,341 972 1,345
Write-down of tangible capital assets (Note 9) - 646 -
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (Note 9) - 25 -
Ag Weather Progam (Note 11) 200 144 69
Administrative expenses (Schedule 1) 929 1,019 905

6,023 6,006 5,366

Net (loss) for the year (1,341) (1,477) (1,073)

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 9,229 9,359 10,432

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 7,888 $ 7,882 $ 9,359

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Change in Net (Debt) Financial Assets

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

2017 2017 2016
Budget Actual Actual

Net (loss) for the year $ (1,341) $ (1,477) $ (1,073)

Tangible capital assets:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (52) (59) (77)
Disposals and write-downs of tangible capital assets - 696 -
Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,341 972 1,345

Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 1,289 1,609 1,268

Other non-financial assets:
Decrease in prepaid expenses - 6 15

Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - 6 15

Increase in net (debt) financial assets (52) 138 210

Net (debt) financial assets, beginning of year (1,165) (1,088) (1,298)

Net (debt) financial assets, end of year $ (1,217) $ (950) $ (1,088)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

2017 2016
Actual Actual

Cash provided by (applied to)

Operating activities:
Net (loss) for the year $ (1,477) $ (1,073)
Adjustments for:   

Amortization of tangible capital assets 972 1,345
Write-down of tangible capital assets 646 -
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 25 -

166 272
Changes in the following: 

Accounts receivable 894 (465)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (224) 32
Deferred revenue (79) 129
Accrued vacation and overtime entitlements 42 (2)
Employee future benefits 45 31
Prepaid expenses 5 15

Cash provided by operating activities 849 12

Capital activities:  
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (59) (77)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 25 -

Cash (applied to) capital activities (34) (77)

Financing activities:
Repayment of borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (193) (247)

Cash (applied to) financing activities (193) (247)

Change in cash and cash equivalents 622 (312)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 203 515

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 825 $ 203

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

1. Nature of organization

Established in 1978, as part of the Manitoba Research Council, the Food Development Centre (the
"Centre") serves the agri-food industry by providing a wide range of services including food product
development, research, testing and assistance with technology transfer to enable the industry to
efficiently and economically produce high quality foods.

Effective April 1, 1996, the Centre was designated as a Special Operating Agency by regulation
under The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act made by the Lieutenant Governor in
Council.

The Centre is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). The
Financing Authority has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from the
Centre's operations. The Financing Authority finances the Centre through repayable loans and
working capital advances.  This financial framework enables the Centre to operate in a business-like
manner according to public policy expectations.  A Management Agreement between the Financing
Authority and the Minister of Rural Development, being the Minister responsible for the Centre at that
time, assigned responsibility to the Centre to manage and account for the Centre related assets and
operations on behalf of the Financing Authority.

The Centre is a part of the Department of Manitoba Agriculture under the general direction of a
General Manager/Chief Operating Officer, and ultimately the policy direction of the Deputy Minister
and Minister.  The Centre remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations.  An Advisory Board
with representation from the food industry, clients of the Centre, academia and Government provides
direction on policy and operating activities.

2. Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public
sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.  

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Revenue

Government transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as revenue when
the transfer is authorized. 

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met. 

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met, except
when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability. 



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Fee for service

Fee for service revenue is recognized when the services provided are complete or substantially
complete and when collection is reasonably assured.

Lease revenue

Lease revenue is recognized on the accrual basis according to the terms of the underlying lease
agreement(s).

Administration fees

Administration fees are recognized on the accrual basis in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the underlying agreement(s).

Other revenue

Investment income and all other revenue is recognized on the accrual basis.

(b) Expenses

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on the accrual basis when the related
goods or services are received.

(c) Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term deposits and investments with
original maturities of three months or less.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are investments and deposits with original maturities of more than three
months.  These investments are recognized at cost.

(d) Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities of the
Centre.  These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefits in
future periods.  The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the period the goods or
services are consumed. 

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost.  Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs.  The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Method Rate

Equipment - commercial and product development Straight-line 10-15 years
Computer hardware and software Straight-line  5 years
Building improvements Straight-line 25 years

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Centre changed its estimate for the useful life of its
building improvements thereby increasing the period of amortization for these assets to 25 years
from 15 years.  This change in estimate resulted in a decrease in amortization expense of
approximately $370 for the year.  

Inventories of supplies

Inventories of supplies are recorded at cost and recognized as an expense in the period the
supplies are used or consumed.  

(f) Financial instruments - measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b)
cost or amortized cost.

The Centre records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and portfolio investments.  The Centre also records its financial liabilities at
cost, which include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and borrowings.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in
the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.  Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized; upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments are recognized in the period they
become known.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

4. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2017 2016

Trade accounts receivable $ 366 $ 407
Other receivables 28 1
Due from the Growing Forward Program (Note 11) 362 1,147
Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 12) (175) (80)

$ 581 $ 1,475

5. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2017 2016

Trade payables and accrued liabilities $ 288 $ 510
Provincial sales and goods and services taxes payable 10 13

$ 298 $ 523

6. Working capital advances

The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority has provided the Centre with an authorized line
of working capital of $1,000 of which $210 was used at March 31, 2017 (2016 - $508).



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

7. Employee future benefits

2017 2016

Severance benefits $ 325 $ 282
Sick pay benefits 46 44

$ 371 $ 326

Pension benefits

Employees of the Centre are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of The
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board.
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the Centre, through the Civil
Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Centre
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees.  Commencing April 1, 2011, the
Centre was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its employees' current pension
contributions.  The amount paid for the year ended March 31, 2017 was $255 (2016 - $231).  Under
this agreement, the Centre has no further pension liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Centre began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees.  The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations.  The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the
actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of
changes in actuarial assumptions used.  The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over
the expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as at March 31, 2014.  The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis.  In accordance with the formula, the
Centre's actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2017 is $325
(2016 - $282), with the total net actuarial losses of $18 (2016 - $18) based on the completed actuarial
reports being amortized over the 15 year EARSL of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2017 present value of the accrued severance benefit liability, are:

Annual rate of return:

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%

6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates:

Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%

3.75%



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

7. Employee future benefits (continued)

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2017 2016

Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year $ 298 $ 260
Current period service costs 24 22
Interest on accrued severance benefits 18 16
Accrued benefit liability, end of year 340 298

Less: unamortized actuarial losses (15) (16)

Severance benefit liability, end of year $ 325 $ 282

Total severance benefits paid during the year ended March 31, 2017 were $nil (2016 - $nil).  The total
expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following
components:

2017 2016

Current period service costs 24 22
Interest on accrued severance benefits $ 18 $ 16
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 1 1

Total expense related to severance benefits $ 43 $ 39

Sick pay benefits

The Centre provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest.  The accrued
benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined using a
valuation model developed by an actuary.  The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick
leave usage and actuarial assumptions.  These assumptions include a 5.00% (2016 - 5.00%) annual
return and a 1.50% (2016 - 1.50%) annual salary increase.  The Centre's sick leave benefit liability at
March 31, 2017 is $46 (2016 - $44).  The increase (decrease) in the sick leave benefit liability of $2
(2016 - decrease of $8) represents the total sick leave benefit expense (recovery) for the year.



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

8. Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba 

By virtue of the Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Rural
Development, the Centre is responsible for the repayment of debts assumed by the Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA) on its behalf.  SOAFA holds the debt instruments
listed below on behalf of the Centre.

Borrowings obtained through the use of the available Loan Act Authority are repayable in annual
instalments of principal and interest as follows:

2017 2016

5.625% repayable in annual instalments of $175
principal plus interest, maturing in May 2019 $ 525 $ 700

5.8% repayable in annual instalments of $18 principal
plus interest, maturing in April 2017 18 36

Currently interest only at prime less 0.75% payable
quarterly with no scheduled principal repayments,
maturing in March 2031 770 770

$ 1,313 $ 1,506

Interest is measured using the effective interest method.  During the year ended March 31, 2017, the
Centre made principal payments of $nil (2016 - $54) on the loan with no scheduled principal
repayments. 

Approximate scheduled principal repayments in each of the next five years, or until maturity, are as
follows:

Year Amount

2018 $ 193
2019 175
2020 175



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

9. Tangible capital assets   

2017

Opening Write-downs/ Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost
Equipment - commercial and product

development $ 6,935 $ 13 $ (696) $ 6,252
Computer hardware and software 96 - - 96
Building improvements 14,061 46 - 14,107

$ 21,092 $ 59 $ (696) $ 20,455

Accumulated Amortization
Equipment - commercial and product

development $ (4,006) $ (409) $ - $ (4,415)
Computer hardware and software (96) - - (96)
Building improvements (6,582) (563) - (7,146)

$ (10,684) $ (972) $ - $ (11,657)

Net book value $ 10,408 $ (913) $ (696) $ 8,798

During the year ended March 31, 2017, commercial and product development equipment with an
original cost of $696 was written down to its estimated value of $50 resulting in a write-down of $646
recognized as an expense for the year.  Subsequently, the asset was sold for proceeds of $25
resulting in a loss on disposal of $25 also recognized as an expense for the year.  As at March 31,
2017, the total cost of tangible capital assets not subject to amortization is $106 (2016 - $802).

2016

Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost
Equipment - commercial and product

development $ 6,858 $ 77 $ - $ 6,935
Computer hardware and software 96 - - 96
Building improvements 14,061 - - 14,061

$ 21,015 $ 77 $ - $ 21,092

Accumulated Amortization
Equipment - commercial and product

development $ (3,603) $ (403) $ - $ (4,006)
Computer hardware and software (96) - - (96)
Building improvements (5,640) (942) - (6,582)

$ (9,339) $ (1,345) $ - $ (10,684)

Net book value $ 11,676 $ (1,268) $ - $ 10,408



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

10. Designated assets

The Centre has allocated $41 (2016 - $41) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for cash
received from the Province of Manitoba for vacation entitlements earned by employees of the Centre
prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31, 1998 for
certain employees.  This amount is held in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to
discharge the related liabilities.  Any unused balance is re-invested annually.

11. Administration fees

The Centre has total administration fee revenue of $871 (2016 - $751) from administering the
following programs during the year:

(a) Growing Forward Program

The Centre has been authorized by Treasury Board to administer the non-business risk
management programs under the joint Canada-Manitoba Growing Forward Framework
Agreement (the "Growing Forward Program") on behalf of the federal government and to collect
an administration fee for these services.  The Centre's administration of the Growing Forward 2
Program runs from April 1, 2013 to March 31, 2018.

The administration fee under the current Growing Forward 2 Program is based on recoveries of
certain expenses included in a Memorandum of Understanding between the Centre and
Manitoba Agri-Food and Rural Development, now Manitoba Agriculture.  The recoveries include
specified percentages of certain salaries and administrative costs incurred by the Centre as well
as full recovery of any direct program costs.  The total administration fees received or receivable
for the year ended March 31, 2017 pursuant to the Growing Forward 2 Program are $713 (2016 -
$675), with $346 (2016 - $362) being recoveries of direct salaries and program costs.  Amounts
due from the Growing Forward Program are non-interest bearing with no formal terms of
repayment.  The total amount due from the Growing Forward Program as at March 31, 2017 is
$362 (2016 - $1,147). 

Although the Growing Forward Program is administered by the Centre, control of the program
remains with the Government of Canada, Department of Agriculture and Agri-Food. Therefore,
the financial statements of the Growing Forward Program have not been consolidated into the
financial statements of the Centre.  As at March 31, 2017, the total funds on deposit relating to
Growing Forward funding is $10,640 (2016 - $13,995). These funds are not included in the
financial statements of the Centre.

(b) Ag Weather Program

Pursuant to a Memorandum of Understanding between Manitoba Agri-Food and Rural
Development (MAFRD), Manitoba Infrastructure and Transportation (MIT) and the Centre, the
Centre is administering the incremental operating costs incurred by MIT pursuant to a partnership
agreement between MAFRD and MIT relating to an enhanced wireless network of weather
monitoring stations in Manitoba. Given the strategic relationship between MAFRD and MIT to
improve weather information to Manitoba clients, the Centre has been authorized to administer
the incremental operating costs incurred by MIT in order to ensure the administration is
consistent with the existing Growing Forward 2 initiative (above).  The administration fee under
the current Ag Weather Program is based on 10% of all funds administered on behalf of MIT.
The Centre's administration of the Ag Weather Program runs from April 28, 2015 to March 31,
2018.  For the year ended March 31, 2017, total expenses incurred by the Centre relating to the
Ag Weather Program amounted to $144 (2016 - $69) resulting in total administration fees
received or receivable of $158 (2016 - $76).



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

12. Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Centre does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value
or denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Centre did not incur any remeasurement gains or
losses during the year (2016 - $nil).

Financial risk management – overview

The Centre has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party.  Financial instruments which potentially subject the Centre to
credit risk are cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of the Centre to credit risk at March 31 is:

2017 2016

Cash and cash equivalents $ 825 $ 203
Accounts receivable 581 1,475
Portfolio investments 41 41

$ 1,447 $ 1,719

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Centre is not exposed to significant credit
risk as these amounts are held by a reputable Canadian financial institution and by the Minister of
Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Centre is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due from a
large client base or related entities and payment in full is typically collected when due.  The Centre
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of any overdue accounts.

The Centre establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential
credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and
assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends.
These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written
off.

The balance in the allowance for doubtful accounts as at March 31, 2017 is $175 (2016 - $80) with
changes to the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year as follows:

2017 2016

Balance, beginning of the year $ 80 $ 68
Provision for receivable impairment 102 14
Amounts written off during the year (7) (2)
Balance, end of the year $ 175 $ 80



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

12. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

The aging of accounts receivable and the related allowance for doubtful accounts as at March 31,
2017 is as follows:

     Accounts
Receivable Allowance Net

Current $ 509 $ (53) $ 456
30-60 days past the billing date 123 (51) 72
61-90 days past the billing date 38 (36) 2
Over 90 days past the billing date 86 (35) 51
Balance, end of the year $ 756 $ (175) $ 581

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Centre will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Centre manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet its obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates, will affect the Centre’s net income (loss) or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The interest rate exposure relates to cash
and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low because of their
short-term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Centre is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments
denominated in a foreign currency.

13. Comparative information

Certain of the amounts from the year ended March 31, 2016 have been reclassified to conform to the
financial statement presentation adopted for the current year.



FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Schedule of Administrative Expenses Schedule 1

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

2017 2017 2016
Budget Actual Actual

Accreditation and licensing fees $ 12 $ 7 $ 8
Advisory committee fees 2 1 1
Bad debt expense 5 102 14
Bank charges 4 4 4
Computer expenses 115 107 127
Equipment rental and repairs 140 135 168
Insurance 84 80 74
Interest on borrowings 72 46 58
Memberships 7 5 6
Postage, office and telephone 60 58 51
Professional fees 40 36 32
Property taxes 310 288 312
Repairs and maintenance 65 131 44
Training 13 19 6

$ 929 $ 1,019 $ 905
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Audit • Tax • Advisory 
Grant Thornton LLP. A Canadian Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd 

Grant Thornton LLP 
94 Commerce Drive 
Winnipeg, MB 
R3P 0Z3 

T +1 204 944 0100 
F +1 204 957 5442 
www.GrantThornton.ca 

Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of 
Green Manitoba Eco Solutions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Green Manitoba Eco Solutions, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2017, the statement of operations, 
change in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the company’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 

Opinion  
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Green Manitoba Eco Solutions as at March 31, 2017 and the results of its operations, changes in 
net financial assets, and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards. 

Winnipeg, Manitoba 
June 22, 2017 Chartered Professional Accountants 
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GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS 

(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba) 

Statement of Operations 
(In Thousands) 

For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

2017 2017 2016 
Budget  Actual   Actual 

REVENUE 
Government funding    -  54   340 
Non-government funding     2,767   2,600   2,379 

2,767 2,654 2,719  

EXPENSES 
Advertising and promotion   25    21     37 
Community program sponsorship 30 - -
Computer  40 63 49 
Contracted services    44 41  82 
Office   86  26     32 
Professional fees  35 20   13 
Program supplies and services  2,314 1,877   1,793 
Rent   37 -    - 
Salaries and benefits     700 736     608 
Training 10 6 2 
Travel  25  14 33

3,346 2,804 2,649 

ANNUAL (DEFICIT) SURPLUS (579) (150) 70 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, BEGINNING OF 
YEAR 2,622 2,622 2,552 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, END OF YEAR  $      2,043  $       2,472  $      2,622 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS 
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba) 

Statement of Change in Net Financial assets 
(In Thousands) 

For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

2017 2017 2016 

Budget  Actual   Actual  

Annual (Deficit) Surplus $        (579)  $       (150)  $  70 

(DECREASE) INCREASE IN NET FINANCIAL 
ASSETS (579) (150)    70 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 
2,622 2,622    2,552 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, END OF YEAR $        2,043 $        2,472 $      2,622 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS 

(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba) 

Statement of Cash Flow 
(In Thousands) 

For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

2017 2016 

Actual Actual 
 

Cash provided by (applied to): 

Operating 

Annual (Deficit) Surplus $     (150) $   70 

Change in: 

Accounts receivable    313         192 

Accounts payable and accruals   (48)  81 

Severance liability   11    11 

Unearned revenue   5   - 

Cash provided by operating activities   131 354 

INCREASE IN CASH   131    354 

CASH - BEGINNING OF YEAR     2,546   2,192 

CASH - END OF YEAR  $  2,677  $  2,546 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS 
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

   Year ended March 31, 2017 

1. NATURE OF ORGANIZATION

Effective April 1, 2006, Green Manitoba Eco Solutions (Green Manitoba) was designated as a Special 
Operating Agency (SOA) pursuant to the Special Operating Agencies Financial Authority Act (C.C.S.M. 
c.S185).  Green Manitoba operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. 

Green Manitoba promotes sustainability practices by bringing together all partners (government, business and 
other stakeholder organizations) and in doing so achieves more than if each had acted alone.  Green Manitoba 
serves as the access point for the public to acquire information about provincial sustainability issues.  The 
SOA delivers programs and services related to waste reduction, climate change action, environmental 
sustainability education and water conservation. 

Green Manitoba is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA).  SOAFA 
has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Green Manitoba's operations.  It 
finances Green Manitoba through repayable loans and working capital advances.  The financial framework 
enables Green Manitoba to operate in a business-like manner according to public policy expectations.  A 
management agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Sustainable Development 
assigns responsibility to Green Manitoba to manage and account for agency-related assets and operations on 
behalf of the Financing Authority. 

Green Manitoba is part of the Department of Sustainable Development and operates under policy direction of 
the Assistant Deputy Minister, Environmental Stewardship Division.  Green Manitoba remains bound by 
relevant legislation and regulations, as well as by administrative policy except where specific exemptions 
have been provided for in its charter in order to meet business objectives. 

Green Manitoba derives its revenue from the Province of Manitoba and external sources.  The transactions 
with the Province are recorded at the exchange amount, which is the amount agreed upon by both parties. 

The designation of the Agency as a special operating agency under The Special Operating Agencies Financing 
Authority Act was revoked by a Manitoba Order in Council dated April 5, 2017 and its operating charter was 
cancelled effective the end of the day April 12, 2017. As at the end of the day on April 12, 2017, the net assets 
of the Agency were transferred to SOAFA (Note 5). Effective April 13, 2017, the former operations of the 
Agency will continue to operate as a branch of the Department of Sustainable Development. 

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a. Revenue

(i) Government transfers 

Government transfer without eligibility criteria or stipulations is recognized as revenue when 
the transfer is authorized.  



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS 
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

   Year ended March 31, 2017 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Government transfer with eligibility criteria but without stipulations is recognized as revenue 
when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met. 

Government transfer with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations is recognized as 
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met, except 
when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability. 

(ii) Non-government funding 

Special program funding is taken into income to match the program expenditures.  Any 
remaining program funding is deferred. 

(iii) Other revenue 

All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis. 

b. Expenses

All expenses are recorded on an accrual basis. 

c. Cash

Cash includes cash on hand and the bank balance. 

d. Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of 
the fiscal year.  The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or 
other form of settlement.  Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately payable. 

e. Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of Green 
Manitoba.  These assets are normally employed to provide future services. 

f. Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period.  The accrued severance liability is subject to such 
estimates and assumptions.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS 
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

   Year ended March 31, 2017 

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Measurement 

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) cost or 
amortized cost. 

Green Manitoba records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and accounts receivable.  Green 
Manitoba also records its financial liabilities at cost, which include accounts payable, and severance liability. 

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as re-
measurement gains and losses until realized.  Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the cumulative 
re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the consolidated statement of operations.  Gains and losses 
on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. 

Green Manitoba did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (2016 - $0). 

Financial risk management – overview 

Green Manitoba has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity 
risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes 
financial loss to another party.  Financial instruments which potentially subject Green Manitoba to credit risk 
consist principally of cash, and accounts receivable. 

The maximum exposure of Green Manitoba to credit risk at March 31 is: 
2017 2016 

Cash $2,677 $2,546 
Accounts receivable - 313 

$2,677 $2,859 

Cash: Green Manitoba is not exposed to significant credit risk as these amounts are held by the Minister 
of Finance. 



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS 
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

   Year ended March 31, 2017 

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Accounts receivable: Green Manitoba is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is typically 
due from a large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due.  Green Manitoba 
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts. 

Green Manitoba establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential 
credit losses.  The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and assumptions 
regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends.  These factors are 
considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off. 

There was no change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year and the balance at March 
31, 2017 was $0 (2016 - $0). 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that Green Manitoba will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come 
due. 

Green Manitoba manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the 
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will 
affect Green Manitoba’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.  The interest rate exposure relates to funds on deposit. 

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term nature. 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  Green Manitoba is not exposed to significant foreign currency 
risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in foreign currency. 



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS 
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

   Year ended March 31, 2017 

5. SUBSEQUENT EVENT - TRANSFER OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES TO SOAFA

Upon cancellation of the Agency's operating charter effective April 12, 2017, the following assets and 
liabilities will be transferred to SOAFA: 

FINANCIAL ASSETS: As at 
March 31, 

2017 

April 1–12, 
2017 

activity 

As at 
April 12, 

2017 

Cash $ 2,677 $ (28) $     2,649 
Accounts receivable  - - - 

2,677 (28) 2,649 
LIABILITIES: 

Accounts payable and accruals    165 8    173 

Severance liability 35 - 35 

Unearned revenue 5 - 5 

205 8 213 

Total net assets transferred to SOAFA at April 12, 2017 $ 2,472 $ (36) $ 2,436 

6. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The accounts receivable balance is comprised of the following amounts: 

2017 2016 

Sustainability (various) $ - $ 13 
WRARS (Waste) - 300 

$ - $ 313 



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS 
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

   Year ended March 31, 2017 

7. ACCRUED SEVERANCE LIABILITY

Effective April 1, 2006, Green Manitoba commenced recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its 
employees.  The amount of their severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations.  The periodic 
actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial calculations 
when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of changes in actuarial assumptions 
used.  The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected average remaining service life 
of the related employee group. 

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014.  The report provides 
a formula to update the liability on an annual basis.  Green Manitoba's actuarially determined net liability for 
accounting purposes as at March 31, 2017 was $35 (2016 - $24).  The actuarial loss of $63 based on actuarial 
reports is being amortized over the 15 year expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee 
group. 

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the determination 
of the March 31, 2017 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation were: 

Annual rate of return 
inflation component 2.00% 
real rate of return 4.00% 

6.00% 

Assumed salary increase rates 
annual productivity increase 1.00% 
annual general salary increase 2.75% 

3.75% 

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components: 

2017 2016 
Accrued benefit liability $73 $66 
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (38) (42)
Severance benefit liability $35 $24 

During the year no severance benefits were paid (2016 - $0) were paid.  The total expenses related to severance 
benefits at March 31 include the following components: 

 2017 2016 
Interest on obligation $4 $4
Current period benefit cost 3 2
Amortization of actuarial gain over EARSL 4 5
Total expense related to severance benefit $11 $11 



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS 
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

   Year ended March 31, 2017 

8. UNEARNED REVENUE

Unearned revenues are set aside for specific purposes as required by funding agreements.  The 
unearned revenue balance is comprised of the following amounts: 

Opening 
balance 

Funds 
received 

Transfer to 
revenue 

Closing 
balance 

Heating, Refrigeration, and Air 
Conditioning Institute of Canada 
(HRAI) $ - $ 10 $ (5) $ 5 

9. WORKING CAPITAL ASSETS

Green Manitoba has an authorized line of working capital from the Province of Manitoba of $500 of which 
$0 was used at March 31, 2017 (2016 - $0). 

10. PENSION BENEFIT

In accordance with the provisions of The Civil Service Superannuation Act, employees of Green Manitoba 
are eligible for pension benefits under the Civil Service Superannuation Fund.  The pension plan is a defined 
contribution plan, which requires Green Manitoba to contribute an amount equal to the employee's 
contribution to the Fund for current services.  The amount expensed by Green Manitoba in the current year is 
$50 (2016 - $42). 

Green Manitoba has no further liability associated with the annual cost of pension benefits earned by Green 
Manitoba's employees. 



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS 
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

   Year ended March 31, 2017 

11. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Green Manitoba currently holds contractual obligations with the following parties, with related expenditures 
scheduled to occur in the following year: 

Description (year authorized) 
 Amount 

Authorized 

Obligation 
Mar. 31,  

2017 

Organizations (TBD) – CR&D research and demonstration projects (2012) $ 50 $ 50 
MEIA – CR&D & ICI Waste (2013)   50  5 
MIT – Green Building Market Study (2014)           35  9 
Solid Waste Area Management Project – S.W.A.M.P (2015) 25 5 
Churchill Waste Management Enhancement (2015) 50 50 
MEIA & Manitoba Home Builders Association (2016) 50 30 
Parks Propane Bottle Collection System (2013)             25  23 
Organizations (TBD) – Manitoba Compost Incentive Payment Program (2016) 300 103 
Manitoba Compost – CDEM Waste diversion initiative (2016) 100 25 
Manitoba Compost - Legislative Compost Project (2014)   20 15 
Manitoba Compost - School Organics Project (2014)             10 1 
Manitoba Compost - Communities in Bloom (2015) 30 15 
Manitoba Compost - Winnipeg Harvest - Blue Box Garden & Compost System (2014)             25  10 
Manitoba Compost – CCC – Agro-economic evaluation of CQA (2015) 75 60 
Manitoba Compost - CCC - Compost Training/Compost Matters Conference (2014)            25  10 
Manitoba Compost – School Compost Program (2015) 20 20 
Manitoba Compost – Climate Protocols & Carbon Credit Analysis (2015) 25 25 
Manitoba Compost – Fish Waste Composting – Hecla Park (2015) 25 25 
Organizations (TBD) Northern Remote recycling Support (2011)  50 21 
MESDWG – Public Education Project (2013) 20 5 
PIN Printer Paper (Green Government)(2014)           20 11 
Waste Management Events (2015) 40 27 
Take Pride Winnipeg - Province-wide Litter Clean-up and Education Program (2015) 100 10 
Winnipeg 4R Depot (2015) 150 30 
Mother Earth Recycling – Mattress Recycling (2015) 250 25 
Capital Region Committee – Development of Capital Region Waste Plan (2015) 100 10 
Manitoba Association of Regional Recyclers – Base Grant (2015) 25 3 
MESDWG – Promotion of Sustainability Education (2015) 75 55 
EECOM – 2016 Conference (2015) 20 4 
AMM/SWANA – Landfill Operator Training Support (2015) 35 28 
University of Manitoba – Northern Scrap Metal Recycling (2015) 10 2 
CleanFARMS – Phase II (2016) 100 65 
WRARS Program Audit (2016) 50 50 
WRARS Database development + ReTRAC Subscription (2016) 15.5 3 
Blue Sky Opportunities – WRAPP Project (2015) 25 5 
City of Morden - Curbside Organic Collection System (2015) 100 25 
RM of Hanover - Organic Waste Depots (2015) 15.5 4 
University of Manitoba – Waste Audit & Feasibility Study (2015) 40 10 
Climate Change Branch – Winnipeg Airport Authority Electrification Project (2015) 300 300 

$ 2,481 $ 1,174 
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Management�s Responsibility for Financial Reporting 

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Industrial 
Technology Centre (ITC) and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements have been properly 
prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best judgment 
regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available to the audit report date. 

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide 
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived 
accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed. 

The responsibility of the external audit is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial 
statements of ITC are fairly represented in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards. The Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit 
opinion. 

On behalf of Management 
Industrial Technology Centre (ITC) 

May 31, 2017 

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed 





 March 31,  March 31, 
 2017  2016

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 229$  453$  
Accounts receivable 265  210  
Portfolio investments 103  103

597  766  

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals      347  399  
Unearned revenue -  -  
Employee future benefits (Note 6) 342  325  
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 7) -  -  

689  724  

Net Debt (92)  42  

Non-financial Assets
Prepaid expenses 50  41  
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 638  769  

688  810  

Accumulated Surplus 596$   852$   

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2017

(In Thousands)

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.



2016
Budget Actual Actual 

Revenue
Province of Manitoba 730$   730$   730$   

Fee for service 2,051  1,818  1,986  

Other 55  60  58  

Total revenue 2,836  2,608  2,774  

Expense
Advertising and promotion 56  55  54  

Amortization 311  262  290  

Audit and legal 12  8  11  

Bad debts 2  -  -  

Building maintenance 58  69  57  

Computer 20  23  20  

Equipment 55  64  60  

Fees and memberships 40  37  35  

Insurance 37  35  34  

Interest and service charges 5  5  5  

Library 22  20  20  

Office 53  47  53  

Professional development 20  6  26  

Project supplies and subcontract 95  60  102  

Purchased services 10  5  5  

Rent and property tax 278  296  274  

Salaries and benefits 1,692  1,685  1,676  

Travel 25  34  43  

Utilities 45  53  47  

Total expense 2,836  2,764  2,812

Annual surplus (deficit), before transfer of funds to the 
Province of Manitoba -  (156)  (38)  

Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba 100  100  100  

Annual surplus (deficit) (100)  (256)  (138)  

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 890  852  990  

Accumulated surplus, end of year 790$   596$   852$   

Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Operations
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017

2017

(In Thousands)

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.



2016
Budget Actual Actual 

Annual surplus (deficit) (100)$   (256)$   (138)$   

Tangible capital assets 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (250)  (131)  (185)  
Amortization of tangible capital assets 311  262  290  

Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 61  131  105  

Other non-financial assets
Increase in prepaid expense -  (9)  (5)  

Net acquisition of other non-financial assets -  (9)  (5)  

(Increase) decrease in net debt (39)  (134)  (38)  

Net debt, beginning of year 71  42  80  

Net debt, end of year 32$   (92)$   42$   

Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Change in Net Debt
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017

2017

(In Thousands)

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.



2017 2016
Actual Actual

Cash provided by (applied to):

Operating
Annual surplus (deficit) (256)$   (138)$   

Amortization of tangible capital assets 262  290  

6  152  

Change in:

Accounts receivable (55)  17  

Accounts payable and accruals (52)  (156)  

Unearned revenue -  -  

Employee future benefits 17  22  

Prepaid expenses (9)  (5)  

Cash provided by (applied to) operating activities (93)  30  

Capital
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (131)  (185)  

Cash applied to capital activities (131)  (185)  

Increase (decrease) in cash
(224)  (155)  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 453  608  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 229$   453$   

Industrial Technology Centre

Statement of Cash Flow
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017

(In Thousands)

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.



Industrial Technology Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to Financial Statements 
(In Thousands) 

For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

1. Nature of Organization

The Industrial Technology Centre (ITC) was established in 1979 under "Enterprise Manitoba", a joint
Federal/Provincial cost-shared funding agreement. ITC was managed by the Manitoba Research Council
until September 1992 when responsibility for ITC was transferred to the Economic Innovation & Technology
Council (EITC). ITC was created as a technical resource for Manitoba industry and government and
continues to provide a wide range of technical services to both the private and public sectors.

Effective April 1, 1996, ITC was designated as a Special Operating Agency (SOA) under The Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap. S185, C.C.S.M., and operates under a charter approved
by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. ITC operates as part of Manitoba Growth, Enterprise and Trade
under the general direction of the Executive Director, Enterprise.

ITC is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). SOAFA has the
mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency operations. It finances ITC
through working capital advances. The financial framework allows the Agency to operate in a business-like
manner, which is facilitated by SOA status.

A Management Agreement between SOAFA and the Minister Growth, Enterprise and Trade assigns
responsibility to the Agency to manage and account for the Agency-related assets and operations on behalf
of SOAFA.

An Economic Development Contribution Agreement between ITC and Manitoba Growth, Enterprise and
Trade defines expected public policy benefits generated from ITC's operations.

ITC has full delegated authority for all administrative, financial and operational matters. This delegation is
subject to any limitations, restrictions, conditions and requirements imposed by legislation or by the
Minister.

2. Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.



Industrial Technology Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to Financial Statements 
(In Thousands) 

For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

3. Significant Accounting Policies

a. Revenue

(i) Government Transfers 

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as revenue 
when the transfer is authorized.  

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized as 
revenue when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.  

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are recognized as 
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met, except 
when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.  

(ii) Exchange Transactions 

Product revenue is recognized when the goods are shipped or delivered and title and risk of 
loss pass to the customer. Service revenue is recognized when the rendering of services is 
completed or substantially completed. 

(iii) Other Revenue 

All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis. 

b. Expenses

(i) Accrual Accounting 

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis. 

(ii) Government Transfers 

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are 
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met. 

c. Financial Assets

(i) Portfolio Investments 

Portfolio investments are investments that are capable of reasonably prompt liquidation and 
are recognized at cost.   



Industrial Technology Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to Financial Statements 
(In Thousands) 

For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

d. Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of
the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or other
form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately payable.

e. Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Agency. These
assets are normally employed to provide future services.

(i) Prepaid Expenses 

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in 
future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or 
services are consumed.   

(ii) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost.  Cost includes the purchase price as well as 
other acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are 
amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows:   

Furniture and fixtures 20% straight-line 
Office and laboratory equipment  20% straight-line 
Computer equipment and software 20% straight-line 
Leasehold improvements 10% straight-line 

f. Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date
of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.



Industrial Technology Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to Financial Statements 
(In Thousands) 

For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management

Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) cost 
or amortized cost. 

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities at cost, which include 
accounts payable and accruals and borrowings.      

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as 
re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the 
cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the consolidated statement of operations. 
Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the 
consolidated statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.   

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (Nil in 2016). 

Financial Risk Management - Overview 

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity 
risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes 
financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to credit risk 
consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and portfolio investments. 



Industrial Technology Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to Financial Statements 
(In Thousands) 

For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2017 2016 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 229 $ 453 
Accounts receivable 265 210 
Portfolio investments 103 103 

$ 597 $ 766 

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk 
as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance or a Chartered Bank. 

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due from a large 
client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The Agency manages this credit risk 
through close monitoring of overdue accounts.  

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit 
losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management�s estimates and assumptions 

regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are 
considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.  

There was no change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year and the balance at March 31, 
2017 was $20. 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. 

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the Province 
of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will 
affect the Agency�s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.   

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to funds on deposit, 
portfolio investments and borrowings.   

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term nature. The 
interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits are reinvested at rates 
for investments with similar terms and conditions. 

The Agency manages its interest rate risk on long-term debt through the exclusive use of fixed rate terms 
for its long-term debt.    



Industrial Technology Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to Financial Statements 
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For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to significant foreign currency
risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments denominated in foreign currency.

5. Working Capital Advances

The Agency has an authorized line of working capital advance up to a maximum of $300. As at March 31,
2017 working capital advances were nil (Nil in 2016). The line bears interest at prime less 1% and is not
secured by specific assets.

6. Employee Future Benefits

2017 2016 
Severance benefits $ 319 $ 296 
Sick pay benefits 23 29 

$ 342 $ 325 

Pension Benefits 

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the Civil 
Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board (CSSB). 
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service 
and to participating agencies of the Government, including ITC, through the Civil Service Superannuation 
Fund.

Pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency is required to pay to the Province an 
amount equal to the current pension contributions of its employees.  The amount paid for 2017 is $111 
($98 in 2016). Under this agreement, the pension liability is the responsibility of the Province, and the 
Agency has no further pension liability.   

Severance Benefits 

Effective April 1, 1998 the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its employees. 
The amount of its severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic actuarial 
valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial calculations when 
actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of changes in actuarial assumptions used. 
The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected average remaining service life of 
the related employee group. 

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The report provides 
a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Agency�s actuarially determined net liability for 

accounting purposes as at March 31, 2017 is $319 ($296 in 2016), with an actuarial adjustment being 
amortized over the 15-year expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee group. 
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An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to Financial Statements 
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For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

6. Employee Future Benefits (continued)

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the determination
of the March 31, 2017 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation, were:

Annual rate of return - inflation component 2.00% 
- real rate of return 4.00% 

6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates - annual productivity increase 1.00% 
- annual general salary increase 2.75% 

3.75%

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components: 

2017 2016 
Accrued benefit liability 

Balance, beginning of year $ 284 $ 259 
Actuarial gain - - 
Benefits accrued 10 9 
Interest on accrued benefits 16 16 
Severance paid - - 
Balance, end of year  310  284 

Add: Unamortized actuarial gains 9 12 
Severance benefit liability $ 319 $ 296 

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 includes the following components: 

2017 2016 
Interest on obligation $ 16 $ 16 
Current period benefit cost 10 9 
Amortization of actuarial gains over EARSL (3) (4) 
Total expense related to severance benefit $ 23 $ 21 

Sick Pay Benefits 

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued 
benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is determined using a valuation 
model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick leave usage and 
actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75% annual salary 
increase. 



Industrial Technology Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to Financial Statements 
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For the Year Ended March 31, 2017 

7. Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

The Industrial Technology Centre has authorized loan authority of $910 under The Loan Act, 2016. This
loan authority is unutilized as at March 31, 2017.

8. Tangible Capital Assets

2017 
Opening Closing 

Balance Additions Disposals Balance 

Cost

Furniture and fixtures $    33 $    - $     - $    33 
Office and laboratory 
 equipment 2,674 102 - 2,776 
Computer equipment and 

software 436 19 - 455 

Leasehold improvements 280 10 - 290 

3,423  131 - 3,554 

Accumulated Amortization

Furniture and fixtures 29 4 - 33 
Office and laboratory 
 equipment 2,028 225 - 2,253 
Computer equipment and 

software  382 24 -  406 

Leasehold improvements 215 9 - 224 

2,654 262 - 2,916 

Net $    769 $   (131) $     - $    638 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
(In Thousands) 
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8. Tangible Capital Assets (continued)

2016 

Opening Closing 

Balance Additions Disposals Balance 

Cost

Furniture and fixtures $    33 $    - $     - $    33 
Office and laboratory 
 equipment 2,501 173 - 2,674 
Computer equipment and 

software 424 12 - 436 

Leasehold improvements 280 - - 280 

3,238  185 - 3,423 

Accumulated Amortization

Furniture and fixtures 26 3 - 29 
Office and laboratory 
 equipment 1,791 237 - 2,028 
Computer equipment and 

software  354 28 -  382 

Leasehold improvements 193 22 - 215 

2,364 290 - 2,654 

Net $    874 $   (105) $     - $    769 

9. Designated Assets

The Agency has allocated $103 ($103 in 2016) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
severance pay benefits. The Agency has received $103 of cash from the Province of Manitoba for the
severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held
in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused
balance is reinvested annually.

10. Commitments

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement for the rental of a building at Smartpark, with space of
19,032 square feet.

Estimated minimum lease payments for each of the next five years are as follows:

2018 $ 194 
2019 194 
2020 194 
2021 194 
2022 194 
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Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting 

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Manitoba 
Education, Research and Learning Information Networks ("MERLIN") and have been prepared in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. In management's opinion, the 
financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, 
incorporating management's best judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all other data 
available to the date of the audit report. 

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide 
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived 
accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed. 

The responsibility of the external audit is to express an independent opinion on whether the 
financial statements of MERLIN are fairly represented in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards. The Independent Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination 
and provides the audit opinion. 

On behalf of Management of MERLIN: 

May 31, 2017 

Original Document Signed 

Original Document Signed 





MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Statement of Financial Position

(In Thousands)

March 31 2017 2016 

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) $ 384 $ 86
Accounts receivable 452 131
Portfolio investments 47 47

883 264

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 511 331
Unearned revenue 856 818
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 155 142

1,522 1,291

Net debt (639) (1,027)

Non-financial Assets
Prepaid expenses 590 742
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 655 647

1,245 1,389

Accumulated surplus $ 606 $ 362

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Statement of Operations

(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2017 2017 2016 

Budget Actual Actual 

Revenue 
Province of Manitoba $ 346 $ 346 $ 346
Fee for goods and services 4,719 5,300 4,841
Other - 2 3

5,065 5,648 5,190

Expense 
Advertising and promotion 14 20 21
Amortization 274 272 223
Audit and legal fees 11 12 17
Communication and bandwidth 195 194 193
Cost of purchases for resale 1,966 2,421 1,790
Course delivery 20 54 105
Equipment repair and maintenance 335 318 319
Manitoba Network connections 600 715 789
Occupancy 78 75 70
Office and miscellaneous 48 43 42
Professional development 30 2 24
Purchased services 55 30 206
Salaries and benefits 1,411 1,235 1,341
Travel 28 13 19

5,065 5,404 5,159

Annual surplus - 244 31

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 356 362 331

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 356 $ 606 $ 362

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Statement of Change in Net Debt

 (In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2017 2017 2016 

Budget Actual Actual 

Annual surplus $ - $ 244 $ 31

Tangible Capital Assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (300) (280) (456)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 274 272 223

Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (26) (8) (233)

Other Non-financial Assets
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses 160 152 (401)

(Increase) decrease in net debt 134 388 (603)

Net debt, beginning of year (991) (1,027) (424)

Net debt, end of year $ (857) $ (639) $ (1,027)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Statement of Cash Flows

 (In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2017 2016 

Cash provided by (applied to):

Operating Activities
Annual surplus $ 244 $ 31
Amortization of tangible capital assets 272 223

516 254
Changes in:

Accounts receivable (796) 190
Accounts payable and accruals 180 (262)
Unearned revenue 513 23
Employee future benefits 13 (27)
Prepaid expenses 152 (401)

Cash provided by (applied to) operating activities 578 (223)

Capital Activities
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (280) (456)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 298 (679)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 86 765

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 384 $ 86

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Notes to Financial Statements

(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

1. Nature of Organization

Effective April 1, 1995, Manitoba Education, Research and Learning Information Networks
("MERLIN") was designated as a Special Operating Agency pursuant to The Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap S185, C.C.S.M. and operates under a
charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. Effective April 1, 2015, MERLIN
operates as part of Finance under the general direction of the Assistant Deputy Minister.

MERLIN is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA).
SOAFA has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from MERLIN
operations. It finances MERLIN through repayable loans and working capital advances.  This
financial framework enables MERLIN to operate in a business like manner according to public
policy expectations.

A Management Agreement between SOAFA and the Minister of Finance assigns
responsibility to MERLIN to manage and account for MERLIN related assets and operations
on behalf of SOAFA.

MERLIN remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. It is also bound by
administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided in its charter in
order to meet business objectives.

MERLIN is economically dependent on the Province of Manitoba as it derives much of its
revenue and all of its financing requirements from the Province.

2. Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Notes to Financial Statements

(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

3. Significant Accounting Policies

a. Revenue

(i) Government Transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as
revenue when the transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized
as revenue when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are
recognized as revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility
criteria have been met, except when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise
to a liability.

(ii) Exchange Transactions

Product revenue is recognized when the goods are shipped or delivered and title
and risk of loss pass to the customer. Service revenue is recognized when the
rendering of services is completed or substantially completed.

(iii) Other Revenue

All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

b. Expenses

(i) Accrual Accounting

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

(ii) Government Transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the
transfers are authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Notes to Financial Statements

(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

c. Financial Assets

(i) Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than
three months. These investments are recognized at cost.

d. Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to
the end of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer
or use of assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated
amount ultimately payable.

e. Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the
Agency.  These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

(i) Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments of goods or services which will provide economic
benefit in future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the
year the goods or services are consumed.

(ii) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price
as well as other acquisition costs. The cost of tangible capital assets, less any
residual are amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer hardware  25%, straight-line
Computer software  25%, straight-line
Equipment and furniture  20%, straight-line
Leaseholds 20%, straight-line



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Notes to Financial Statements

(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

f. Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management

Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair
value; or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities
at cost, which include accounts payable.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated
surplus as re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial
instruments, the cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the
consolidated statement of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at
cost or amortized cost are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations in the year
the gain or loss occurs.

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year as at March
31, 2017 and 2016.

Financial Risk Management - Overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit
risk; liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Notes to Financial Statements

(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation
and causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the
Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
and portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of MERLIN to credit risk at March 31 is:

2017 2016

Cash and cash equivalents $ 384 $ 86
Accounts receivable 452 131
Portfolio investments 47 47

Maximum exposure to credit risk $ 883 $ 264

Cash and cash equivalents, and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to
significant credit risk as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is
due from a large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The
Agency manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts. 

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of
potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s
estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and
historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining whether past due
accounts are allowed for or written off. 

The allowance for doubtful accounts balance at March 31, 2017 was $16.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
come due.  

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review
from the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the
obligations.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Notes to Financial Statements

(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
funds on deposit, and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term
nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in
foreign currency.

5. Working Capital Advances

MERLIN has an authorized line of working capital advances up to $2.0 million. As at March
31, 2017 working capital advances were $NIL ($NIL in 2016). The line bears interest at prime
less 1% and is not secured by specific assets.

6. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Agency invests all surplus cash in short-term deposits with the province of Manitoba,
which are made up of term deposits with maturities of up to three months.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS
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(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

7. Employee Future Benefits
2017 2016

Severance benefits $ 141 $ 128
Sick pay benefits 14 14

$ 155 $ 142

Pension Benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of
the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service
Superannuation Board (CSSB). The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide
benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the
Government, including the Manitoba Education, Research & Learning Information Network,
through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund (CSSF).

Pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency is required to pay to the
Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions of their employees. The
amount paid for 2017 was $93 ($90 in 2016). Under this agreement, the pension liability is the
responsibility of the Province, and the Agency has no further pension liability.

Severance Benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, MERLIN began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to
the actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or
because of changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are
amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the related employee group.
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7. Employee Future Benefits (continued)

Severance Benefits (continued)

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The
report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. MERLIN’s actuarially
determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2017 was $141 ($128 in
2016), with an actuarial adjustment being amortized over the 15 year expected average
remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2017 present value of the accrued severance benefit
obligation were:

Annual rate of return:
Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%

6.00%

Annual salary increase rates:
Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%

3.75%

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes to following components:

2017 2016

Accrued benefit liability
Balance, beginning of year $ 135 $ 160
Benefits accrued 4 4
Interest on accrued benefits 8 10
Severance paid (1) (39)

Balance, end of year 146 135

Less unamortized actuarial losses (5) (7)

Severance benefit liability $ 141 $ 128



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Notes to Financial Statements

(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

7. Employee Future Benefits (continued)

Severance Benefits (continued)

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 includes the following
components:

2017 2016

Interest on obligation $ 8 $ 10
Current period benefit cost 4 4
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 2 1

Total expense related to severance benefit $ 14 $ 15

Sick Pay Benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is
determined using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on
employee demographics, sick leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions
include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75% annual salary increase.



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Notes to Financial Statements

(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

8. Tangible Capital Assets
2017 

Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance 

Cost
Computer hardware $ 1,772 $ 280 $ - $ 2,052
Computer software 110 - - 110
Equipment and furniture 48 - - 48
Leaseholds 20 - - 20

1,950 280 - 2,230

Accumulated Amortization
Computer hardware 1,141 267 - 1,408
Computer software 99 3 - 102
Equipment and furniture 43 2 - 45
Leaseholds 20 - - 20

1,303 272 - 1,575

Net book value $ 647 $ 8 $ - $ 655

2016 

Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance 

Cost
Computer hardware $ 1,332 $ 440 $ - $ 1,772
Computer software 96 14 - 110
Equipment and furniture 46 2 - 48
Leaseholds 20 - - 20

1,494 456 - 1,950

Accumulated Amortization
Computer hardware 923 218 - 1,141
Computer software 96 3 - 99
Equipment and furniture 41 2 - 43
Leaseholds 20 - - 20

1,080 223 - 1,303

Net book value $ 414 $ 233 $ - $ 647



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Notes to Financial Statements

(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

9. Designated Assets

MERLIN has allocated $47 ($47 in 2016) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba for the vacation entitlements earned by
employees of MERLIN prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits
accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held in an
interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any
unused balance is re-invested annually.

10. Commitments

MERLIN leases office space under a long-term lease which expires March 31, 2018. The
future minimum payments required under this lease are:

2018 $ 36
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Statement of Financial Position

(in thousands)

March 31 2017 2016

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) $ 21,506 $ 23,058
Accounts receivable (Note 6) 71 26
Portfolio investments 1,019 1,019

22,596 24,103

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 33 194
Accrued vacation entitlements 302 301
Accrued salaries and benefits - 227
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 500 454

835 1,176

Net financial assets 21,761 22,927

Non-financial Assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 72 98
Prepaid expenses 52 166

124 264

Accumulated surplus $ 21,885 $ 23,191

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2017 2017 2016

Budget Actual Actual 

Revenue
Fees $ 17,983 $ 20,760 $ 19,286
Interest 55 114 117
Miscellaneous 12 28 15

18,050 20,902 19,418

Expenses
Amortization - capital assets 22 27 27
CSA initiatives* 101 71 71
Contract services 354 278 246
Education/Information initiatives 196 45 73
Miscellaneous 40 25 26
Office materials and supplies 90 69 65
Premises 541 547 536
Professional services 159 303 120
Research resources 58 46 54
Salaries and benefits 4,355 3,806 3,756
Staff development and professional dues 110 30 41
Telecommunications 83 77 77
Travel 113 84 63

6,222 5,408 5,155

Annual operating surplus 11,828 15,494 14,263

Transfer to the Province of Manitoba (Note 11) 11,800 11,800 11,800

Annual surplus 28 3,694 2,463

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 19,745 23,191 20,728

Additional Transfer to the Province of 
     Manitoba (Note 11) 5,000 5,000 -

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 14,773 $ 21,885 $ 23,191

* Canadian Securities Administrators

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2017 2017 2016

Budget Actual Actual 

Annual surplus $ 28 $ 3,694 $ 2,463

Tangible Capital Assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets 22 27 27

Net change in tangible capital assets 22 27 27

Other Non-financial Assets
Increase in prepaid expense - 113 (112)

Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - 113 (112)

Increase in net financial assets 50 3,834 2,378

Net financial assets, beginning of year 22,927 22,927 20,549

Additional transfer to the Province of Manitoba (5,000) (5,000) -

Net financial assets, end of year $ 17,977 $ 21,761 $ 22,927

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Statement of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2017 2016

Cash provided by (applied to):

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Annual surplus $ 3,694 $ 2,463
Amortization of tangible capital assets 27 27

3,721 2,490
Changes in non-cash working capital balances

Accounts receivable (45) 15
Prepaid expenses 113 (112)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (161) 97
Accrued vacation entitlements 1 (5)
Accrued salaries and benefits (227) 135
Employee future benefits 46 54

3,448 2,674
Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Transfer to Province of Manitoba (5,000) -

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,552) 2,674

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 23,058 20,384

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 21,506 $ 23,058

Supplementary Information
Interest received  $ 113 $ 120

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

1. Nature of Organization

Effective April 1, 1999 the Lieutenant Governor in Council designated the Manitoba Securities
Commission ("Commission") as a special operating agency under The Special Operating
Agencies Financing Authority Act (C.C.S.M. c.S185) by Order in Council No. 144/1999. The
Order also gave approval to the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority and the
Minister of Consumer and Corporate Affairs, being the Minister responsible for the
Commission, at that time, to enter into a management agreement with respect to the
Commission.

The Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Consumer
and Corporate Affairs assigns responsibility to manage the assets transferred to the Manitoba
Securities Commission in delivering regulated services to clients. The Minister of Finance is
responsible for the Agency.

Treasury Board Secretariat issued a Program Portfolio Management Review (PPMR) Minute
on September 22, 2012 which approved the transfer of the Financial Institutions Regulation
Branch (FIRB) of the Department of Finance to the Manitoba Securities Commission a Special
Operating Agency (SOA), effective October 1, 2012. Since that date, the SOA has been
operating as the Manitoba Financial Services Agency ("Agency").

This change was subsequently reflected in Regulation 29/2013, which provides an updated
listing of the special operating agencies, including the merger of Manitoba Securities
Commission and FIRB. As well, it was reflected in the background to the Order in Council
77/2013.

2. Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue

Fees and cost recoveries are recognized when received. Investment income is recorded in
accordance with terms of the related investment.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Expenses

(a) All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

(b) Government transfers are recognized as expenditures in the period in which the transfers
are authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Financial Assets

Portfolio investments are investments that are capable of reasonably prompt liquidation and
are recognized at cost. 

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the
end of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of
assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately
payable.

Non-financial Assets

(a) Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic
benefit in future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year
the goods or services are consumed.  

(b) Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well
as other acquisition cost. Capital assets are recorded at cost and amortized over their
useful lives as follows: 

Office equipment  20% straight-line
Furniture and fixtures  20% straight-line
Leasehold improvements  10% straight-line
Computer hardware  20% straight-line
Computer software  20% straight-line

The half-year rule is used in the year of acquisition.

Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from these estimates.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair
value; or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets and liabilities at cost, which include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its
financial liabilities at cost, which include working capital advances and accounts payable.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated
surplus as remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial
instruments, the cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement
of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost
are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.

Financial Risk Management Overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit
risk; liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation
and causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the
Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, portfolio investments,
and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2017 2016

Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,506 $ 23,058
Accounts receivable 71 26
Portfolio investments 1,019 1,019

$ 22,596 $ 24,103

Cash, cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant
credit risk as the cash and term deposits are primarily held by the Minister of Finance.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as receivables
consist of accrued interest owing from the Province of Manitoba and trade amounts owed
primarily from other entities within the Government of the Province of Manitoba and payment
in full is typically collected when it is due. The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful
accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is based on management’s estimates and assumptions regarding current market
conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are considered
when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

Management has determined that no allowance for doubtful accounts is required as at
March 31, 2017 (Nil in 2016).

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity can be defined as an organization's ability to meet its financial obligations as they
come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review
from the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the
obligations.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.
The significant market risk the Agency is exposed to is interest rate risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
funds on deposit.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in
foreign currency.

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Agency invests all surplus cash in short-term deposits with the Province of Manitoba,
which are made up of ninety day callable term deposits.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

6. Accounts Receivable
2017 2016 

Accrued interest $ 16 $ 16
Trade 55 10

$ 71 $ 26

7. Employee Future Benefits

Pension Benefits

Employees of the Manitoba Financial Services Agency are eligible for pension benefits in
accordance with the provisions of the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered
by the Civil Service Superannuation Board (CSSB). The CSSA established a defined benefit
plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating
agencies of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil Service Superannuation
Fund (CSSF).

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the
Agency transferred to the Province of Manitoba the pension liability for its employees.

Commencing April 1, 2001, the Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal
to its employees' current pension contributions. The amount paid for 2017 was $216 ($222 in
2016). Under this Agreement, the Agency has no further pension liability.

Severance Benefits

Effective April 1, 1998 or the date of their creation, whichever is later; SOAs began recording
accumulated severance pay benefits for their employees. The amount of their severance pay
obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic actuarial valuations of these
liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial calculations when actual
experience is different from that expected and/or because of changes in actuarial
assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected
average remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The
report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The special operating
agencies’ actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2017 is
$500 ($454 in 2016). The actuarial loss of $39 based on actuarial reports is being amortized
over the 15 year expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee group.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

7. Employee Future Benefits (continued)

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2017 present value of the accrued severance benefit
obligation were:

Annual rate of return:
Inflation component 2.00 %
Real rate of return 4.00 %

6.00 %

Assumed salary increase rate:
Annual productivity increase 1.00 %
Annual general salary increase 2.75 %

3.75 %

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2017 2016

Accrued benefit liability
Balance, beginning of year $ 497 $ 447
Benefits accrued 26 23
Interest on accrued benefits 30 27
Severance paid (14) -

Balance, end of year 539 497

Less unamortized actuarial losses (39) (43)

Severance benefit liability $ 500 $ 454

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 include the following
components:

2017 2016

Interest on obligation $ 30 $ 27
Current period benefit cost 26 23
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 4 4

Total expense related to severance benefit $ 60 $ 54

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is
determined using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The Agency has not recorded
an accrued sick pay benefit obligation as it has been determined to be immaterial.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

8. Tangible Capital Assets
 2017 

 Opening Closing 
Balance Additions Disposals  Balance 

Cost
Office equipment $ 61 $ - $ - $ 61
Furniture and fixtures 221 - - 221
Leasehold improvements 74 - - 74
Computer hardware 143 - - 143
Computer software 869 - - 869

1,368 - - 1,368

Accumulated Amortization
Office equipment 47 4 - 51
Furniture and fixtures 174 14 - 188
Leasehold improvements 40 7 - 47
Computer hardware 143 - - 143
Computer software 866 1 - 867

1,270 26 - 1,296

Net book value $ 98 $ (26) $ - $ 72

 2016 

 Opening Closing 
Balance Additions Disposals  Balance

Cost
Office equipment $ 61 $ - $ - $ 61
Furniture and fixtures 221 - - 221
Leasehold improvements 74 - - 74
Computer hardware 143 - - 143
Computer software 869 - - 869

1,368 - - 1,368

Accumulated Amortization
Office equipment 43 4 - 47
Furniture and fixtures 160 14 - 174
Leasehold improvements 33 7 - 40
Computer hardware 142 1 - 143
Computer software 865 1 - 866

1,243 27 - 1,270

Net book value $ 125 $ (27) $ - $ 98



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

9. Designated Assets

Designated assets are distinct from restricted assets. Unlike restricted assets, the Agency or
the Government can readily change its by-law or resolution and use the designated assets for
another purpose if the need arises. The Agency has allocated $1,019 ($1,019 in 2016) of its
portfolio investments as designated assets for the following purposes:

The Agency maintains separate deposits of $750 ($750 in 2016) to fund expenses which may
arise with respect to its reserve fund. The Reserve Fund was established to finance
extraordinary expenses for isolated and unanticipated purposes that are regulatory in nature
and for changes in market activity that have a negative effect on revenues.

The Agency has received $269 ($269 in 2016) of cash from the Province of Manitoba for the
purpose of settling certain of its vacation and severance liabilities in the future. This amount is
held in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities.
The principal of this note is re-invested annually and the interest is deposited in the Agency's
trust account.

10. Commitments

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement commencing October 1, 2005 for rental of
facilities at 400 St. Mary Avenue, which expires September 30, 2020.

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement as of December 31, 2013 which includes
rental of 207 - 400 St. Mary Avenue (FIRB occupancy) and the remainder of the 5th floor for
the Manitoba Securities Commission, which expires April 30, 2026.

Minimum annual lease payments for these agreements total $547 per year for each of the
next five years.

11. Transfer to the Province of Manitoba

Payments to the Consolidated Revenue Fund of the Province of Manitoba are set annually
according to Treasury Board Directives, and paid in quarterly installments. Total transfers for
the current year were $16,800 ($11,800 in 2016). The Treasury Board has approved
payments of $16,800 for the year ended March 31, 2017.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2017

12. Working Capital Advances

These advances are provided to the Agency through the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority pursuant to the Management Agreement. The Agency has an authorized
line of working capital advance of $500 which was unutilized at March 31, 2017 ($500 in
2016).

The Agency incurred no interest charges during the year (Nil in 2016).



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Schedule of Operating Income

The Manitoba Securities Commission 
(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2017 2017  2016

Budget Actual Actual 

Revenue
Fees $ 16,160 $ 18,933 $ 17,548
Interest 55 114 117
Miscellaneous - 2 1

16,215 19,049 17,666

Expenses
Amortization - capital assets 22 27 27
CSA initiatives* 101 71 71
Contract services 316 243 215
Education/Information initiatives 196 45 70
Miscellaneous 38 21 23
Office materials and supplies 80 57 57
Premises 406 443 442
Professional membership and dues 76 20 23
Professional services 120 152 51
Research resources 57 45 52
Salaries and benefits 3,502 3,080 3,060
Staff development and professional dues 25 8 16
Telecommunications 71 66 65
Travel 102 75 61

5,112 4,353 4,233

Annual operating surplus $ 11,103 $ 14,696 13,433

* Canadian Securities Administrators



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Schedule of Operating Income

Financial Institutions Regulation Branch
(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2017 2017  2016

Budget Actual Actual 

Revenue
Fees $ 1,823 $ 1,827 $ 1,738
Miscellaneous 12 26 14

1,835 1,853 1,752

Expenses
Contract services 38 35 31
Miscellaneous 2 4 3
Office materials and supplies 10 12 12
Premises 135 104 94
Professional services 39 151 69
Research resources 1 1 1
Salaries and benefits 853 726 696
Staff development and professional dues 9 2 2
Telecommunications 12 11 12
Travel 11 9 2

1,110 1,055 922

Annual operating surplus $ 725 $ 798 $ 830
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See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

Manitoba Learning Resource Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Statement of Financial Position 
(in thousands) 
March 31 2017 2016 

Financial assets 
Cash 
Accounts receivable 
Portfolio investments 
Inventories for resale 

$ 4 
343 
64 

2,310 

$ 3 
845 
64 

2,374 

2,721 3,286 

Liabilities 
Working capital advance (Note 5) 
Accounts payable and accruals 
Customer deposit accounts 
Accrued severance liability (Note 6) 

1,615 
453 
91 
57 

1,934 
575 
174 
53 

2,216 2,736 

Net financial assets 505 550 

Non-financial assets 
Prepaid expenses 
Tangible capital assets (Note 7) 

6
30 

4
35 

36 39 

Accumulated surplus $ 541 $ 589 

Designated assets (Note 8) 



See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

Manitoba Learning Resource Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 
(in thousands) 
Year Ended March 31 2017 2017 2016 

Budget Actual Actual 

Sales $ 7,612 $ 7,368 $ 7,215 

Cost of goods sold 
Inventory, beginning of year 
Purchases 
Transportation in 
Transportation out 

2,804 
6,218 

43 
107 

2,374 
6,265 

38 
93 

2,511 
6,035 

35 
91 

9,172 8,770 8,672 
Inventory, end of year 2,529 2,310 2,374 

Cost of goods sold 6,643 6,460 6,298 

Gross profit 969 908 917 

General and administrative expenses 
Amortization 
Bad debts 
Computer expense 
Employee benefits 
Interest  
Marketing 

 Office 
Office occupancy 
Postage 
Professional services 
Salaries 
Telephone 
Training 

 Travel 
Warehouse occupancy 
Warehouse service 

17 
-

79 
80 
38 
11 
18 
49 
2

14 
377 

7
4

10 
89 

201 

9
33 
56 
79 
25 

-
13 
49 
2

14 
373 

6
1
6

89 
201 

11 
8

60 
73 
30 
2

15 
49 
2

14 
360 

6
-
6

89 
201 

996 956 926 

Annual deficit  (27) (48) (9)

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 510 589 598 

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 483 $ 541 $ 589 



See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

Manitoba Learning Resource Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 
(in thousands) 
Year Ended March 31 2017 2017 2016 

Budget Actual Actual 

Annual deficit $ (27) $ (48) $ (9) 

Tangible capital assets 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 

(42) 
17 

(4)
9

(19) 
11 

Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (25) 5 (8)

Other non-financial assets 
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expense (4) (2) 5

Net acquisition of other non-financial assets (4) (2) 5

Decrease in net financial assets 

Net financial assets, beginning of year 

(56) 

451 

(45) 

550 

(12) 

562 

Net financial assets, end of year $ 395 $ 505 $ 550 



See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

Manitoba Learning Resource Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Statement of Cash Flows 
(in thousands) 
Year Ended March 31 2017 2016 

Increase in cash  

Operating 
Annual deficit  
Amortization of tangible capital assets 

$ (48) 
9

$ (9) 
11 

Changes in 
Accounts receivable 
Inventories for resale 
Accounts payable and accruals 
Customer deposit accounts 
Accrued severance liability 
Prepaid expenses 

(39) 

502 
64 

(122) 
(83) 

4
(2)

2

29 
137 
210 

(3)
2
5

324 382 

Capital 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (4) (19) 

Financing 
Repayment of working capital advance (319) (363) 

Increase in cash  

Cash, beginning of year 

1

3

-

3

Cash, end of year $ 4 $ 3 

Supplemental cash flow information: 

Interest received 
Interest paid 

$ 3 
$ 26 

$ 5 
$ 28 



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
(in thousands) 
For the year ended March 31, 2017 

1. Nature of operations

In 1931, the Manitoba Text Book Bureau (MTBB) was created as a branch of the Department 
of Education and Training. It was established to achieve economies of scale and reduce the 
cost of learning resources for schools in Manitoba. In December 2016, under The Statutes 
Correction and Minor Amendments Act (Education Act), the name of the entity was officially 
changed to the Manitoba Learning Resource Centre (LRC). 

Effective April 1, 1996, the LRC was designated as a Special Operating Agency under The 
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Chapter S 185, C.C.S.M. and operates 
under a charter approved by the Lieutenant-Governor in Council. 

The LRC is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). 
SOAFA has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency 
operations. It finances the LRC through working capital advances. This financial framework 
enables the LRC to operate in a business-like manner according to public policy expectations. 

A Management Agreement between the SOAFA and the Minister of Education, being the 
Minister responsible for the Agency at that time, assigns responsibility to the LRC to manage 
and account for the LRC’s related assets and operations on behalf of SOAFA. 

The LRC continues to be part of the Department of Education and Training under the general 
direction of the Assistant Deputy Minister, School Programs Division, and ultimately the policy 
direction of the Deputy Minister and Minister. 

The LRC remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. It is also bound by 
administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided in its charter in 
order to meet business objectives. 

2. Basis of accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board. 



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
(in thousands) 
For the year ended March 31, 2017 

3. Significant accounting policies

Revenue 

Revenue is recognized upon transfer of title to the customer. 

Expenses  

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.   

Financial assets 

Cash 
Cash includes cash on hand and bank balance. 

Portfolio investments 
Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than three months. 
These investments are recognized at cost.   

Inventories for resale 
Inventories for resale are valued using the average unit cost method and are measured using 
lower of cost and net realizable value. 

Liabilities 

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the 
end of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of 
assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately 
payable. 

Non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the LRC. 
These assets are normally employed to provide future services. 

Prepaid expenses  
Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in 
future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or 
services are consumed.   



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
(in thousands) 
For the year ended March 31, 2017 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Tangible capital assets   
Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as 
other acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets are amortized over their estimated 
useful lives as follows:   

Office equipment, furniture and video recording equipment   - 20% declining balance 
Computer equipment  - 20% straight line 
Computer software  - 20% straight line 

One-half year’s amortization is applied in the year of acquisition. 

Measurement uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management

Measurement 

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value 
or (b) cost or amortized cost. 

The LRC records its financial assets at cost, which include cash, portfolio investments, 
accounts receivable and inventories for resale. The LRC also records its financial liabilities at 
cost, which include working capital advance, accounts payable and accruals and customer 
deposit accounts. 

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated 
surplus as re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial 
instruments, the cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement 
of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost 
are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. 

The LRC did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (2016 - $nil). 

Financial risk management - overview 

The LRC has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk, 
liquidity risk, market risk, interest risk and foreign currency risk. 



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
(in thousands) 
For the year ended March 31, 2017 

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and 
causes financial loss to another party.  Financial instruments which potentially subject the LRC 
to credit risk consist principally of cash, portfolio investments and accounts receivable.  

The maximum exposure of the LRC to credit risk at March 31 is: 

2017 2016 

Cash 
Accounts receivable 
Portfolio investments 

$ 4 
343 
64 

$ 3 
845 
64 

$ 411 $ 912 

Cash and portfolio investments: The LRC is not exposed to significant credit risk as these 
amounts are held by the Minister of Finance. 

Accounts receivable: The LRC is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due 
from a large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The LRC 
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts. 

The LRC establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of 
potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s 
estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and 
historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining whether past due 
accounts are allowed for or written off. 

The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year was as follows: 

Balance, beginning of the year $  82 
Provision for receivable impairment 100 
Amounts written off - 

Balance, end of the year $  182 



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
(in thousands) 
For the year ended March 31, 2017 

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the LRC will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
come due.   

The LRC manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the 
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations. 

Market risk  

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign 
exchange rates, will affect the LRC’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.   

Interest rate risk  

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to 
funds on deposit and portfolio investments.   

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term 
nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits 
are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions. 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The LRC is not exposed to 
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in 
foreign currency.   



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
(in thousands) 
For the year ended March 31, 2017 

5. Working capital advance

The LRC has an authorized line of working capital advances of $3,500, of which $1,615 was 
used as of March 31, 2017 (2016 - $1,934). 

6. Accrued severance liability

Effective April 1, 1998, the LRC began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its 
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The 
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to 
the actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or 
because of changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are 
amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the related employee group. 

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The 
report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The LRC’s actuarially 
determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2017 was $57 (2016 - $53), 
with the actuarial gain of $30 (2016 - $30) being amortized over the 15 year expected average 
remaining service life of the employee group. Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used 
in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the determination of the March 31, 2017 present value 
of the accrued severance benefit obligation were: 

Annual rate of return 
Inflation component 2.00% 
real rate of return 4.00% 

6.00% 
Assumed salary increase rates 

annual productivity increase 1.00% 
annual general salary increase 2.75% 

3.75% 

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components: 

2017 2016 

Accrued benefit liability 
Unamortized actuarial gains 

$ 45 
12 

$ 39 
14 

Severance benefit liability $ 57 $ 53 



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
(in thousands) 
For the year ended March 31, 2017 

6. Accrued severance liability (continued)

Total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 include the following components: 

2017 2016 

Interest on obligation 
Employer service cost 
Severance payout 
Amortization of actuarial gains over EARSL 

$ 3 
3
-

(2)

$ 2 
3
-

(2)

Total expense related to severance benefit $ 4 $ 3 

7. Tangible capital assets

2017 2016 
Opening  Closing Closing 
Balance Additions Disposals Balance Balance 

Cost 
Computer equipment 
Computer software 
Office equipment  
 and furniture 
Video recording  

equipment 

$ 155 
128 

48 

51 

$ - 
4

-

-

$ - 
-

-

-

$ 155 
132 

48 

51 

$ 155 
128 

48 

51 

Total cost 382 4 - 386 382 

Accumulated Amortization 
Computer equipment 
Computer software 
Office equipment  
 and furniture 
Video recording  

equipment 

155 
100 

43 

49 

-
7

1

1

-
-

-

-

155 
107 

44 

50 

155 
100 

43 

49 

Total accumulated 
amortization 347 9 - 356 347 

Net $ 35 $ (5) $ - $ 30 $ 35 



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre 
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
(in thousands) 
For the year ended March 31, 2017 

8. Designated assets

The LRC has allocated $64 (2016 - $64) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for 
cash received from the Province of Manitoba as settlement for the vacation entitlements earned 
by employees of the LRC prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits 
accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of the LRC’s employees. This amount is held in an 
interest bearing account. Any unused balance is re-invested annually. Funds are to be used for 
payments to employees for their outstanding vacation and severance pay amounts. 

9. Related party transactions

The LRC is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba created 
Departments, Agencies and Crown Corporations. The LRC enters into transactions with these 
entities in the normal course of business and the transactions are measured at the exchange 
amount. 

10. Pension benefits

Employees of the LRC are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the 
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation 
Board. The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the 
Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the LRC, 
through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund. At December 31, 2015, the Fund had a deficit 
of $3.9 billion. 

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the LRC 
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2001, 
the LRC is required to pay annually to the Province an amount equal to its employees’ current 
pension contributions. The amount paid for 2017 was $28 (2016 - $24). Under this agreement, 
the LRC has no further pension liability. 

11. Budgeted figures

Budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from 
the estimates approved by the management of the LRC. 
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 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority 
and Materials Distribution Agency 

Report on the Financial Statements  
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Materials Distribution Agency, an agency of 
the Government of Manitoba, which comprise the statements of financial position as at March 31, 2017 
and the statements of operations, change in net financial assets and cash flow for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.  

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Materials Distribution Agency as at March 31, 2017 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

May 17, 2017  
Winnipeg, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY 
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT 
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA 

Statement of Financial Position 

(in thousands) 

March 31, 2017 

2017 2016 Actual Actual

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 406  $ 504  
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 1,855  2,768  
Portfolio investments  512  512  
Inventories held for resale (Note 6) 1,634  1,651  

4,407  5,435  

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,217  2,910  
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 761  765  

2,978  3,675  

Net financial assets 1,429  1,760  

Non-financial assets 
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 2,780  2,416  
Prepaid expenses 162  126  

2,942  2,542  

Accumulated surplus $ 4,371  $ 4,302  

Designated assets (Note 9) 
Commitments (Note 10) 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY 
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT 
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA 

Statement of Operations 

(in thousands) 

Year ended March 31, 2017 

2017 2017 2016 
Budget Actual Actual 

Revenue: 
Warehouse sales (Schedule 1) $ 15,400  $ 16,234   $ 16,070  
Service revenue (Schedule 1) 13,078  12,385  12,698  
Investment income   - 3  3  

28,478  28,622  28,771  

Expenses: 
Cost of sales  11,951  12,993  12,749  
Salaries and benefits 5,519  5,357  5,313  
Occupancy costs 1,158  1,148  1,204  
Operating expenses (Schedule 2) 8,888  8,174  8,504  
Administrative expenses (Schedule 2) 630  681  704  

28,146  28,353  28,474  

Net income before transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba 332  269  297  

Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba (Note 11) 200 200 200 

Net income for the year 132  69  97  

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 4,303  4,302  4,205  

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 4,435  $ 4,371  $ 4,302  

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY 
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT 
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA 

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 

(in thousands) 

Year ended March 31, 2017 

2017 2017 2016 
Budget Actual Actual 

Net income for the year  $ 132  $ 69  $ 97  

Tangible capital assets 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,174)  (1,748)  (1,388)  
Disposals of tangible capital assets - 80  65  
Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,165  1,304  1,220  

Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (9)  (364)  (103)  

Other non-financial assets 
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses 5  (36)  116  

Net acquisition of other non-financial assets 5  (36)  116  

Change in net financial assets 128  (331)  110  

Net financial assets, beginning of year 2,448  1,760  1,650  

Net financial assets, end of year  $ 2,576  $ 1,429  $ 1,760  

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY 
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT 
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA 

Statement of Cash Flow 

(in thousands) 

Year ended March 31, 2017 

2017 2016 Actual Actual

Cash provided by (applied to) 

Operating activities: 
Net income for the year $ 69  $ 97  
Adjustments for:    

Amortization 1,304  1,220  
(Gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets (Note 8) (12)  (10)  

1,361  1,307  
Changes in the following: 

Accounts receivable 913  (831)  
Inventories held for resale 17  (146)  
Prepaid expenses (36)  116  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (693)  297  
Employee future benefits (4)  29  

Cash provided by operating activities 1,558  772  

Capital activities:   
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,748)  (1,388)  
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 92  75  

   Cash (applied to) capital activities (1,656)  (1,313)  

Change in cash and cash equivalents (98)  (541)  

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 504  1,045  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 406  $ 504  

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY 
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT 
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(in thousands) 

Year ended March 31, 2017 

1. Nature of organization

The Government of Manitoba established a central warehouse operation in 1974 to effectively meet the
cost needs of departments and certain boards, commissions and agencies of the Crown, for a variety
of commonly used items.  Effective April 1, 1993, Materials Distribution Agency (the "Agency") was
designated as a Special Operating Agency pursuant to The Special Operating Agencies Financing
Authority Act, Cap. S185, C.C.S.M. and operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor
in Council.

In 1956, Mail Management (Postal Service) was created as a branch of the Manitoba Provincial
Government to provide centralized postal services.  Effective April 1, 1996 the Postage Service was
renamed Mail Management Agency and designated as a Special Operating Agency (SOA) pursuant to
The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap. S185, C.C.S.M. and operates under a
charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.  Effective April 1, 2005, the operations of the
Materials Distribution Agency and the Mail Management Agency were amalgamated. The
amalgamated operations have been operating as Materials Distribution Agency.

The Agency is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA).  The
Financing Authority has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from the
Agency's operations and finances the Agency through repayable loans and working capital advances.
This financial framework enables the Agency to operate in a business like manner according to public
policy expectations.  A Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister
responsible for the Agency assigns responsibility to the Agency to manage and account for
Agency-related assets and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority.

The Agency is now part of the Department of Finance under the general direction of the Associate
Deputy Minister, Central Services Division, and ultimately the policy direction of the Deputy Minister
and Minister.  The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations.  The Agency is also
bound by administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided in its charter in
order to meet business objectives.

Effective April 1, 2012 the Agency is administering the vaccine program on behalf of Manitoba Health.

2. Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public sector as
recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY 
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT 
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(in thousands) 

Year ended March 31, 2017 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a)  Revenue

Warehouse sales 

Revenue is recognized when the goods are shipped and when collection is reasonably assured. 

Service revenue 

Service revenue is recognized when the related services are completed or substantially completed 
pursuant to the underlying contracts, where applicable, and when collection is reasonably 
assured. 

Other revenue 

Investment income and all other revenue is recognized on the accrual basis. 

(b) Expenses 

Accrual basis of accounting 

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recognized on the accrual basis.  

Government transfers 

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are 
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met. 

(c) Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term investments and deposits with 
original maturities of three months or less. 

Accounts receivable 

Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  An allowance for 
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.   

Portfolio investments 

Portfolio investments are investments and deposits with original maturities of more than three 
months.  These investments are recognized at cost. 

Inventories for resale 

Inventories for resale are recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value. 

(d) Liabilities 

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the 
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or 
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of 
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved. 



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY 
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT 
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(in thousands) 

Year ended March 31, 2017 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets 

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost.  Cost includes the purchase price as well as other 
acquisition costs.  The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized over 
their estimated useful lives as follows:   

Computer equipment 20% straight-line 
Furniture and fixtures 20% straight-line 
Leasehold improvements 10 years straight-line 
Office equipment 20% straight-line 
Mail finishing equipment 20% declining balance 
Rental equipment 2 - 5 years straight-line 
Warehouse equipment 20% declining balance 

Prepaid expenses 

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services that will provide economic benefit in future 
periods.  The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or services are 
consumed. 

(f) Financial instruments - measurement 

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) 
cost or amortized cost. 

The Agency records its financial assets at cost.  Financial assets include cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments.  The Agency also records its financial 
liabilities at cost.  Financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in 
the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.  Gains and losses on financial 
instruments measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as 
remeasurement gains and losses until realized.  Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the 
cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations. 

(g) Measurement uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial 
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  
These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments are recognized in the period they 
become known.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. 



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY 
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT 
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(in thousands) 

Year ended March 31, 2017 

4. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2017 2016 

Trade accounts receivable $ 1,920  $ 2,833  
Allowance for doubtful accounts (65)  (65)  

$ 1,855  $ 2,768  

5. Working capital advances

The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority has provided the Agency with an authorized line
of working capital of $1,000 of which $nil was used at March 31, 2017 (2016 - $nil).

6. Inventories held for resale

2017 2016 

Medical supplies $ 866  $ 775  
Health equipment 150  168  
Stationary 408  451  
Janitorial 207  253  
Furniture 3  4  

$ 1,634  $ 1,651  

7. Employee future benefits

2017 2016 

Severance benefits $ 691  $ 695  
Sick pay benefits 70  70  

$ 761  $ 765  

Pension benefits 

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the Civil 
Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board. The 
CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service 
and to participating agencies of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil Service 
Superannuation Fund. 

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency 
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees.  Commencing April 1, 2001, the 
Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its employees’ current pension 
contributions.  The amount paid for the year ended March 31, 2017 was $366 (2016 - $318).  Under 
this agreement, the Agency has no further pension liability. 



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY 
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT 
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(in thousands) 

Year ended March 31, 2017 

7. Employee future benefits (continued)

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees.  The amount of the severance pay benefit obligation is based on actuarial calculations.
The periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the
actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from expected and/or because of changes in
actuarial assumptions used.  The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected
average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014.  The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis.  In accordance with the formula, the
Agency's actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2017 is $691
(2016 - $695), with the total net actuarial losses of $38 (2016 - $38) based on the completed actuarial
reports being amortized over the 15 year EARSL of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2017 present value of the accrued severance benefit liability, are:

Annual rate of return: 
Inflation component 2.00% 
Real rate of return 4.00% 

6.00% 

Assumed salary increase rates: 
Annual productivity increase 1.00% 
Annual general salary increase 2.75% 

3.75% 

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components: 

2017 2016 

Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year $ 711  $ 685  
Interest on accrued severance benefits 43  41  
Current period service costs 34  30  
Severance benefits paid during the year (83)  (45)  

Accrued benefit liability, end of year 705  711  

Less: unamortized actuarial losses (14)  (16)  

Severance benefit liability, end of year $ 691  $ 695  



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY 
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT 
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(in thousands) 

Year ended March 31, 2017 

7. Employee future benefits (continued)

The total expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following
components:

2017 2016 

Interest on accrued severance benefits $ 43  $ 41  
Current period service costs 34  30  
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 2  3  

Total expense related to severance benefits $ 79  $ 74  

Sick pay benefits 

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued 
benefit liability related to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined using a valuation 
model developed by an actuary.  The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick leave usage 
and actuarial assumptions.  These assumptions include a 5.00% annual return and a 3.00% annual 
salary increase.  The Agency's sick leave benefit liability as at March 31, 2017 based on the valuation 
model is $70 (2016 - $70).  The increase (decrease) in the sick leave benefit liability of $nil (2016 - 
$nil) represents the total sick leave benefit expense (recovery) for the year.  



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY 
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

(in thousands) 

Year ended March 31, 2017 

8. Tangible capital assets

2017 

Opening Closing 
Balance Additions Disposals Balance 

Cost 
Computer equipment $ 279  $ 31  $ - $ 310  
Furniture and fixtures 165  - - 165  
Leasehold improvements 1,147  7  - 1,154  
Office equipment 64  - - 64  
Mail finishing equipment 542  - - 542  
Rental equipment 11,646  1,662  (80)  13,228  
Warehouse equipment 1,323  48  - 1,371  

$ 15,166  $ 1,748  $ (80)  $ 16,834  

    Accumulated amortization 
Computer equipment  $ (253)  $ (9)  $ - $ (262)  
Furniture and fixtures (163)  (1)  - (164)  
Leasehold improvements (900)  (37)  - (937)  
Office equipment (64)  - - (64)  
Mail finishing equipment (363)  (34)  - (397)  
Rental equipment (10,022)  (1,150)  - (11,172)  
Warehouse equipment (985)  (73)  - (1,058)  

$ (12,750)  $ (1,304)  $ - $ (14,054)  

Net book value $ 2,416  $ 444  $ (80)  $ 2,780  

During the year ended March 31, 2017, rental equipment additions totaling $80 were sold for 
proceeds of $92 resulting in a gain on disposal of tangible capital assets of $12 included in total 
health equipment sales for the year. 



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY 
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT 
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(in thousands) 

Year ended March 31, 2017 

8. Tangible capital assets (continued)

2016 

Opening Closing 
Balance Additions Disposals Balance 

Cost 
Computer equipment $ 279  $ - $ - $ 279  
Furniture and fixtures 165  - - 165  
Leasehold improvements 1,142  5  - 1,147  
Office equipment 64  - - 64  
Mail finishing equipment 542  - - 542  
Rental equipment 12,411  1,362  (2,127)  11,646  
Warehouse equipment 1,302  21  `   -   1,323  

$ 15,905  $ 1,388  $ (2,127)  $ 15,166  

    Accumulated amortization 
Computer equipment  $ (245)  $ (8)  $ - $ (253)  
Furniture and fixtures (162)  (1)  - (163)  
Leasehold improvements (863)  (37)  - (900)  
Office equipment (64)  - - (64)  
Mail finishing equipment (320)  (43)  - (363)  
Rental equipment (11,034)  (1,051)  2,062  (10,022)  
Warehouse equipment (905)  (80)  - (985)  

$ (13,593)  $ (1,220)  $ 2,062  $ (12,750)  

Net book value $ 2,312  $ 168  $ (65)  $ 2,416  

During the year ended March 31, 2016, rental equipment additions totaling $65 were sold for 
proceeds of $75 resulting in a gain on disposal of tangible capital assets of $10 included in total 
health equipment sales for the year.  In addition, fully amortized rental equipment with an original cost 
of $2,062 was written off during the year ended March 31, 2016. 

9. Designated assets

The Agency has allocated $412 (2016 - $412) of its portfolio investments totaling $512 as designated
assets for cash received from the Province of Manitoba for vacation entitlements earned by
employees of the Agency prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits
accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of the Agency’s employees.  This amount is held in an
interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities.  Any unused
balance is re-invested annually.

10. Commitments

Rental agreement(s)

The Agency leases space from the Province of Manitoba on a monthly basis for the following
locations:  450 Broadway, Winnipeg, MB; and 340 - 9th Street, Brandon, MB.  Occupancy charges for
the year ending March 31, 2018 for these locations are estimated to be $nil (2017 actual - $10).
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Year ended March 31, 2017 

11. Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba

During the year ended March 31, 2017, with Lieutenant-Governor approval by Order in Council, the
Agency transferred $200 (2016 - $200) of its surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba.

12. Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Agency does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value
or denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Agency did not incur any remeasurement gains or
losses during the year (2016 - $nil).

Financial risk management – overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest rate risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party.  Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to
credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio
investments.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2017 2016 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 406  $ 504  
Accounts receivable 1,855  2,768  
Portfolio investments 512  512  

$ 2,773  $ 3,784  

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit 
risk as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance. 

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance of the 
accounts receivable are primarily with other government agencies and departments.  The balance is 
due from a large client base and payment in full is typically collected when it is due.  The Agency 
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts.  

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential 
credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and 
assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends. 
These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written 
off.  

The balance in the allowance for doubtful accounts as at March 31, 2017 is $65 (2016 - $65).  The 
total provision for receivable impairment during the year was $nil (2016 - $nil) and there were no 
reversals of previously recognized impairments during the current or prior year.    
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Year ended March 31, 2017 

12. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

The aging of accounts receivable and the related allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2017
is as follows:

   Accounts 
receivable Allowance Net 

Current $ 1,719  $ - $ 1,719  
30-60 days past the billing date 179  (43)  136  
61-90 days past the billing date 14  (14)  - 
90 days past the billing date 8  (8)  - 

Balance, end of the year $ 1,920  $ (65)  $ 1,855  

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come 
due. 

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the 
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet its obligations. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange 
rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The interest rate exposure relates to cash 
and cash equivalents and portfolio investments. 

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low because of their 
short-term nature.  The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original 
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions. 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Agency is not exposed to significant 
foreign currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments denominated in a 
foreign currency. 

13. Budget information

The budget information for the year ended March 31, 2017 has been restated to reflect the transfer
payment to the Province of Manitoba as an expense for the year in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards.
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Schedule of Warehouse Sales and Service Revenue 

(in thousands) 

Year ended March 31, 2017 Schedule 1 

2017 2016 

Warehouse sales: 
Medical supplies $ 7,330  $ 6,828  
Stationery 4,612  4,558  
Janitorial 2,234  2,184  
Health equipment 1,466  1,519  
Furniture 575  902  
Special projects 17  79  

$ 16,234  $ 16,070  

Service revenue: 
Mail services $ 5,181  $ 6,017  
Home care equipment rentals 3,955  3,769  
Manitoba Textbook Bureau 290  290  
Freight 1,005  935  
Moving 601  513  
Storage 388  404  
Vaccine program 637  546  
Copy centre 10  8  
Disposal services 81  7  
Other revenue and recoveries 237  209  

$ 12,385  $ 12,698  
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Schedule of Operating and Administrative Expenses 

(in thousands) 

Year ended March 31, 2017 Schedule 2 

2017 2016 

Operating expenses: 
Amortization $ 1,304  $ 1,220  
Copy centre 5  5  
Equipment rentals 140  167  
Freight 2,011  1,869  
Mail services 3,979  4,558  
Moving expenses 430  371  
Vehicle 124  146  
Warehouse supplies 181  168  

$ 8,174  $ 8,504  

Administrative expenses: 
Computer $ 236  $ 228  
Miscellaneous 16  22  
Office 296  305  
Professional fees 12  12  
Promotion and marketing 25  54  
SOAFA fees - 2  
Telephone 91  74  
Training 5  7  

$ 681  $ 704  
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ADVISORY · ASSURANCE & ACCOUNTING · TAXATION · TRANSACTION CONSULTING

 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
and Office of the Fire Commissioner

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Office of the Fire Commissioner, an agency of
the Government of Manitoba, which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2017 and
the statements of operations, change in net financial assets and cash flow for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Office of the Fire Commissioner as at March 31, 2017 and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

May 23, 2017
Winnipeg, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants

Brett
Magnus



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Financial Position

(in thousands)

March 31, 2017

2017 2016
Actual Actual

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 20,266 $ 18,724
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 872 608
Portfolio investments 787 787

21,925 20,119

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 5) 1,666 1,956
Deferred revenue and government grants (Note 6) 763 549
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 1,044 984

3,473 3,489

Net financial assets 18,452 16,630

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 7,508 7,102
Prepaid expenses 128 120
Inventories of supplies 334 334

7,970 7,556

Accumulated surplus $ 26,422 $ 24,186

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Operations

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

2017 2017 2016
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue (Schedule 1): 
Government grants/transfers:

Province of Manitoba $ 130 $ 305 $ 130
Federal Government 400 480 146

530 785 276

Fees and other revenue 17,821 18,292 17,571
Investment income 40 48 58

18,391 19,125 17,905

Expenses: 
Salaries and employee benefits 10,848 10,087 10,354
Mutual Aid expenses 360 286 230
Transportation (Schedule 2) 845 582 536
Communications (Schedule 3) 380 415 320
Supplies and services (Schedule 4) 2,106 1,942 1,997
Minor capital expenses 150 293 100
Amortization of tangible capital assets 900 839 731
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 10 17 -
Other operating expenses (Schedule 5) 1,465 1,478 1,196

17,064 15,939 15,464

Net income before transfer of funds to the Province of
Manitoba 1,327 3,186 2,441

Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba (Note 11) 950 950 750

Net income for the year 377 2,236 1,691

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 24,232 24,186 22,495

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 24,609 $ 26,422 $ 24,186

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

2017 2017 2016
Budget Actual Actual

Net income for the year $ 377 $ 2,236 $ 1,691

Tangible capital assets:
Acquisitions of tangible capital assets (2,615) (1,319) (621)
Disposals of tangible capital assets 179 74 -
Amortization of tangible capital assets 900 839 731

Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,536) (406) 110

Other non-financial assets:
(Increase) in prepaid expenses - (8) (10)
Decrease (increase) in inventories of supplies - - (66)

Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - (8) (76)

Change in net financial assets (1,159) 1,822 1,725

Net financial assets, beginning of year 15,747 16,630 14,905

Net financial assets, end of year $ 14,588 $ 18,452 $ 16,630

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

2017 2016
Actual Actual

Cash provided by (applied to)

Operating activities:
Net income for the year $ 2,236 $ 1,691
Adjustments for:   

Amortization of tangible capital assets 839 731
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 17 -

3,092 2,422
Changes in the following: 

Accounts receivable (264) 335
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (290) (87)
Deferred revenue and government grants 214 12
Employee future benefits 60 108
Prepaid expenses (8) (10)
Inventories of supplies - (66)

Cash provided by operating activities 2,804 2,714

Capital activities:  
Acquisitions of tangible capital assets (1,319) (621)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 57 -

Cash (applied to) capital activities (1,262) (621)

Change in cash and cash equivalents 1,542 2,093

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 18,724 16,631

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 20,266 $ 18,724

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

1. Nature of organization

Effective April 1, 1996, the Office of the Fire Commissioner (the "Agency") was designated as a
Special Operating Agency (SOA) pursuant to The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Act, Cap. S185, C.C.S.M. and operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in
Council.

Effective April 1, 1996, a Transfer Agreement between the Government of Manitoba (Labour) and the
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA), a corporation pursuant to The Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, transferred all assets in the Fires Prevention Fund valued
at $11,809 to the Financing Authority.  A Management Agreement executed between the Financing
Authority and the Government of Manitoba (Labour) assigned responsibility for these assets to the
Agency to manage and account for the related assets and operations on behalf of the Financing
Authority.  The Agency does not hold title to these assets.  Effective April 1, 1996, the Financing
Authority established a fund referred to as the Fires Prevention Fund to hold these assets.

Effective April 1, 2011, the operations and related net liabilities valued at $358 of the former
Mechanical and Engineering Branch of the Department of Labour and Immigration were transferred to
the Financing Authority to be managed and accounted for by the Office of the Fire Commissioner.

The Agency is now part of the Department of Growth, Enterprise and Trade and is ultimately under the
policy direction of the Minister of Growth, Enterprise and Trade.  The Agency is bound by relevant
legislation and regulations.  The Agency is also bound by administrative policy except where specific
exemptions have been provided for in its charter in order to meet business objectives. 

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Agency's operating charter was updated and an Audit
Committee established to oversee the financial reporting and overall operations of the Agency.

2. Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public
sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Revenue

Government grants/transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as revenue when the
transfer is authorized. 

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met. 

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met, except
when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability. 



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Revenue (continued)

Fees and other revenue

Insurance levy revenue is recognized in accordance with the underlying legislation.  The Fires
Prevention and Emergency Response Act imposes a special assessment on licensed insurers in
Manitoba equal to a set percentage of total property insurance premiums.  The levy rate is
currently set at 1.25% (2016 - 1.25%).  The Agency collects this levy based on the value of
premiums and assessments relating to property insurance premiums in a calendar year.  Levy
revenue with respect to the 2016 calendar year is recognized as revenue in the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2017 with no amounts recognized in the financial statements for January to March of
the current fiscal year due to it not being practicable to determine a reasonable estimate for these
amounts.

Inspection technical services revenue including amusement rides, boiler and pressure vessel, gas
and oil, electrical, and elevator fees including certificates, design registrations, examinations,
inspections, licenses, permits, searches and special acceptances under The Amusements Act,
The Electricians' License Act, The Elevator Act, The Gas and Oil Burner Act, The Power
Engineers Act and The Steam and Pressure Plants Act are recognized on the accrual basis.

Codes and standards revenue including building, mobile home and plumbing code inspections
and permits under The Buildings and Mobile Homes Act is recognized on the accrual basis.

Fire inspections, investigations and reports under The Fires Prevention and Emergency Response
Act are recognized on the accrual basis.

Tuition fees, emergency services and other conferences revenue are recognized on the accrual
basis.  

Amounts received in advance for tuition fees, conferences and inspection technical services are
deferred on the statement of financial position and recognized as revenue during the period the
revenue relates to.

Investment income and all other revenue is recognized on the accrual basis.

(b) Expenses

Expenses

Expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on the accrual basis when the related
goods or services are received.

Government transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.
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Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term investments and deposits with
original maturities of three months or less.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are investments and deposits with original maturities of more than three
months.  These investments are recognized at cost.

(d) Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement.  Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.

(e) Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities of the
Agency.  These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost.  Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs.  The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Building 5% declining balance

Practical training site 10% declining balance

Equipment 20% declining balance

Fire engines 30% declining balance

Other vehicles 30% declining balance

Air compressors 20% declining balance

Furniture 20% declining balance

Computer equipment and software 30% declining balance
Leasehold improvements            10% declining balance

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefits in
future periods.  The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or
services are consumed.  

Inventories of supplies

Inventories of supplies are recorded at cost and recognized as an expense in the year the
supplies are consumed.  
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Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Financial instruments - measurement 

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b)
cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and portfolio investments.  The Agency also records its financial liabilities at
cost, which include accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in
the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.  Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized; upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.  

(g) Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments are recognized in the period they
become known.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

4. Accounts receivable

2017 2016

Financial Institutions Branch of the Department of Finance -
Fire Prevention Levy $ 291 $ 102

National Search and Rescue Secretariat - New Search and
Rescue Initiative 176 139

Trade accounts receivable 724 601
Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 13) (319) (234)

$ 872 $ 608

5. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2017 2016

Trade payables and accruals $ 817 $ 388
Vacation and overtime entitlements 840 866
Accrued salaries and benefits - 638
City of Winnipeg - professional services - 53
Provincial sales and other taxes payable 9 11

$ 1,666 $ 1,956



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

6. Deferred revenue and government grants

Included in deferred revenue and government grants at year end is $250 (2016 - $nil) relating to
funding received from Public Safety Canada for the Heavy Urban Search and Rescue Program for
which the related eligible expenditures have not been incurred.  Pursuant to the funding agreement,
these expenditures along with all final reports must be submitted to Public Safety Canada by June 30,
2017.   

7. Employee future benefits

2017 2016

Severance benefits $ 893 $ 835
Sick pay benefits 151 149

$ 1,044 $ 984

Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of The
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board.
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil
Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees.  Commencing April 1, 2011, the
Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions of its
employees.  The amount paid for the year ended March 31, 2017 was $704 (2016 - $661).  Under this
agreement, the Agency has no further pension liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees.  The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations.  The periodic
actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial
calculations when actual experience is different from expected and/or because of changes in the
actuarial assumptions used.  The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected
average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as at March 31, 2014.  The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis.  In accordance with the formula, the
Agency's actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2017 is $893

(2016 - $835), with the net actuarial losses of $220 (2016 - $220) based on the completed actuarial
reports being amortized over the 15 year EARSL of the employee group.



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
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Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

7. Employee future benefits (continued)

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2017 present value of the accrued severance benefit liability, are:

Annual rate of return:
Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%

6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates:
Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%

3.75%

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2017 2016

Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year $ 969 $ 887
Current period service costs 62 57
Interest on accrued severance benefits 58 53
Severance benefits paid (76) (28)
Accrued benefit liability, end of year 1,013 969

Less: unamortized actuarial losses (120) (134)

Severance benefit liability, end of year $ 893 $ 835

The total expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following
components:

2017 2016

Current period service costs $ 62 $ 57
Interest on accrued severance benefits 58 53
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 14 15

Total expense related to severance benefits $ 134 $ 125

Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest.  The accrued
benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined using a
valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick
leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 5.00% (2016 - 5.00%) annual

return and a 3.00% (2016 - 3.00%) annual salary increase.  The Agency's sick leave benefit liability as

at March 31, 2017 based on the valuation model is $151 (2016 - $149).  The increase in the sick leave

benefit liability of $2 (2016 - $11) represents the total sick leave benefit expense for the year.
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8. Tangible capital assets   

2017

Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost
Buildings $ 7,873 $ - $ (38) $ 7,835
Practical training site 2,848 - (76) 2,772
Equipment 3,859 356 (1,172) 3,043
Fire engines 1,827 539 (248) 2,118
Other vehicles 1,450 154 (344) 1,260
Air compressors 1,269 251 (129) 1,391
Furniture 345 19 (70) 294
Computer equipment and software 588 - (87) 501
Leasehold improvements 74 - - 74

$ 20,133 $ 1,319 $ (2,164) $ 19,288

Accumulated amortization
Buildings $ (3,500) $ (216) $ 36 $ (3,680)
Practical training site (1,914) (88) 74 (1,928)
Equipment (3,129) (126) 1,127 (2,128)
Fire engines (1,585) (204) 242 (1,547)
Other vehicles (1,305) (42) 317 (1,030)
Air compressors (856) (115) 142 (829)
Furniture (193) (28) 67 (154)
Computer equipment and software (535) (14) 85 (464)
Leasehold improvements (14) (6) - (20)

$ (13,031) $ (839) $ 2,090 $ (11,780)

Net book value $ 7,102 $ 480 $ (74) $ 7,508
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8. Tangible capital assets (continued)

2016

Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost
Buildings $ 7,845 $ 28 $ - $ 7,873
Practical training site 2,726 122 - 2,848
Equipment 3,640 219 - 3,859
Fire engines 1,707 120 - 1,827
Other vehicles 1,450 - - 1,450
Air compressors 1,151 118 - 1,269
Furniture 331 14 - 345
Computer equipment and software 588 - - 588
Leasehold improvements 74 - - 74

$ 19,512 $ 621 $ - $ 20,133

Accumulated amortization
Buildings (3,271) (229) - (3,500)
Practical training site (1,816) (98) - (1,914)
Equipment (2,985) (144) - (3,129)
Fire engines (1,528) (57) - (1,585)
Other vehicles (1,243) (62) - (1,305)
Air compressors (781) (75) - (856)
Furniture (156) (37) - (193)
Computer equipment and software (512) (23) - (535)
Leasehold improvements (8) (6) - (14)

$ (12,300) $ (731) $ - $ (13,031)

Net book value $ 7,212 $ (110) $ - $ 7,102

9. Designated assets

The Agency has allocated $787 (2016 - $787) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba for vacation entitlements earned by employees of the
Agency prior to its designation as an SOA and for severance pay benefits for certain of its employees.
As at March 31, 2017, $559 (2016 - $559) is designated for the vacation entitlements and severance
pay benefits accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of its employees and $228 (2016 - $228) is
designated for the severance pay benefits accumulated to April 1, 2011 for employees transferred
from the former Mechanical and Engineering Branch, now Inspection Technical Services.  These
amounts are held in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related
liabilities.  Any unused balance is re-invested annually.
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10. Commitments

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement with the City of Brandon for the land on which the
practical training facility has been constructed.  The term of the lease expires May 31, 2017.  Minimum
annual rent is $12 due in equal monthly installments, plus all operating costs with respect to the
subject land.

The Agency has entered into leases on a fleet of 39 vehicles.

These leases give rise to lease commitments as follows:

2018 $ 206
2019 155
2020 113
2021 89
2022 64
Thereafter 40

11. Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba

During the year, with Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council approval by Order in Council, the Agency
transferred $950 (2016 - $750) of its surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba.

12. Professional services - Growth, Enterprise and Trade

The Agency has a professional services agreement with the Department of Growth, Enterprise and
Trade for the provision of legislation and policy services to the Agency for total fees of $75 for the year
ended March 31, 2017.  In the prior year, a similar agreement was in place also for legislation and
policy services.  The amount paid pursuant to this professional services agreement for the year ended
March 31, 2017 was $75 (2016 - $75).  As at year end, all amounts owing pursuant to this agreement
have been paid.  

13. Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Agency does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value
or denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Agency did not incur any remeasurement gains or
losses during the year (2016 - $nil).

Financial risk management – overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party.  Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to
credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio
investments.
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13. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2017 2016

Cash and cash equivalents $ 20,266 $ 18,724
Accounts receivable 872 608
Portfolio investments 787 787

$ 21,925 $ 20,119

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments:  The Agency is not exposed to significant credit
risk as these amounts are held primarily by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable:  The Agency is exposed to credit risk on its trade accounts receivable.  The
Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit
losses.  The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management's estimates and assumptions
regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends.  These factors
are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

The balance in the allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2017  is $319 (2016 - $234).  The
change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year is as follows:

2017 2016

Balance, beginning of the year $ 234 $ 381
Provision for receivable impairment 85 -
Reversals of previously recognized impairments - (147)

Balance, end of the year $ 319 $ 234

Bad debt expense for the year also includes $25 (2016 - $21) of adjustments to accounts receivable
for total bad debt expense for the year of $110 (2016 - net recovery of $126).

The aging of accounts receivable and the related allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2017
is as follows:

Accounts
receivable Allowance Net

Current $ 752 $ - $ 752
30-60 days past the billing date 74 - 74
61-90 days past the billing date 46 - 46
Over 90 days past the billing date 319 (319) -

Balance, end of the year $ 1,191 $ (319) $ 872

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.  The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from
the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet its obligations.
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13. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The interest rate exposure relates to cash
and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low because of their short-
term nature.  The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Agency is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments denominated in a
foreign currency.

14. Comparative information

Certain of the amounts for the year ended March 31, 2016 have been reclassified to conform to the
financial statement presentation adopted in the current year.
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2017 2017 2016
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue:
Government grants/transfers:

Province of Manitoba:
Indigenous and Municipal Relations -

Mutual Aid $ 130 $ 130 $ 130
Sustainable Development - Emergency Response

Cost Recovery - 150 -
Sustainable Development - FireSmart Initiative - 25 -
Total Province of Manitoba 130 305 130

Federal Government:
Public Safety Canada - New Initiative Fund - 176 146
Public Safety Canada - Heavy Urban Search and

Rescue Program 400 304 -
Total Federal Government 400 480 146

Fees and other revenue:
Insurance Levy 8,661 8,816 8,364
Inspection technical services 5,700 5,967 5,195
Codes and standards 2,300 2,291 2,755
Tuition fees 1,000 983 971
Fire inspections, investigations and reports 140 183 211
Emergency services and other conferences - - 3
Other revenue 20 52 72
Total fees and other revenue 17,821 18,292 17,571

Investment income 40 48 58

$ 18,391 $ 19,125 $ 17,905
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(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

2017 2017 2016
Budget Actual Actual

Transportation expenses:
Vehicle leases $ 550 $ 361 $ 385
Travel 250 152 126
Fuel - owned vehicles 40 16 14
Emergency response - 53 10
Boards and committees 5 - 1

$ 845 $ 582 $ 536
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Schedule 3 - Communications Expenses

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

2017 2017 2016
Budget Actual Actual

Communications expenses:
Communications $ 200 $ 176 $ 172
Postage and courier 60 93 81
Marketing 50 50 16
Public education material 70 96 51

$ 380 $ 415 $ 320
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Schedule 4 - Supplies and Services Expenses

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

2017 2017 2016
Budget Actual Actual

Supplies and services expenses:
Supplies $ 250 $ 217 $ 196
Repairs and maintenance 250 337 330
Rent 350 389 394
Professional services - Growth, Enterprise

and Trade (Note 12) 75 75 75
Professional fees - contracted services 425 347 472
Professional fees - legal and audit 75 87 84
Mutual Aid - air compressor maintenance 120 122 138
Fuel - training supplies 40 21 15
Utilities 90 99 92
Other 31 33 20
Emergency response 400 215 181

$ 2,106 $ 1,942 $ 1,997
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Schedule 5 - Other Operating Expenses

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2017

2017 2017 2016
Budget Actual Actual

Other operating expenses:
Desktop management $ 605 $ 509 $ 521
Travel 300 367 316
Bad debt expense (recovery) 50 110 (126)
Property taxes 184 154 165
Insurance 140 137 141
Clothing 65 66 59
Publications 25 46 41
Professional development 60 52 42
Boards and committees 6 - 1
Seminar and conference registration 10 6 8
Memberships and subscriptions 7 10 9
Mutual Aid - meetings 3 2 2
Other 10 19 17

$ 1,465 $ 1,478 $ 1,196



Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Financial Statements
March 31, 2017



2500 - 201 Portage Ave., Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 3K6, Phone: (204) 775-4531, 1 (877) 500-0795

Management's Responsibility

Pineland Forest Nursery’s (the Nursery) management is responsible for preparing the financial statements and other financial information
in the Annual Report. This responsibility includes maintaining the integrity and objectivity of financial data and the presentation of the
Nursery’s financial position, results of operations, change in net debt, and cash flows, in compliance with legislation, and in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada. In management’s opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared, within reasonable limits of
materiality, incorporating management’s best judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available through May 12,
2017.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the Nursery’s assets. These controls also provide reasonable assurance
that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived accurately reflect all transactions in all material respects, and
that established policies and procedures are followed.

The Nursery’s financial statements have been audited by MNP LLP, independent external auditors. The auditors’ responsibility is to
express an independent opinion on whether the financial statements of the Nursery are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Auditors’ Report outlines the scope of their audit examination and
provides their audit opinion.

On behalf of the Nursery’s management,

Michael Doig,
Acting General Manager

Winnipeg, Manitoba
May 12, 2017

Original Document Signed 



2500 - 201 Portage Ave., Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 3K6, Phone: (204) 775-4531, 1 (877) 500-0795

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of Pineland Forest Nursery:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Pineland Forest Nursery, which comprise the statement of financial position
as at March 31, 2017 and the statements of operations and accumulated deficit, change in net debt and cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Pineland Forest Nursery as at
March 31, 2017 and the results of its operations, changes in net debt and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Winnipeg, Manitoba

May 12, 2017 Chartered Professional Accountants



2017

(in thousands)

2016

(in thousands)

Financial assets
Portfolio investments 187 187

Accounts receivable (Note 4) 536 1,344

723 1,531

Liabilities
Working capital advances (Note 5) 3,661 3,929

Accounts payable and accruals 196 289

Unearned revenue 932 936

Employee future benefits (Note 6) 387 357

Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 7) 882 1,027

6,058 6,538

Net Debt (5,335) (5,007)

Non-financial assets
Inventories held for use 194 312

Prepaid expenses 9 9

Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 1,454 1,511

1,657 1,832

Accumulated Deficit (3,678) (3,175)

Designated assets (Note 9)

Approved by:

_________________________________ _________________________________

General Manager / Chief Operating Officer Acting Manager of Administration

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2017

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed 



2017

Budget

(in thousands)

2017

Actual

(in thousands)

2016

Actual

(in thousands)

Revenues - Private Sector

Overwinter 996 831 1,029

Current 136 191 204

Seed services 50 84 76

Other 5 13 10

1,187 1,119 1,319

Revenues - Province of Manitoba

Overwinter 588 625 505

Current 1 107 41

Seed services 5 34 36

Other 50 23 182

644 789 764

Total revenues 1,831 1,908 2,083

Operating Expenses (Schedule 1) 700 833 775

General administrative expenses

Amortization 226 110 249

Interest - operating and capital loan 172 113 113

Salaries, wages and benefits 1,252 1,355 1,411

1,650 1,578 1,773

Total expenses 2,350 2,411 2,548

Net loss (519) (503) (465)

Accumulated deficit, beginning of year (3,175) (3,175) (2,710)

Accumulated deficit, end of year (3,694) (3,678) (3,175)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit
For the year ended March 31, 2017



2017

Budget

(in thousands)

2017

Actual

(in thousands)

2016

Actual

(in thousands)

Net loss (519) (503) (465)

Tangible capital assets

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (150) (53) (51)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 226 110 249

76 57 198

Other non-financial assets

(Increase) decrease in inventories held for use - 118 (74)

Decrease in prepaid expense - - 14

- 118 (60)

Decrease (increase) in net debt (443) (328) (327)

Net debt, beginning of year (5,007) (5,007) (4,680)

Net debt, end of year (5,450) (5,335) (5,007)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Change in Net Debt
For the year ended March 31, 2017



2017

Actual

(in thousands)

2016

Actual

(in thousands)

Cash provided by (applied to):

Operating

Net loss (503) (465)

Amortization of tangible assets 110 249

(393) (216)

Change in:

Accounts receivable 808 (413)

Accounts payable and accruals (93) 50

Unearned revenue (4) 363

Employee future benefits 30 8

Inventories 118 (74)

Prepaid expenses - 14

466 (268)

Capital

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (53) (51)

Financing

Debt repayments to the Province of Manitoba (145) (145)

Increase (decrease) in cash resources 268 (464)

Working capital advances, beginning of year (3,929) (3,465)

Working capital advances, end of year (3,661) (3,929)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2017



Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2017

(In thousands)

1. Nature of Organization

In 1953, Pineland Provincial Forestry Nursery was established to meet all the forest nursery stock
requirements of the Province at one location. Prior to 1953 there were several small nurseries located
throughout the Province. Effective April 1, 1995, Pineland Forest Nursery, (the “Nursery”) was
designated as a special operating agency under The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Act (C.C.S.M. c.S185) and operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

A management agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Sustainable
Development assigns responsibility to the Nursery to manage and account for the agency related
assets and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority. Pineland Forest Nursery continues to be
part of the department of Manitoba Sustainable Development under the general direction of the
Assistant Deputy Minister of Sustainable Development and ultimately the policy direction of the Deputy
Minister and the Minister. Pineland Forest Nursery remains bound by relevant legislation and
regulations. It is also bound by administrative policy, except where specific exemptions have been
provided for in its charter in order to meet business objectives.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

These financial statements are the representations of management, prepared in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards and include the following significant accounting policies.

Basis of presentation

Sources of revenue and expenses are recorded on the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis
of accounting recognizes revenue as they become available and measurable; expenses are recognized
as they are incurred and measurable as a result of the receipt of goods or services and the creation of a
legal obligation to pay.

Asset classification

Assets are classified as either financial or non-financial. Financial assets are assets that could be used
to discharge existing liabilities or finance future operations. Non-financial assets are acquired,
constructed or developed assets that do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities
but are employed to deliver government services, may be consumed in normal operations and are not
for resale in the normal course of operations.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include balances with banks and short-term investments with maturities of
three months or less. Cash subject to restrictions that prevent its use for current purposes is included in
restricted cash.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are investments that are capable of reasonably prompt liquidation and are
recognized at fair value.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of the
fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or other form of
settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately payable.



Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(In thousands)

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued from previous page)

Net debt

The Nursery’s financial statements are presented so as to highlight net debt as the measurement of
financial position. The net debt of the Nursery is determined by its liabilities less its financial assets. Net
debt combined with non-financial assets comprises a second indicator of financial position,
accumulated deficit.

Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Nursery. These
assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Inventories held for use are classified as non-financial assets and are recorded at cost.

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in future
periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or services are
consumed.

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. Amortization is provided using the declining balance method at rates intended to
amortize the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives.

Rate

Buildings 4-20%
Equipment 20-30%

Amortization on current year additions is pro-rated on the length of time in use in the current
year.

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the Nursery changed its estimates relating to the useful
lives of certain buildings thereby changing the rate of amortization from 10-20% on a declining
balance to 4% on a declining balance. This change in estimate resulted in a decrease in
amortization expense of approximately $107,000 for the year.

Long-lived assets

Long-lived assets consist of tangible capital assets. Long-lived assets held for use are measured and
amortized as described in the applicable accounting policies.

The Nursery performs impairment testing on long-lived assets held for use whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset, or group of assets, may not be
recoverable. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if the carrying amount
exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows from its use and disposal. Impairment is
measured as the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its fair value. Fair value is
measured using prices for similar items. Any impairment is included in operations for the year.

Revenue

Revenue is recognized on a percentage of completion basis. Any excess of revenue recorded on a
percentage of completion basis over amounts billed is recorded as unbilled revenue and included in
accounts receivable. Any excess of amounts billed over revenue recorded on a percentage of
completion basis is recorded as unearned revenue.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued from previous page)

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting
Standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Accounts
receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful
accounts is provided where considered necessary. Unbilled accounts receivable and unearned revenue
are based on estimated percentage of completion. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives
of tangible capital assets. These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as
adjustments become necessary they are reported in earnings in the periods in which they become
known.

Donated materials and services

Donated materials and services are recorded in the accounts at their fair value. Fair value is based on
the amounts that would be paid if these materials and services were purchased in the normal course of
business. No amount has been included in cases when fair value could not be reasonably estimated.

3. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management

Measurement

Amortized cost

The Nursery has classified the following financial assets in the amortized cost category: accounts
receivable. These assets are initially recognized at their fair value. Fair value is approximated by the
instrument's initial cost in a transaction between unrelated parties. Transactions to purchase or sell
these items are recorded on the trade date.

Accounts receivable are subsequently measured at their amortized cost, using the effective interest
method. Under this method, estimated future cash receipts are exactly discounted over the asset's
expected life, or other appropriate period, to its net carrying value. Amortized cost is the amount at
which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition less principal payments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, and less any reduction for impairment or uncollectability.

The Nursery has classified the following liabilities in the amortized cost category: working capital
advances, accounts payable and accruals and borrowings from the Province of Manitoba. These
liabilities are initially recognized at their fair value. Fair value is approximated by the instrument's initial
cost in a transaction between unrelated parties. Transactions to purchase or sell these items are
recorded on the trade date.

Working capital advances, accounts payable and accruals and borrowings from the Province of
Manitoba are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Under this
method, estimated future cash payments are exactly discounted over the liability's expected life, or other
appropriate period, to their net carrying value. Amortized cost is the amount at which the financial
liability is measured at initial recognition less principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative
amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the
maturity amount.
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3. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (Continued from previous page)

Fair value

The Nursery has classified portfolio investments in the fair value category. These assets are initially
recognized at their fair value. Fair value is approximated by the instrument's initial cost in a transaction
between unrelated parties. Transactions to purchase or sell these items are recorded on the trade date.

Investments are subsequently measured at their fair value. Investments in equity instruments that do not
have quoted market prices in an active market are measured at fair value using alternative means of
estimation. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value, except for impairment losses and
foreign exchange translation adjustments, are recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains and
losses as a remeasurement gain or loss, until the financial asset is sold or otherwise derecognized.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the statement of
remeasurement gains or losses is transferred to the consolidated statement of operations.

Financial risk management - overview

The Nursery has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity
risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Nursery to credit risk
consist principally of portfolio investments and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the Nursery to credit risk is:

2017 2016

Portfolio investments 187 187

Accounts receivable 536 1,344

723 1,531

Portfolio investments: The Nursery is not exposed to significant credit risk as these amounts are held by
the Minister of Finance. Portfolio investments have a fixed interest rate of 0.69% and mature March
2018.

Accounts receivable: Accounts receivable from two customers represents 69% (2016 - 80%) of total
accounts receivable as at March 31, 2017. The Nursery believes that there is minimal risk associated
with the collection of these amounts. The Nursery manages this credit risk through close monitoring of
overdue accounts. The Nursery establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its
estimate of potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s
estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical
payment trends. These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are
allowed for or written off.



Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2017

(In thousands)

3. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (Continued from previous page)

The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows:

2017 2016

Balance, beginning of the year 43 43
Provision for (recovery of) receivable impairment - -
Amounts written off - -
Balance, end of the year 43 43

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Nursery will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Nursery manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates,
will affect the Nursery’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to portfolio investments
and borrowings.

The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits are reinvested
at fixed rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Nursery manages its interest rate risk on borrowings through the exclusive use of fixed rate terms
for its borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Nursery is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in foreign currency.

4. Accounts receivable
2017 2016

Trade receivable:
Province of Manitoba 1 666
Other 263 406

264 1,072
Allowance for doubtful accounts (43) (43)

221 1,029
Unbilled revenue 307 306
Goods and Services Tax receivable 8 9

536 1,344



Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2017

(In thousands)

5. Working capital advances

The Financing Authority has provided the Nursery with an authorized line of working capital of $5,000
(2016 - $5,000) of which $3,661 was advanced at March 31, 2017 (2016 - $3,929). The indebtedness
bears interest at prime less 1% (2016 – prime less 1%).

6. Employee future benefits
2017 2016

Severance benefits 366
-

334
Sick pay benefits 21 23

387 357

Pension benefits

Employees of the Nursery are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of The Civil
Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board (CSSB).
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service Superannuation Fund (CSSF).

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Nursery
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2001, the
Nursery was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its employees' current pension
contributions. The amount paid for 2017 was $88 (2016 - $81).

Under this agreement, the Nursery has no further pension liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Nursery began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic
actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial
calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because changes in actuarial
assumptions used. The resulting actual gains or losses are amortized over the expected average
remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Nursery's actuarially determined net
liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2017 was $366 (2016 - $334), with an actuarial loss
being amortized over the 15 year expected average remaining service life of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2017 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation were:

Annual rate of return
inflation component 2.00%
real rate of return 4.00%

6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates
annual productivity increase 1.00%
annual general salary increase 2.75%

3.75%



Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2017

(In thousands)

6. Employee future benefits (Continued from previous page)

Sick pay benefits

The Financing Authority provides sick pay benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick pay entitlement earned by employees is determined using a
valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick pay
usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75%
annual salary increase.

7. Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

2017 2016

Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of
$6,317, plus interest at 5.125%, due July 2023.

480 556

Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of
$2,727, plus interest at 4.875%, due July 2023.

207 240

Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of
$1,786, plus interest at 4.875%, due July 2023.

136 157

Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of
$1,250, plus interest at 3.875%, due February 2021.

59 74

882 1,027

Principal repayments in each of the next five years are estimated as follows:

2018 145
2019 145
2020 145
2021 142
2022 130



Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2017

(In thousands)

8. Tangible capital assets

2017

Opening Closing

Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost

Buildings 6,254 9 - 6,263

Equipment 2,134 44 - 2,178

Total cost 8,388 53 - 8,441

Accumulated Amortization

Buildings 4,877 73 - 4,950

Equipment 2,000 37 - 2,037
Total accumulated

amortization 6,877 110 - 6,987

Net
Buildings 1,377 (64) - 1,313
Equipment 134 7 - 141

Total 1,511 (57) - 1,454

2016

Opening Closing

Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost

Buildings 6,225 29 - 6,254

Equipment 2,112 22 - 2,134

Total cost 8,337 51 - 8,388

Accumulated Amortization

Buildings 4,669 208 - 4,877

Equipment 1,959 41 - 2,000
Total accumulated

amortization 6,628 249 - 6,877

Net
Buildings 1,556 (179) - 1,377
Equipment 153 (19) - 134

Total 1,709 (198) - 1,511



Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2017

(In thousands)

9. Designated assets

The Nursery has allocated $187 (2016 - $187) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for cash
received from the Province of Manitoba for the vacation entitlements earned by employees of the
Nursery prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31,
1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held in an interest bearing account until the cash is
required to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.

10. Economic dependence

The Nursery is economically dependent on the Province of Manitoba, because it derives a significant
portion of its revenue from the Province and all of its financing requirements through the Financing
Authority.

The Nursery is also economically dependent on two of its main private sector clients as a significant
portion of its private sector revenue is derived from these two clients.



2017 2017 2016

Budget Actual Actual

(In thousands) (In thousands) (In thousands)

Operating expenses
Departmental services and professional fees 25 26 23
Freight 20 29 27
Marketing 5 4 11
Natural gas and hydro, Biomass fuel 200 292 206
Office 40 32 33
Property taxes and insurance 60 55 59
Repairs and maintenance 150 179 178
Supplies 190 209 226

Travel 10 7 12

700 833 775

Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Schedule 1 - Schedule of Operating Expenses
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

Statement of Financial Position 

(In Thousands) 

March 31, 2017 

March 31 
2017 

March 31 
2016 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents $    447 $    1,345 
Receivables (Note 5) 6,069 5,670 
Portfolio investments (Notes 6 and 10) 1,433 1,433 
Inventory for resale 4,553 4,666 

12,502 13,114 

LIABILITIES 
Working capital advances (Note 7) 955  - 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 4,314 9,788 
Unearned revenue 3,294 3,966 
Severance pay liability (Note 6) 1,500 1,531 
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 8) 119,131 112,521 

129,194 127,806 

NET DEBT (116,692) (114,692) 

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 
Prepaid expenses 2,831 2,867 

Tangible capital assets (Note 9) 
Vehicles and equipment 139,371 137,179 
Office and shop equipment 406 432 
Computer hardware and software 4 1 
Leasehold improvements 223 161 

140,004 137,773 

142,835 140,640 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS $    26,143 $    25,948 

Designated assets (Note 10) 
Commitments (Note 11) 



VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

Statement of Operations 

(In Thousands) 

Year Ended March 31, 2017 

2017 
2016 

 Actual Projected Actual 
REVENUES 

Vehicle and equipment utilization $   55,950 $   58,110 $   55,758 

Fuel billings 18,600 19,058 18,228 

Insurance and other billings 4,600 5,151 4,845 

Other revenue (Page 18) 9,665 9,362 9,742 

88,815 91,681 88,573 

EXPENSES 

Salaries and wages 10,000 9,188 9,651 

Vehicle and equipment operating expenses (Page 18) 65,634 69,457 66,636 

Administrative expenses (Page 18) 6,426 6,344 6,504 

Community service 40 61 27 

Interest expense 4,200 3,936 3,867 

86,300 88,986 86,685 

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 2,515 2,695 1,888 

 Transfers during the year to the Province of Manitoba 2,500 2,500 2,500 

NET INCOME (LOSS) 15 195 (612) 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 25,913 25,948 26,560 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, END OF YEAR $   25,928 $   26,143 $   25,948 



VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

Statement of Change in Net Debt 

(In Thousands) 

Year Ended March 31, 2017 

2017 
2016 

Actual Projected Actual 

Net income (loss) $   15 $    195 $    (612) 

Tangible capital assets 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (38,624) (33,118) (43,686) 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 25,000 27,590 26,437 

Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets, net (750) (768) (966) 

Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets 4,004 4,065 3,884 

Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (10,370) (2,231) (14,331) 

Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses during the year    - 36 (71) 

INCREASE IN NET DEBT (10,355) (2,000) (15,014) 

NET DEBT, BEGINNING OF YEAR (110,246) (114,692) (99,678) 

NET DEBT, END OF YEAR $  (120,601) $  (116,692) $  (114,692) 



VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

Statement of Cash Flows 

(In Thousands) 

Year Ended March 31, 2017 

Cash provided by (applied to): 2017 2016 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net income (loss) $   195 $   (612) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 27,590 26,437 
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets, net (768) (966) 
Increase in severance pay liability 124 126 
Payment of severance pay benefits (155) (136) 

26,986 24,849 
Change in: 

Receivables (399) 221 
Inventory for resale 113 (876) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (5,474) 5,786 
Unearned revenue (672) 1,425 
Prepaid expenses 36 (71) 

Cash provided by operating activities 20,590 31,334 

CAPITAL ACTIVITIES 
Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets 4,065 3,884 
Acquisition of vehicles and equipment (32,967) (43,563) 
Acquisition of office and shop equipment (59) (98) 
Acquisition of computer hardware and software (4)    - 
Acquisition of leasehold improvements (88) (25) 

Cash applied to capital activities (29,053) (39,802) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba 27,000 29,000 
Debt repayments to the Province of Manitoba (20,390) (17,179) 

Cash provided by financing activities 6,610 11,821 

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH (1,853) 3,353 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, NET OF WORKING CAPITAL 
ADVANCES (WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCES, NET OF CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS), BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,345 (2,008) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, NET OF WORKING CAPITAL 
ADVANCES (WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCES, NET OF CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS), END OF YEAR $    (508) $    1,345 



VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(in Thousands) 

Year Ended March 31, 2017 

1. NATURE OF ORGANIZATION

In 1934, Fleet Vehicles was created as a branch of the Manitoba provincial government to provide a centralized fleet 

management program.  On April 1, 1992, the branch was approved as a special operating agency, the first such 

agency at the provincial level in Canada.  Since inception, Fleet Vehicles Agency primarily provided light duty 

vehicles and equipment services, with ambulances becoming a part of the fleet starting in 2001/02.  On April 1, 2003, 

the Agency assumed responsibility for Radio Services, a division that evaluates and supplies the fixed and mobile 

radio requirements of its provincial and other clients. 

Following the advent of engineering-based highway management in the 1960s, the Province established a highways 

department.  The Mechanical Equipment Services branch emerged as an integral and important part of the 

department, primarily providing heavy duty vehicles and equipment, as well as warehousing services.  The provided 

services support the safe and efficient delivery of the department’s construction, maintenance and preservation 

programs, and its remote airport programs, in a manner that incorporates the principles of sustainable development 

and environmental awareness. 

Effective April 1, 2009, Fleet Vehicles Agency and the Mechanical Equipment Services branch were amalgamated 

into a new special operating agency named Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency (“VEMA”, or the “Agency”).  

VEMA combines the acquisition, management and disposal of both light duty and heavy duty vehicles and equipment 

under common management. 

VEMA was a part of the Department of Infrastructure and Transportation through March 31, 2015, under the general 

direction of the Assistant Deputy Minister, Supply and Services Division, and ultimately the policy direction of the 

Deputy Minister and Minister.  As of April 1, 2015, the Agency was transitioned from Infrastructure and Transportation 

to the Department of Finance, and is now under the general direction of the Associate Deputy Minister, Central 

Services Division, and ultimately the policy direction of the Secretary to Treasury Board and the Minister of Finance. 

The Agency is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA).  SOAFA has the 

mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency operations.  It finances the Agency 

through repayable loans and working capital advances.  This financial framework enables VEMA to operate in a 

business-like manner according to public policy expectations. 

A Management Agreement assigns responsibility to VEMA to manage and account for the Agency-related assets and 

operations on behalf of SOAFA. 

The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations.  It is also bound by administrative policy except 

where specific exemptions have been provided in its charter in order to meet business objectives. 

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The Agency’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards as 

recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board. 



VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(In Thousands) 

Year Ended March 31, 2017 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenues 

Fixed rate lease revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  Variable rate lease 

revenue is recognized monthly based on equipment usage.  Service revenue is recognized when the services have 

been performed.  All revenues are recorded on an accrual basis. 

Expenses 

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recognized at the gross amount on an accrual basis.  Government 

transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are authorized and all eligibility criteria have 

been met. 

Financial assets 

(i) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and balances with banks.  Bank overdrafts and bank 

borrowings are considered to be financing activities. 

(ii) Receivables 

Receivables are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Amounts doubtful of collection are 

recorded when there is uncertainty that the amounts will be realized. 

(iii) Portfolio investments 

Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than three months.  These 

investments are recognized at cost. 

(iv) Inventory for resale 

Inventories for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Cost is determined on a weighted 

average basis. 

Liabilities 

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of the fiscal year.  

The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or other form of settlement.  Liabilities 

are recorded in the financial statements when there is an appropriate basis of measurement and a reasonable 

estimate can be made of the amounts involved. 



VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(In Thousands) 

Year Ended March 31, 2017 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Agency.  These assets are 

normally employed to provide future services. 

(i) Prepaid expenses 

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services that will provide economic benefit in future periods.  The 

prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year that the goods or services are consumed. 

(ii) Tangible capital assets 

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost.  Cost includes the purchase price as well as other acquisition 

costs such as freight charges, transportation, insurance costs and duties.  Modifications or additions to the 

original asset are capitalized and recognized at cost. 

The values of tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that the values of the future 

economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their book values. 

The costs of tangible capital assets, less their estimated residual values, are amortized over their useful lives in 

the following manner: 

Vehicles and equipment 30%, declining balance method 

Vehicles and equipment (signed lease agreement) Straight-line over term of lease 

Office and shop equipment 20%, declining balance method 

Computer hardware and software 20%, straight-line method 

Leasehold improvements 10%, straight-line method 

Measurement uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and 

the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Judgment is required in determining the 

future economic benefit of all non-financial assets, especially in the estimation of the useful lives of tangible capital 

assets.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 



VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(In Thousands) 

Year Ended March 31, 2017 

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Measurement 

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) cost or 

amortized cost. 

The Agency records its financial assets at cost.  Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, receivables and 

portfolio investments.  The Agency also records its financial liabilities at cost.  Financial liabilities include working 

capital advances, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and borrowings from the Province of Manitoba. 

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as re-

measurement gains and losses until realized.  Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the cumulative re-

measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.  Gains and losses on financial 

instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the gain 

or loss occurs. 

As the Agency has no financial instruments measured at fair value, it did not incur any re-measurement gains and 

losses during the year ended March 31, 2017 (2016 - $nil). 

Financial risk management – overview 

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity risk; market 

risk; and interest rate risk. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes 

financial loss to another party.  Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to credit risk 

consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and portfolio investments. 

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk as of March 31, 2017, is: 

2017 2016 

Cash and cash equivalents $   447 $    1,345 
Receivables 6,069 5,670 
Portfolio investments 1,433 1,433 

$    7,949 $    8,448 

Cash and cash equivalents, and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk 

as these amounts are primarily held by the Province of Manitoba. 



VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(In Thousands) 

Year Ended March 31, 2017 

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Receivables: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk since the receivables are with departments, 

agencies and Crown corporations with the Manitoba provincial government, or are with organizations within 

the broader public sector that are funded in part by the provincial or federal governments.  The receivable 

balances are from a large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due.  An allowance 

for doubtful accounts was not recorded as of March 31, 2017 (2016 - $nil). 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. 

The Agency manages liquidity risk by balancing its cash flow requirements with draw downs from its 

available working capital advances and its other borrowings from the Province of Manitoba.  Regular 

determinations of the Agency’s working capital advances limit and its other debt requirements are reviewed 

by the Province of Manitoba to ensure that adequate funding is available as required to enable the Agency 

to meet its obligations as they come due.  The contractual maturities of the Agency’s borrowings from the 

Province of Manitoba are included in note 8.  Working capital advances are due on demand. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will 

affect the Agency’s income from operations or the fair values of its financial instruments. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates.  The interest rate exposure relates to cash and cash 

equivalents, portfolio investments, working capital advances, and to other borrowings. 

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents and working capital advances is considered to be low 

because of their short term nature.  The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the 

original deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions. 

The Agency manages its interest rate risk on long term borrowings through the exclusive use of fixed rate 

terms on each amount borrowed. 



VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(In Thousands) 

Year Ended March 31, 2017 

5. RECEIVABLES

March 31 
2017 

March 31 

2016 

Trade $     5,196 $     2,386 

Accrued trade 123 2,534 

Insurance rebate receivable 750 750 

$     6,069 $     5,670 

6. SEVERANCE PAY LIABILITY

The Agency records accumulated severance pay benefits for its employees.  Severance pay is determined by 

multiplying years of service, to a maximum of 15 years, by the weekly salary at date of retirement, provided the 

employee has reached nine years of service and retires from the Province.  There is also additional severance pay 

for employees with 20 or more years of accumulated service.  The estimate is based upon the method of calculation 

set by the Province of Manitoba. 

The Province has accepted responsibility for the severance benefits accumulated by the Agency’s employees 

through specific dates.  For the Fleet Vehicles Agency employees, that responsibility is reflected through the payment 

by the Province of $270 on March 31, 2009.  For the Mechanical Equipment Services employees, that responsibility 

is reflected through the payment by the Province of $1,163 on July 31, 2010.  The $1,433 in combined payments is 

held in an interest bearing trust account until the cash is required to discharge the related liability. 

An actuarial valuation report was completed for the severance pay liability as of December 31, 2013.  The report 

provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis.  In accordance with the formula, the Agency’s liability is 

recalculated annually, with payments to retiring employees no longer with the Agency or the Province charged 

against the liability. 

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2013, valuation, and in the determination of the 

March 31, 2017, present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation, were: 

Annual rate of return 

Inflation component 2.00% 
Real rate of return 4.00% 

6.00% 

Assumed salary increase rates 

Annual productivity increase 1.00% 
Annual general salary increase 2.75% 

3.75% 



VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(In Thousands) 

Year Ended March 31, 2017 

6. SEVERANCE PAY LIABILITY (continued)

Actuarial valuation report updates are prepared every three years.  Actuarial adjustments that result from the updates 

are absorbed by VEMA as a part of the benefits and interest accrued during the year in which the adjustment 

amounts are known. 

The severance pay liability as of March 31 included the following components: 

2017 2016 

Severance pay liability, beginning of year $    1,531 $    1,541 
Benefits and interest accrued during the year 124 126 
Severance benefits paid during the year (155) (136) 

$    1,500 $    1,531 

7. WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCES

The Agency had an authorized line of working capital advances of $10,000 through March 31, 2017, $955 of which 

was used as of that date (2016 - $nil).  As of April 1, 2017, the authorized line of working capital advances was 

reduced to $5,000.  Advances bear interest at prime less 1% and are unsecured. 

8. BORROWINGS FROM THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

By virtue of the Management Agreement, the Agency is responsible for the repayment of debts assumed by the 

Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA) on its behalf.  SOAFA holds the debt instruments listed in 

this Note on behalf of Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency. 

Borrowings obtained through the use of available Loan Act authority are repayable in semi-annual instalments of 

principal and interest, as follows: 

Interest 

rate 

Semi-annual 

payment ($) Maturity date 2017 2016 

2.5625%    271 September 30, 2016 $      - $ 268 

2.05%    581 September 30, 2016       - 576 

3.45%    186 March 31, 2017       - 362 

2.375%    213 March 31, 2017       - 419 

2.25%    269 September 30, 2017 266 788 

2.125%    530 September 30, 2017 524 1,556 

2.125%    212 March 31, 2018 417 825 

2.2%    232 September 30, 2018 682 1,125 

2.75%    754 September 30, 2018 2,201 3,619 



VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

(In Thousands) 

Year Ended March 31, 2017 

8. BORROWINGS FROM THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA (continued)

2.5%    535 September 30, 2019 2,578 3,565 

2.5%    482 September 30, 2019 2,320 3,208 

2.625%    272 March 31, 2020 1,559 2,052 

1.875%    631 September 30, 2020 4,258 5,425 

1.8125%    265 March 31, 2021 2,036 2,522 

2.125%    530 March 31, 2021 4,042 5,000 

2%    267 September 30, 2021 2,283 2,763 

2.3125%    269 September 30, 2021 2,288 2,766 

1.875%    789 September 30, 2021 6,781  - 

2.25%    478 March 31, 2022 4,500  - 

2.8%    526 September 30, 2022 5,333 6,218 

2.4375%    338 March 31, 2023 3,750  - 

4.875%    237 September 30, 2023 2,613 2,947 

3.4%    102 September 30, 2023 1,182 1,343 

2.625%    488 September 30, 2023 5,796 6,604 

5%    334 March 31, 2024 3,910 4,366 

4.875%    192 March 31, 2024 2,254 2,519 

2.625%    349 March 31, 2024 4,431 5,000 

4.5%    162 September 30, 2024 2,039 2,263 

2.3%    516 September 30, 2024 7,070  - 

2.75%    263 March 31, 2025 3,750  - 

4%    201 September 30, 2025 2,872 3,150 

3.9%    158 September 30, 2025 2,263 2,484 

4.55%    162 March 31, 2026 2,375 2,584 

3.3%    213 September 30, 2027 3,748 4,043 

3.25%    127 September 30, 2027 2,247 2,424 

3.375%      86 March 31, 2028 1,561 1,676 

5%      80 March 31, 2030 1,510 1,591 

95,439 86,051 

Amount of debt owing in connection with the transfer of Mechanical Equipment 

Services branch net assets on April 1, 2009 

4.875% 2,018 March 31, 2024 23,692 26,470 

Amount of borrowings owing to the Province of Manitoba at year-end $   119,131 $   112,521 

Unused loan authority of $6,000 was available to VEMA as of March 31, 2016.  An additional $29,000 of loan 

authority availability was approved in The Loan Act, 2016, with $15,000 of the combined availability drawn down on 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

(In Thousands) 

Year Ended March 31, 2017 

8. BORROWINGS FROM THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA (continued)

September 30, 2016, and a further $12,000 of the availability drawn down on March 31, 2017.  Unused loan authority 

available as of March 31, 2017, was $8,000. 

All borrowings from the Province of Manitoba are payable in instalments of principal and interest on March 31 and 

September 30 each year.  Interest cost is measured using the effective interest method. 

As of March 31, 2017, principal repayments in each of the next five years on the combined outstanding balances 

owing to the Province of Manitoba are as follows: 

2018 $ 21,567 
2019 19,986 
2020 18,578 
2021 16,946 
2022 13,932 

9. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

2017 

Cost 

Opening 

balance Additions Disposals 

Closing 
balance 

Vehicles and equipment $  270,507 $    32,967 $  (25,495) $ 277,979 
Office and shop equipment  1,724 59      - 1,783 
Computer hardware and software 399 4 (9) 394 
Leasehold improvements 919 88      - 1,007 

273,549 33,118 (25,504) 281,163 

Accumulated amortization 

Vehicles and equipment 133,328 27,478 (22,198) 138,608 
Office and shop equipment  1,292 85      - 1,377 
Computer hardware and software 398 1 (9) 390 
Leasehold improvements 758 26      - 784 

135,776 27,590 (22,207) 141,159 

Net book value $  137,773 $    5,528 $    (3,297) $ 140,004 
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9. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS (continued)

2016 

Cost 

Opening 

balance Additions Disposals 

Closing 

balance 

Vehicles and equipment $  243,928 $    43,563 $  (16,984) $  270,507 

Office and shop equipment  1,626 98       - 1,724 

Computer hardware and software 399  -       - 399 

Leasehold improvements 894 25       - 919 

246,847 43,686 (16,984) 273,549 

Accumulated amortization 

Vehicles and equipment 121,074 26,320 (14,066) 133,328 

Office and shop equipment  1,208 84       - 1,292 

Computer hardware and software 395 3       - 398 

Leasehold improvements 728 30       - 758 

123,405 26,437 (14,066) 135,776 

Net book value $  123,442 $    17,249 $    (2,918) $  137,773 

10. DESIGNATED ASSETS

The Agency has allocated $1,433 (2016 - $1,433) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for its severance 

pay liability. 

11. COMMITMENTS

(a) VEMA has arrangements with the Government of Manitoba for the rental of facilities in Beausejour, 
Brandon, Dauphin, The Pas, Thompson and Winnipeg, Manitoba.  Occupancy charges for each fiscal year 
including 2017/18 are established annually based on the approved budget for the Accommodation Services 
division of Central Services, Finance.  Occupancy charges for 2017/18 are estimated at $2,500 for the year, 
to be paid in quarterly instalments during 2017/18. 

(b) VEMA’s approved 2017/18 Business Plan calls for $2,500 to be paid to the Consolidated Fund of the 
Province of Manitoba for the year in quarterly instalments of $625. 
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Year Ended March 31, 2017 

12. PENSION BENEFITS

Employees of VEMA are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the Civil Service 

Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board.  The CSSA established a 

defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of 

the provincial government, including the Agency, through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund. 

The pension liability related to the CSSA’s defined benefit plan is included in the Province of Manitoba’s financial 

statements.  Accordingly, no provision is required in the Agency’s financial statements relating to the effects of 

participation in the plan by the Agency and its employees. 

The Agency is regularly required to pay to the Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions paid by 

its employees.  The amount paid for 2017 was $787 (2016 - $730). 
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Schedule of Other Revenue and Expenses 

(In Thousands) 

Year Ended March 31, 2017 

2017 
2016 

Actual Projected Actual 
OTHER REVENUE 

Autopac service $   750 $    779 $   640 
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets, net 750 768 966 
Garage regular service 5,000 4,968 5,353 
Insurance premium rebates 1,500 1,670 1,575 
Interest income 15 9 9 
Other service revenue 150 156 106 
Radio Services 1,500 1,012 1,093 

$    9,665 $   9,362 $    9,742 

VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT OPERATING EXPENSES 
Amortization of tangible capital assets $   24,900 $   27,478 $   26,320 
Fuel 19,000 18,848 18,222 
Insurance premiums 5,000 5,625 5,279 
Licenses 160 149 151 
Repairs and maintenance 16,574 17,357 16,664 

$   65,634 $   69,457 $   66,636 

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
Amortization of tangible capital assets $   100 $    112 $   117 
Fleet management information system 450 431 466 
Human resource overhead 2,400 2,384 2,306 
Occupancy costs 2,600 2,488 2,498 
Other costs 350 386 412 
Professional fees 20 28 20 
SOAFA charges 6 7 6 
Supplies and materials 300 236 453 
Telephone and communication 200 272 226 

$    6,426 $   6,344 $    6,504 
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  March 31,    March 31,  
2017 2016

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 449,459$       579,831$       

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals           31,129           144,211         

Accumulated Surplus 418,330$       435,620$       

2017 2016

Revenue
Annual levies -                     13,326           

Total revenue -                     13,326           

Expense
Supplies and services 17,290           17,799           

Other operating -                     63,623           

Total expense 17,290           81,422           

Net loss (17,290)          (68,096)          

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 435,620         503,716         

Accumulated surplus, end of year 418,330$       435,620$       

Non-consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus
For the Year Ended March 31, 2017

(Unaudited)

Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Non-consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at March 31, 2017
(Unaudited)

Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The University is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and has prepared them in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of Chartered 
Professional Accountants Canada, including the standards for government not for profit organizations. The University 
believes the financial statements present fairly the University’s financial position as at March 31, 2017 and the results of 
its operations for the years ending March 31, 2017.

The University’s Board of Governors is responsible for overseeing the business affairs of the University and also has the 
responsibility to approve the financial statements. The Board has delegated certain responsibilities to its Audit and Risk 
Management Committee including the responsibility for reviewing the annual financial statements and meeting with 
management and the Auditor General of Manitoba on matters relating to the financial reporting. The Auditor General  
has full access to the Audit and Risk Management Committee with or without the presence of management. The Board 
has approved the financial statements.

In fulfilling its responsibilities and recognizing the limits inherent in all systems, the University has developed and 
maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that University assets are safeguarded 
from loss and that accounting records are a reliable basis for the preparation of financial statements. The integrity of 
internal controls is reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Audit and Risk Management Committee and Audit Services.

The financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2017 have been reported on by the Auditor General of Manitoba, 
the auditor appointed under The University of Manitoba Act. The Auditor’s Report outlines the scope of his examination 
and provides his opinion on the fairness of presentation of the financial statements.

Original signed by

David T. Barnard, Ph.D. 
President and Vice-Chancellor

Winnipeg, Manitoba 
June 27, 2017



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Lieutenant Governor-in-Council
To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba
To the Board of Governors of the University of Manitoba

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the University of Manitoba, which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2017, and the statements of operations and changes in 
fund balances, remeasurement gains and losses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
University of Manitoba as at March 31, 2017, and the results of its operations, its remeasurement gains 
and losses, and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards. 

June 27, 2017 Norm Ricard, CPA, CA
Winnipeg, Manitoba Auditor General

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Lieutenant Governor-in-Council
To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba
To the Board of Governors of the University of Manitoba

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the University of Manitoba, which comprise
the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2016, and the statements of operations and changes in 
fund balances, remeasurement gains and losses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion. 

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
University of Manitoba as at March 31, 2016, and the results of its operations, its remeasurement gains 
and losses, and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards. 

       Original document signed by 
Norm Ricard         

June 22, 2016 Norm Ricard, CPA, CA 
Winnipeg, Manitoba Auditor General 



UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA  
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT MARCH 31, 2017  
(in thousands of dollars)

		 2017		  2016

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 3)	 $	 319,579	 $	 273,624
Accounts Receivable (Note 4)		  68,599		  76,379
Inventories		  3,164		  3,706
Prepaid Expenses		 1,789		 796

		 393,131		  354,505

Long Term Assets
Loan Receivable (Note 5)		  198,971		  191,364
Investments (Note 6)		  834,911		  697,254
Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Amortization (Note 8)		  1,109,930		  1,084,705

		 2,143,812		  1,973,323

$	2,536,943	 $	2,327,828

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable	 $	 53,819	 $	 60,711
Unearned Revenue		 18,030		 11,259
Vacation and Sick Leave Liability		 15,597		 14,638
Current Portion of Long Term Debt (Note 9)		  6,337		  6,015

		 93,783		  92,623

Long Term Liabilities
Long Term Debt (Note 9)		  385,738		  384,467
Other Long Term Liabilities (Note 10)		  8,931		  6,179
Employee Future Benefits (Note 11)		  81,053		  76,526
Pension Liability (Note 14)		  24,343		  20,572

		 500,065		  487,744

Fund Balances
Unrestricted (Note 20)		  (67,546)		  (63,118)
Internally Restricted (Note 23)		  207,899		  166,001
Externally Restricted (Note 24)		  289,821		  247,267
Invested in Capital Assets (Note 24)		  1,044,625		 998,579
Endowed (Note 24)		  468,296		  398,732

	 1,943,095		  1,747,461

$	2,536,943	 $	2,327,828

Contractual Obligations and Contingencies (Note 18) 

Jeff Lieberman – Chair	 Rafi Mohammed – Vice-Chair

(The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements) 
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UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA  
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017   
(in thousands of dollars)

General	 Restricted	  Endowment	 2017	 2016 
Funds Funds Fund Total Total 

(Note 2D)	 (Note 2E)	 (Note 2F)	 Funds	 Funds

Revenue
Tuition and Related Fees	 $	 163,571	 $		 $		 $	 163,571	 $	 159,987
Donations		 3,849		 9,824 20,833 34,506		  27,366
Non-Government Grants		 4,845		 79,139 83,984		  83,657
Net Investment Income (Note 15)		 4,765		 52,174 56,939		  58,037
Miscellaneous Income		 8,809		 7,700 16,509		  17,392
Government Grants:
   Manitoba Education and Training		 356,762		 7,015				 363,777		 354,120
   Other Province of Manitoba		 24,601		 34,861				 59,462		 73,788
   Government of Canada		 10,836		 73,635				 84,471		 81,821
   City of Winnipeg		 51						 51		 51
Sales of Goods and Services		 34,595		 506				 35,101		 33,244
Ancillary Services		  37,983						 37,983		  38,246

		 650,667		  264,854		  20,833		  936,354		  927,709

Expense
Salaries		  350,262		 39,366 				  389,628		  397,098
Staff Benefits and Pay Levy		 78,461		 7,323				 85,784		 66,854
Materials, Supplies and Services		 48,728		 52,326				 101,054		 109,093
Amortization of Capital Assets				 54,645				 54,645		 54,931
Student Assistance		  15,437		 42,074 57,511		  55,619
Professional Consulting and Externally
   Contracted Services		 19,220		 25,884				 45,104		 42,325
Travel and Conferences		 11,209		 11,815				 23,024		 22,449
Utilities, Municipal Taxes and Insurance		 19,174		 33				 19,207		 19,466
Interest				 19,074 19,074		  19,062
Maintenance and Repairs		 5,880		 372				 6,252		 8,095
Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets				 1,000				 1,000

		 548,371		  253,912 				  802,283		  794,992

Net Revenue from Operating Activities		  102,296		 10,942 20,833		  134,071		  132,717
Inter-Fund Transfers (Note 22)		  (70,765)		  64,870		 5,895

Net Increase to Fund Balances from 
   Operating Activities		 31,531		 75,812		 26,728		 134,071		 132,717
Fund Balances from Operating Activities
   Beginning of Year		 34,689		 1,328,600		 298,011		 1,661,300		 1,528,583

Fund Balances from Operating Activities
   End of Year		 66,220		 1,404,412		 324,739		 1,795,371		 1,661,300
Accumulated Remeasurement Gains End of Year		 3		 4,164		 143,557		 147,724		 86,161

Fund Balances End of Year	 $	 66,223	 $	 1,408,576	 $	 468,296	 $	1,943,095	 $	1,747,461

(The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements) 
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UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA  
STATEMENT OF REMEASUREMENT GAINS AND LOSSES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017   
(in thousands of dollars)

2017 2016 
General	 Restricted	  Endowment	 Total	 Total 

Funds	 Funds	 Fund	 Funds	 Funds

Accumulated Remeasurement Gains (Losses)
   Beginning of Year	 $	 (139)	 $	 (14,421)	 $	 100,721	 $	 86,161	 $	 132,992
Unrealized Gains (Losses) Attributed to:
   Derivatives				 1,239				 1,239		 108
   Foreign Exchange		 4		 68				 72		  (341)
   Portfolio Investments				 20,017	 32,104		 52,121		 (23,972)
   Designated Fair Value Investments				 25,639		  10,732		 36,371		  9,283
Amounts Reclassified to the Statement of
Operations and Changes in Fund Balances:
   Foreign Exchange		 138		 204				 342		 (2,128)
   Portfolio Investments				 (25,173)				 (25,173)		 (21,055)
   Designated Fair Value Investments				 (3,409)				 (3,409)		 (8,726)

Net Remeasurement Gains (Losses) for the Year		 142		 18,585		 42,836		 61,563		 (46,831)

Accumulated Remeasurement Gains 
   End of Year	 $	 3	 $	 4,164	 $	 143,557	 $	 147,724 	 $	 86,161

(The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements) 
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UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA  
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017 
(in thousands of dollars)

2017 2016 
General	 Restricted	  Endowment	 Total	 Total 

Funds	 Funds	 Fund	 Funds	 Funds

Operating Activities
Net Revenue from Operating Activities	 $	 102,296	 $	 10,942	 $	 20,833	 $	 134,071	 $	 132,717
Amortization of Capital Assets				 54,645				 54,645		 54,931

		 102,296 65,587		  20,833		  188,716		  187,648
Net Change in Non-Cash Working Capital Items		 (9,756)		 17,923				 8,167		 (16,195)
Net Change in Other Long Term Liabilities		 3,990		 (1,238)				 2,752		 (454)
Net Change in Pension Obligation		 3,771						 3,771		 (10,515)
Net Change in Employee Future Benefits		 (56)		 4,583				 4,527		 7
Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets				 1,000				 1,000

Net Cash generated through Operating Activities		  100,245 87,855		  20,833		  208,933		  160,491

Investing Activities
Principal Repayment on Loan Receivable				 1,338				 1,338		 3,977
Net Decrease (Increase) in Long Term Investments		  (37,858)		 (11,508)		 (26,728)		 (76,094)		 (1,770)

Net Cash generated through (used in)
   Investing Activities		  (37,858)		  (10,170)		  (26,728)		  (74,756)		 2,207

Capital Activities
Purchase of Capital Assets				 (80,870)				 (80,870)		 (76,779)

Net Cash used in Capital Activities				 (80,870)				   (80,870)		  (76,779)

Financing Activities
Principal Repayment on Capital Lease Obligations										 (6)
Principal Repayment on Long Term Debt				 (7,352)				 (7,352)		 (9,690)

Net Cash generated through (used in) Financing  
   Activities				 (7,352)				 (7,352)		  (9,696)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash		  62,387		 (10,537)		 (5,895)		 45,955		 76,223
Inter-Fund Transfers		 (70,765)		 64,870		 5,895
Cash and Cash Equivalents Beginning of Year		  81,061		  192,563				   273,624		  197,401

Cash and Cash Equivalents End of Year	 $	 72,683	 $	 246,896	 $		  $	 319,579	 $	 273,624

Supplementary cash flow information:
   Interest Received (Note 17)	 $	 4,765	 $	 2,893	 $		  $	 7,658	 $	 7,712
   Interest Paid (Note 17)	 $		  $	 10,130	 $		  $	 10,130	 $	 10,443

(The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017	
(in thousands of dollars)

1. AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE
The University of Manitoba was established in 1877. It is governed by a Board of Governors acting under the authority of 
The University of Manitoba Act, R.S.M. 1987, c. U60. The University of Manitoba is a registered charity and is exempt from 
income taxes under Section 149 of The Income Tax Act. 

The University of Manitoba, as the largest and most comprehensive institution of higher learning in Manitoba, plays a 
distinctive role within the Province. In addition to offering an undergraduate liberal education in arts, science and education, 
the University of Manitoba provides programs in a broad range of professional studies, applied sciences and the fine and 
performing arts and is responsible for the vast majority of graduate education and research in Manitoba. The University 
of Manitoba reaches out to a variety of constituencies in order to enhance the health, cultural, social and economic life of 
Manitobans and to provide lifelong learning opportunities for them. Through community service, the University makes its 
expertise available to all Manitobans. 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A. GENERAL 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards established 
by the Public Sector Accounting Board of Chartered Professional Accountants Canada, including the standards for 
government not-for-profit organizations. The University has adopted the restricted fund method of accounting for 
contributions. 

The University controls UM Properties GP Inc. (Note 16), UM Properties Holding Inc. (Note 16) and Partners for Health 
and Development in Africa (PHDA) (Note 17), but does not consolidate the accounts for the purposes of these financial 
statements. 

The University has an 8.33% (2016, 8.33%) interest in TRIUMF (Note 16), a joint venture which operates a national 
laboratory for particle and nuclear physics. The University uses the modified equity method of accounting to record its 
interest in TRIUMF. 

B. FUND ACCOUNTING 

The University classifies resources used for various purposes into separate Funds which correspond to its major activities 
and objectives. The Statement of Financial Position combines the assets and liabilities of all Funds. 

The University maintains its Funds under three fund categories: General, Restricted and Endowment Funds. The General 
Funds include the Funds for General Operating, Specific Provisions and Expenses Funded from Future Revenues Funds. 
The Restricted Funds include the Capital Asset, Research and Special, Staff Benefits and Trust Funds. The Endowment Fund 
includes endowed funds of the University. 

C. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

Accounting estimates are included in financial statements to approximate the effect of past revenue or expense transactions 
or events, or to approximate the present status of an asset or liability. Examples include accruals for salaries and benefits, the 
estimated useful life of an asset and certain actuarial assumptions used in determining employee future benefits. It is possible 
that changes in future conditions could require changes in the recognized amounts for accounting estimates. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



D. GENERAL FUNDS 

General Operating Fund: 

The General Operating Fund includes the academic, administrative, operational and ancillary costs that are funded by 
tuition and related fees, government grants, investment income, miscellaneous income, sales of goods and services to 
external parties and ancillary income. As such, this Fund reports unrestricted resources and restricted resources earmarked 
for general operating purposes. 

All funds received or accrued by the University for general operating purposes and for equipment and renovation expenses 
not meeting the University’s capitalization criteria are included in the General Operating Fund. The net cost of operating 
units is determined by including internal cost allocations for certain centrally administered services, such as the telephone 
system in the units’ expenses, and by deducting these expenses as internal cost recoveries from the total expenses incurred by 
the unit administering these services. 

The University BookStore, Parking, Student Residences, Pharmacy/Post Office, and Smartpark are classified as Ancillary 
Services and are budgeted on a break even basis. Any surpluses or deficits are transferred to/from the Specific Provisions 
Fund. Overhead costs have been allocated to all ancillary operations. Amortization of ancillary capital assets and interest 
expense is recorded in the Capital Asset Fund. 

Specific Provisions Fund: 

The Specific Provisions Fund records appropriations made from (to) the General Operating, Capital Asset and Research 
and Special Funds. 

These appropriations are made to provide future funding for the replacement, improvement or emergency maintenance 
of capital assets, unit carryover, a fiscal stabilization provision to offset potential spending in excess of future budgets and 
other matters. Such appropriations are shown as inter-fund transfers on the Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund 
Balances and in Note 22. 

Expenses Funded From Future Revenues Fund: 

The Expenses Funded from Future Revenues Fund records the amount of non-vesting sick leave benefits and unpaid 
vacation pay for staff which will be funded from future revenues. It also records the actuarially determined expense for 
employee future benefits and change in pension liability. 

E. RESTRICTED FUNDS 

Capital Asset Fund: 

The Capital Asset Fund consists of restricted contributions resulting from capital asset co-funding arrangements with 
external parties, contributed capital assets and government grants restricted for the purpose of acquiring capital assets 
and retiring capital advances. Funding agreements, using promissory notes as a vehicle, entered into with the Provincial 
Government for the construction or acquisition of capital assets, which will be repaid from future funding provided by the 
Provincial Government through Manitoba Education and Training (MET), are recorded as capital grants. These capital 
grants, under the restricted fund method of accounting, are reflected as revenue in the Statement of Operations and Changes 
in Fund Balances. The interest expense and the related future funding from MET over the terms of the promissory notes, 
to offset the interest expense and principal payments, are both excluded from the Statement of Operations and Changes in 
Fund Balances. Expenses include interest on debt relating to the acquisition or construction of capital assets, amortization 
and gains or losses on disposal of capital assets, which includes write-downs resulting from obsolescence. 

Research and Special Fund: 

The Research and Special Fund consists of contributions specifically restricted for research or other special activities. 
Contributions are provided from both Federal and Provincial granting agencies and other public and private sources.  
These funds are spent in accordance with the conditions stipulated in the related governing contracts and agreements. 
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Staff Benefits Fund: 

The Staff Benefits Fund is divided into Fund Accounts for the Pension Reserve, and for each of the Self-Insured Plans, which 
are the Long Term Disability Income Plan and the Dental Plan. 

Trust Fund: 

The Trust Fund records gifts and bequests received which may be used in their entirety along with net investment income 
earned on these funds, according to donor restrictions. The majority of these funds are used for scholarships, bursaries, 
awards, loans, and other scholarly activities. 

F. ENDOWMENT FUND 

The Endowment Fund records gifts and bequests received with the stipulation that these funds be invested in perpetuity  
and investment income earned be utilized for designated purposes. The Fund balance also reflects the change in fair value 
of Endowment Fund investments, which is recorded in the Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses. 

G. REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Restricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the appropriate Fund when received or receivable, if the amount 
to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

Unrestricted contributions, including sales of goods and services and ancillary revenues, are recognized as revenue of the 
General Operating Fund in the year received or receivable, if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and 
collection is reasonably assured. 

Contributions for endowment purposes are recognized as revenue in the Endowment Fund in the year received. Investment 
income earned on endowments is recorded in the appropriate Trust Fund depending on the restrictions imposed by the 
original donor. 

Investment income, including realized gains or losses, is recorded in the Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund 
Balances in the appropriate Fund depending on the restrictions imposed. Unrestricted investment income is recorded as 
unrestricted income in the General Operating Fund. 

The change in fair value (unrealized gains or losses) of investments is recorded in the Statement of Remeasurement Gains 
and Losses until the investments are sold. 

H. CONTRIBUTED MATERIALS AND SERVICES 

Gifts-in-kind are recorded in the financial statements to the extent that they are eligible for an official donation receipt, since 
this results in the capture of the information in the University’s financial records. 

Because of the difficulty involved in tracking and recording contributed services, the market value of these services is not 
recognized in the financial statements. Contributed services include activities such as membership on the University’s Board 
of Governors and its various committees, lecturing services and volunteer services at fundraising or sporting events, all 
of which are performed by staff, students and the community at no charge to the University. These services, although not 
recognized in the financial statements, are critical to the successful functioning of the University. 

I. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments that are used to meet short term operating needs. They are 
readily convertible to cash and mature within one year from acquisition. Any cash or other investments maturing within one 
year that are held by portfolio managers are classified as long term investments and are recorded at fair value or designated 
to fair value. Portfolio managers maintain a cash balance within investment portfolios as part of their overall long term 
mandate, as well as to facilitate trades and the rebalancing of funds. 
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J. PLEDGES RECEIVABLE 

The University does not record pledges receivable in its financial statements. Revenue from gifts, bequests and donations is 
recognized on a cash basis because of the uncertainty surrounding collection and in some instances because of the difficulty 
in determining the valuation of pledges receivable. The University recognizes gifts and donations to be received through 
the University of Manitoba Foundation U.S.A. Inc. only when the Board of Directors of the Foundation have formalized 
the transfer with a resolution, collectability is reasonably assured, and the valuation of these gifts and donations can be 
reasonably determined. 

K. INVENTORIES 

Inventories have been valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

L. CAPITAL ASSETS 

Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost. Capital assets which are constructed by the University are recorded as 
Construction in Progress until the capital asset is put into use. Contributed capital assets are recorded at market value at the 
date of contribution. Intangibles such as patents and copyrights are recorded at a nominal amount of one dollar in the year 
the patent or copyright is obtained. 

Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over an assets’ estimated useful life as follows: 

Buildings and Major Renovations	 15-50 years
Computer Hardware and Electronics	 5-10 years
Furniture and Equipment	 10 years
Library Books	 10 years
Parking Lots	 20 years
Vehicles	 5 years

Equipment acquired under a capital lease is amortized over the useful life of the asset. Works of art, treasures, rare books and 
manuscripts are not amortized. 

M. COLLECTIONS 

The University holds a number of collections which include works of art, rare books and manuscripts, museum specimens 
and other archival material. The associated library, faculty or school assumes responsibility for safeguarding and preserving 
the collection. The University seldom, if ever, disposes of its collections or of individual pieces in its collections. The 
University policy is to use proceeds generated from deaccessioned works of art to augment the University art collection. 

The University’s policy with regard to its collections is to initially record them at fair value and to fund maintenance expenses 
from the General Operating Fund. The cost of maintenance is not tracked and is therefore not determinable. 

N. PENSION COSTS 

The University sponsors three pension plans for its employees and retirees: The University of Manitoba Pension Plan (1970), 
The University of Manitoba Pension Plan (1993) and The University of Manitoba GFT Pension Plan (1986). The 1970  
Plan and 1986 Plan are defined contribution plans and as a result the pension costs are based on contributions required by 
those plans. 

The Pension Costs for the 1993 Plan are determined actuarially using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method, pro-
rated on service and management’s best estimate expectations of the discount rate for liabilities, the expected return on 
assets, salary escalation, retirement ages of employees and member mortality. Actuarial gains and losses are amortized over 
the expected average remaining service life of the active employees, commencing in the year following the year the respective 
annual actuarial gains or losses arise. 

The funded position of the 1993 plan is disclosed in Note 14. 
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O. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The financial instruments of the University consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, loan receivable, 
investments, accounts payable, vacation and sick leave liability, loans, other long term liabilities, and long term debt. 

All financial instruments are recognized at cost or amortized cost, or fair value. 

Cash and cash equivalents are recognized at cost. Accounts receivable, loan receivable, fixed income investments and 
preferred shares held in the General Funds, accounts payable, loans, vacation and sick leave liability, other long term 
liabilities (excluding derivative financial instruments), and long term debt are recognized at amortized cost. 

For financial instruments measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method is used to determine interest 
revenue or expense. Transaction costs are a component of cost for financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost.

Financial instruments recognized at fair value include Canadian equities, US equities and derivatives. Bonds and other fixed 
income securities and pooled funds have been designated to fair value other than corporate bonds and preferred shares 
which are recognized at cost, and the investment in TRIUMF which is recognized at modified equity. Pooled funds are 
valued by the fund managers.

Unrealized gains and losses from the change in fair value of these financial instruments are reflected in the Statement of 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until disposition. 

Transaction costs are expensed for financial instruments measured at fair value.

All financial assets are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets are impaired, impairment losses are recorded in 
the Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances. A write-down of a portfolio investment to reflect a loss in value 
is not reversed for a subsequent increase in value. 

Financial instruments are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of inputs to valuation techniques 
used to measure fair value. The fair value hierarchy used has the following levels: 

Level 1 – Inputs that reflect unadjusted publicly quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
University has the ability to access at the measurement date. 

Level 2 – Inputs other than publicly quoted prices that are either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability.

Level 3 – Inputs that are unobservable. There is little if any market activity. Inputs into the determination of fair value require 
significant management judgment or estimation. 

P. OTHER EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS 

The University accrues its obligations for other employee future benefit plans relating to health, dental, sick leave, long term 
disability, and group life insurance. The cost of non-vesting sick leave benefits has been determined using management’s best 
estimates. The cost of the long term disability plan for employees and the cost of non-pension and post-retirement benefits 
for retired employees are actuarially determined using the projected benefit method pro-rated on service, management’s best 
estimates for the discount rate for liabilities, the expected rate of return on assets, retirement ages and expected future cost 
trends. For current active employees, the cost of other employee future benefit plans relating to health, dental, and group life 
insurance is the premiums charged under the plans to the University. 

The University also accrues its obligations relating to post-retirement adjustments to pensions for specifically entitled 
employees who retired prior to 1993. The cost of such post-retirement pension adjustments is actuarially determined using 
the accrued benefit method and management’s best estimate for the discount rate for liabilities and the expected rate of 
return on assets. Any increase in such adjustments is recognized in the year that it occurs. 

Actuarial gains and losses on post-retirement adjustments are amortized on a straight-line basis over the life expectancy of 
the group, commencing in the year following the year the respective annual actuarial gains or losses arise. 

Actuarial gains and losses of other benefit plans are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected average remaining 
service life of the active employees, commencing in the year following the year the respective annual actuarial gains or  
losses arise. 
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Q. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION 

Monetary assets, liabilities and investments at fair value, denominated in foreign currencies, are translated at the year-end 
exchange rate. The unrealized foreign currency translation gains or losses of these financial instruments are reflected in the 
Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses. Revenues and expenses are translated at exchange rates on the transaction 
dates. Realized gains or losses arising from these translations are included in the Statement of Operations and Changes in 
Fund Balances. 

R. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

From time to time, the University uses derivative financial instruments, including interest rate swap agreements, in its 
management of exposures to fluctuations in interest rates. An interest rate swap is a derivative financial contract between 
two parties who agree to exchange fixed rate interest payments for floating rate payments on a predetermined notional 
amount and term. Derivatives are recorded at fair value and in determining the fair value, the credit risk of both 
counterparties is considered.

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
	 2017		  2016

Cash	 $	 72,789	 $	 48,777
Guaranteed Investment Certificates		 246,790		 224,847

$	 319,579	 $	 273,624

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
2017		  2016

Business, Industry and Foundations	 $	 31,522	 $	 30,739
Provincial Government		 13,784		 25,315
Federal Government		 8,845		 9,539
Students		  4,705		  3,211
Investment Income and Interest		 4,525		 4,541
External Sales and Cost Recoveries		 3,606		 983
Advances		  1,560		  1,997
Miscellaneous		  52		 54

$	 68,599	 $	 76,379

5. LOAN RECEIVABLE
The University has a loan agreement with Triple B Stadium Inc. (Triple B) related to the construction of Investors Group 
Field at the Fort Garry campus. The loan agreement is divided into a first phase and a second phase for a combined amount 
not to exceed $160 million. The first phase is not to exceed $75 million and the second phase is not to exceed $85 million. 
The interest rate on the first phase of the loan is 4.65%, and the first phase of the loan receivable is due and payable in full  
on June 1, 2038. The interest rate on the second phase is 4.65% until June 1, 2053, and is due and payable in full on 
November 24, 2058. 

Any amounts received by Triple B in the form of insurance proceeds entitled to be retained by Triple B by reason of the 
destruction of all or part of the stadium, where such insurance proceeds are not being applied to restore, reconstruct and 
repair the stadium in accordance with the ground lease, shall be paid to the University and be applied to the repayment of the 
loan, firstly to the accrued interest and secondly to principal outstanding, for both phases of the loan, on a pro-rata basis. 

Payment terms of the first phase and second phase of the loan receivable are as follows: 
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FIRST PHASE: 

Triple B is required to make payments to the University equivalent to the aggregate of: 

•	 Any amounts received by Triple B in respect of the stadium development from the City of Winnipeg pursuant to
The Community Revitalization Tax Increment Financing Act; and

•	 Any amounts received by Triple B from any party which were designated by the party for application to the loan.

Payments are applied firstly to accrued interest and secondly to the principal outstanding. Unpaid interest is added to 
the principal of the first phase of the loan and compounded annually. 

SECOND PHASE: 

Interest will be calculated annually, and unpaid interest until December 15, 2017 shall be added to the first phase of the loan. 
Any unpaid interest after December 15, 2017 shall be added to the second phase of the loan and compounded annually. 
Payments in respect of principal shall be made in amounts determined by Triple B, on or before December 15, 2017.

Annual payments of principal and interest over the remainder of the second phase loan term are to be paid on or before 
December 15 of each calendar year commencing on December 15, 2018 based on the amortization of the loan following the 
December 15, 2017 payment. 

INVESTORS GROUP FIELD LOAN: 

	 2017		  2016

First Phase interest and principal outstanding	 $	 116,971	 $	 108,364
Second Phase principal outstanding		 82,000		 83,000

$	 198,971	 $	 191,364

The First and Second Phase loans have an equal long term debt loan payable to the Province of Manitoba (Note 9).

6. INVESTMENTS
2017 2016

Level 1		  Level 2		  Level 3		 Total		 Level 1		  Level 2		  Level 3		 Total

Investments Held at Fair Value:
Cash and Money Market Funds	 $	 5,937	 $		 $		 $	 5,937	 $	 7,987	 $		 $		 $	 7,987
Canadian Equities		  196,118						    196,118		  186,564						  186,564
US Equities		  202,568						    202,568		  160,494						  160,494

		 404,623						    404,623		  355,045						  355,045

Investments Designated to  
   Fair Value:
Cash and Money Market Funds				 2,677				 2,677				 4,175				 4,175
Bonds and Other Fixed  
   Income Securities				 57,502				 57,502				 57,046				 57,046
Pooled Bond Fund				   12,727				   12,727				  11,464				   11,464
Pooled Canadian Equities				   18,703				 18,703				  15,808				   15,808
Pooled US Equities				 6,434				 6,434				 5,684				  5,684
Pooled International Equities				   117,034				   117,034				  92,590				   92,590
Pooled Real Estate Fund				 113,248				 113,248				 92,562				 92,562
Pooled Mortgage Fund				 7,548				 7,548				 6,764				  6,764

				  335,873				   335,873				  286,093				   286,093

Continued on page 38…
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Investments Held at Amortized  
   Cost:
Corporate Bond								   55,505								  18,505
Preferred Shares								   36,936								  35,936

								  92,441								  54,441

Investments Held at Modified  
   Equity:
TRIUMF								 1,974								 1,675

$	404,623	 $	335,873	 $		 $	834,911	 $	355,045	 $	286,093	 $		 $	697,254

The University’s investment in real estate consists of units of a pooled real estate investment in the Great-West Life Assurance 
Company Canadian Real Estate Investment Fund No. 1. 

The fair value of investments held at amortized cost is $91,585 (2016, $47,731). As at March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 
there were no transfers of investments between levels 1, 2 or 3.

7. RISK EXPOSURE AND MANAGEMENT
The University uses a disciplined, fundamental approach in its investment selection and management, which consists of an 
intensive and ongoing research process of investment opportunities across a broad range of investment vehicles of various 
types of issuers (government, corporate or financial). As a result, the University is exposed to various types of risks that are 
associated with its investment strategies, financial instruments and markets in which it invests. The University, through the 
work of its investment committees and Treasury Office, has an investment policy statement in place governing asset mix, 
permitted investments, diversification, and minimum credit quality. The most important risks relate to market risk: other 
price risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. These risks and the related risk management 
practices employed by the University are detailed below. 

OTHER PRICE RISK 

Other price risk represents the potential loss that can be caused by a change in the fair value of a financial instrument. 
The University’s investments are subject to normal market fluctuations and the risks inherent in investment in the capital 
markets. Investments held to meet short term obligations focus on credit quality and liquidity to minimize the effect of other 
price risk on fair value. The majority of investments which are held for the long-term to support the Endowment Fund are 
primarily equities, bonds, segregated funds and pooled funds, and are subject to other price risk given their nature and the 
long term holding periods. Other price risk is managed through diversification provided by the Endowment Fund’s asset 
allocation strategy, which emphasizes the importance of managing other price risk by maintaining appropriate levels of risk 
required to achieve consistent long term returns that meet the investment objectives of the Endowment Fund. 

INTEREST RATE RISK 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or fair values of financial 
instruments. The University is subjected to this risk when it invests in interest-bearing financial instruments, or when it 
borrows funds using derivative financial instruments. Both investments and financial derivatives are exposed to the risk that 
their fair value will fluctuate due to changes in the prevailing levels of market interest rates. 

The tables below summarize the University’s exposure to interest rate risk related to financial instruments categorized by 
maturity dates. 

INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE AS AT MARCH 31, 2017

Less than	 90 days	 1 year to	 5 years to	 Greater than 
90 days	 to 1 year	 5 years	 10 years	 10 years	 Total

Cash Equivalents and Investments	 32.7%	 34.2%	 7.4%	 24.0%	 1.7%	 100%
Financial Derivatives			 30.7%	 69.3%		 100%
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INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE AS AT MARCH 31, 2016

Less than	 90 days	 1 year to	 5 years to	 Greater than 
90 days	 to 1 year	 5 years	 10 years	 10 years	 Total

Cash Equivalents and Investments	 30.3%	 41.2%	 10.4%	 15.7%	 2.4%	 100%
Financial Derivatives			 30.4%	 69.6%		 100%

March 31, 2017	 March 31, 2016
Interest	 Non-interest	 Interest	 Non-interest 
bearing	 bearing	 bearing	 bearing 

instruments	 instruments	 instruments	 instruments

Cash Equivalents and Investments	 $	 382,650	 $	 699,051	 $	 321,876	 $	 600,225
Financial Derivatives	 $	 4,941	 $		 $	 6,179	 $

As at March 31, 2017, a 0.5% fluctuation in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would have an estimated 
impact as follows:

				 2017 				 2016

Fair Value of Fixed Income Instruments:			 $	 3,439			 $	 2,736
Interest Rate Swaps: 			 $	 1,000			 $	 1,175
Net Investment Income: 			 $	 2,105			 $	 1,779

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK 

The University has cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies and holds 
investments in foreign currency equity markets in both the Trust and Endowment Funds, and the Staff Benefits Fund. The 
income from these investments is used to meet financial liabilities denominated in Canadian dollars. The University does not 
actively manage foreign exchange risk. 

The University’s exposure in cash and investments to foreign currencies is shown below: 

2017 2016
$		  %		 $		 %

Canadian Dollar	 $	 807,998		 70.0	 $	 710,933		 73.2
US Dollar		 235,008		 20.4		 171,799		 17.7
Euro		  34,351		  3.0		 28,075		 2.9
Japanese Yen		 27,834		 2.4		 21,106		 2.2
British Pound Sterling		 21,792		 1.9		 18,190		 1.9
Swiss Franc		 12,498		 1.1		 9,990		 1.0
Other		  15,009		  1.2		 10,785		 1.1

Total	 $	1,154,490		 100.0	 $	 970,878		 100.0

As at March 31, 2017, an appreciation of 10% in the Canadian dollar versus foreign currencies exchange rates would increase 
investments and net remeasurement gains by approximately $34,649 (2016, $25,230), while a depreciation of 10% would 
decrease investments and net remeasurement gains by approximately $34,649 (2016, $25,230).

CREDIT RISK 

Credit risk represents the potential loss that the University would incur if its counterparties failed to perform in accordance 
with the terms of their obligations. The University invests in financial assets that have an investment grade as rated primarily 
by DBRS. Should DBRS not rate an issuer, the University may use Standards & Poor’s, followed by the Moody’s equivalent. 
Ratings for securities which subject the University to credit risk are noted below: 
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% of Total Interest Bearing Investments 
Investment Rating	 March 31, 2017	 March 31, 2016

R-1High	 $	 161,090	 42.1%	 $	 156,838	 48.7%
R-1Mid		  32,793	 8.6%		  29,559	 9.2%
R-1Low		 498	 0.1%		  1,698	 0.5%
AAA		  25,589	 6.7%		  27,022	 8.4%
AA		  74,607	 19.5%		  41,156	 12.8%
A		  26,706	 7.0%		  21,964	 6.8%
BBB		  6,170	 1.6%		  3,322	 1.0%
BB 133
Not Rated		 55,197	 14.4%		 40,184	 12.6%

Total	 $	 382,650	 100.0%	 $	 321,876	 100.0%

The University manages credit risk related to fixed income investments by focusing on high credit quality. Cash and cash 
equivalents are held in Canadian Chartered banks and Manitoba credit unions. Trust, Endowment and Capital Asset Fund 
investments are held in diverse portfolios of investments with counterparties considered to be of high quality. 

The University also has credit risk related to accounts receivable and loan receivable. A significant portion of the University’s 
accounts receivable is related to Restricted Funds and is from the federal and provincial governments, not-for-profit 
organizations, corporations, the US government, and other universities. The University also has accounts receivable from 
students and staff. The credit risk on these receivables is minimal. The remaining accounts receivable are due from a diverse 
group of customers and are subject to normal credit risks. The credit risk related to the loan receivable is offset by a loan 
payable to the Province of Manitoba with matching terms of repayment. 

LIQUIDITY RISK 

The University aims to retain sufficient cash and cash equivalents to maintain liquidity and meet short term obligations. 
Most of the University’s investments are considered readily realizable and liquid, thus liquidity risk is considered minimal. 
Investments that are not as liquid, such as the investment in the pooled real estate fund, are considered to be held for long 
term periods in conjunction with the investment objectives, risk tolerance and time horizon of the Endowment Fund. 

8. CAPITAL ASSETS, NET OF ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION
2017 2016
		 Accumulated		  Accumulated 

Cost	 Amortization	 Cost	 Amortization

Assets Under Capital Lease	 $	 2,557	 $	 2,557	 $	 2,855	 $	 2,855
Buildings and Major Renovations		 1,162,234		 310,252		 1,137,691		 285,825
Computer Hardware, Software and Electronics		 100,178		 93,007		 101,100		 92,689
Construction in Progress		 78,497				 50,585
Furniture and Equipment		 283,054		 214,017		 273,397		 201,465
Land		 29,739				  30,705
Library Books		 221,512		 165,698		 211,932		 157,951
Parking Lots		 9,983		 4,948		 9,935		 4,451
Rare Books and Manuscripts		 7,312				 6,677
Vehicles		 8,870		  7,513		 8,617		 7,420
Works of Art		 3,986				 3,867

		 1,907,922		 797,992		  1,837,361		 752,656
Less Accumulated Amortization		 797,992				 752,656

Net Book Value	 $	1,109,930			 $	1,084,705
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9. LONG TERM DEBT
2017		  2016

Stadium Long Term Debt:
   Province of Manitoba Loan, First Phase, 4.65% due June 1, 2038	 $	 116,971	 $	 108,364
   Province of Manitoba Loan, Second Phase, 4.65% until June 1, 2053,  
      due November 24, 2058		 82,000		 83,000

		 198,971		  191,364

Other Long Term Debt:
   Province of Manitoba:
      Promissory Note, 5.23% blended monthly payments $413 due March 1, 2035		 57,752		 59,636
      Promissory Note, 5.55% blended monthly payments $428 due April 1, 2036		 60,401		 62,134
      Promissory Note, 3.75% blended monthly payments $129 due September 30, 2039		 23,417		 24,068
      Promissory Note, 5.35% blended monthly payments $173 due February 1, 2040		 27,403		 27,997
   Term loans (with floating interest rates based on Bankers’ Acceptance rates plus stamping fees):
      Multi Tenant Facility, due February 28, 2019		 7,442		 7,679
      Multi Tenant Facility, due November 30, 2022		 5,780		 6,056
      Arthur V. Mauro Student Residence, due October 1, 2023		 10,909		 11,548

		 193,104		  199,118

		 392,075		  390,482

Less Current Portion:
   Province of Manitoba		 (5,120)		 (4,863)
   Term Loans		 (1,217)		 (1,152)

		 (6,337)		  (6,015)

$	 385,738	 $	 384,467

The effective interest rate on each of the term loans is the fixed interest rate based on an interest rate swap agreement plus a 
stamping fee (Note 10). 

Interest expense on long term debt was $19,074 (2016, $19,062).

The University entered into a loan agreement with the Province of Manitoba related to the construction of Investors Group 
Field. Any amounts received by the University in the form of insurance proceeds received and entitled to be retained by the 
University by reason of the destruction of all or part of the stadium, where such insurance proceeds are not being applied to 
restore, reconstruct and repair the stadium in accordance with the ground lease are also to be applied to the repayment of the 
loan, firstly to the accrued interest and secondly to the principal outstanding, for both phases of the loan, on a pro-rata basis. 

Additional terms of repayment of the loan are as follows: 

LOAN, FIRST PHASE: 

The amount of the annual payment of principal and interest on the loan is equivalent to the aggregate of: 

•	 Any amounts paid by Triple B Stadium Inc. (Triple B) to the University in respect of the Triple B loan receivable;

•	 Any amounts received by the University in respect of the stadium development from The City of Winnipeg pursuant to
The Community Revitalization Tax Increment Financing Act; and

•	 Any amounts received by the University from any party which were designated by the party for application to the loan.

Payments are applied firstly to accrued interest and secondly to the principal outstanding. Unpaid interest is added to the 
principal of the First Phase of the loan and compounded annually. Any accrued interest and principal outstanding on the 
First Phase of the loan as at June 1, 2038 is due and payable in full, subject to receipt of the accrued interest and principal 
outstanding from Triple B, unless the parties agree otherwise in writing. 
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LOAN, SECOND PHASE: 

Interest will be calculated annually and unpaid interest until December 31, 2017 shall be added to the first phase of the loan. 
Any unpaid interest after December 31, 2017 shall be added to the second phase of the loan and compounded annually. 
Payments in respect of principal shall be made in amounts as received from Triple B, on or before December 31, 2017. 

Annual payments of principal and interest over the remainder of the second phase loan term are to be paid on or before 
December 31 of each calendar year commencing on December 31, 2018, based on the amortization of the loan following 
the December 31, 2017 payment. Payments are applied firstly to accrued interest after December 31, 2017 and secondly to 
principal outstanding. 

Any accrued interest and principal outstanding on the second phase of the loan as at November 24, 2058 is due and  
payable in full, subject to receipt of accrued interest and principal outstanding from Triple B, unless the parties agree 
otherwise in writing. 

Principal and interest outstanding at March 31 are: 

2017		  2016

Loan, First Phase	 $	 75,000	 $	 75,000
Loan, First Phase Accrued Interest		 22,265		 17,516
Loan, Second Phase Accrued Interest		 19,706		 15,848

		 116,971		  108,364
Loan, Second Phase		 82,000		 83,000

$	 198,971	 $	 191,364

Principal repayments on long term debt payable over the next five years are as follows: 

Province of Manitoba	 Term Loans		 Total

2018	 $	 5,120	 $	 1,217	 $	 6,337
2019		  5,391		  1,282		  6,673
2020		  5,676		  1,355		  7,031
2021		  5,976		  1,429		  7,405
2022		  6,293		  1,507		  7,800
Thereafter		  339,488		 17,341		  356,829

$	 367,944	 $	 24,131	 $	 392,075

10. OTHER LONG TERM LIABILITIES
		 2017		  2016

Fair Value of Financial Derivatives:
   Student Residence	 $	 2,516	 $	 3,136
   Multi Tenant Facility 150 Innovation Drive		 908		 1,167
   Multi Tenant Facility 900 One Research Road		 1,517		 1,876

	 4,941		  6,179
Retirement Allowance		 3,990

$	 8,931	 $	 6,179

Fair Value of Financial Derivatives Beginning of Year	 $	 6,179	 $	 6,287
Unrealized (Gain) Loss Reported in the Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses		 (1,238)		 (108)

Fair Value of Financial Derivatives End of Year	 $	 4,941	 $	 6,179

Financial Derivatives are classified as Level 3.
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

The University has entered into separate interest rate swap agreements for three term loans. Each loan has a stamping fee 
and a floating interest rate based on Bankers’ Acceptance rates. The floating interest rate has been swapped to a fixed rate  
as follows: 

•	 The interest rate swap agreement for the loan for the construction of the Arthur V. Mauro Student Residence has a fixed
interest rate of 5.62% that is committed until September 1, 2028. The notional principal underlying this swap agreement
was $10,909 as at March 31, 2017 (2016, $11,548).

•	 The interest rate swap agreement for the loan for the development of the multi-tenant facility at 150 Innovation Drive
has a fixed interest rate of 4.07% that is committed until February 13, 2032. The notional principal underlying this swap
agreement as at March 31, 2017 was $5,780 (2016, $6,056).

•	 The interest rate swap agreement for the loan for the addition to the multi-tenant facility at 900 – One Research Road has
a fixed interest rate of 4.4% that is committed until August 5, 2035. The notional principal underlying this swap agreement
was $7,442 as at March 31, 2017 (2016, $7,679).

Under the terms of the agreements, the respective monthly interest and principal repayments are required similar to a 
conventional amortizing loan over a 25 year period. 

RETIREMENT ALLOWANCE

During the year, the University entered into a letter of understanding with the University of Manitoba Faculty Association 
(UMFA) to provide a retirement allowance to eligible UMFA members in exchange for their voluntarily and irrevocable 
agreement to retire. The allowance is dependent upon the UMFA member’s age and the number of advance years of notice 
given to the University prior to retirement. To be eligible, the member must be at least fifty-five years of age and have at least 
fifteen years of service at the University on a date that they have chosen as their retirement date. UMFA members have up to 
three years to enroll in the program and must retire within three years of their enrolment. The University’s policy is to record 
the estimated liability once members enroll. As at March 31, 2017, the estimated liability is $4,849 with $859 being a current 
liability included in accounts payable and $3,990 representing a long term liability.

11. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS
The University provides certain health, dental and group life benefits for its retired employees who have met the eligibility 
criteria and long term disability benefits for current employees. Post-retirement pension benefits are also provided for 
specifically entitled retirees. 

Health, dental and group life benefits are provided to employees who retired prior to July 1, 2004 on a non-contributory 
basis. The group life benefits are indexed post-retirement. For eligible employees retiring on or after July 1, 2004, no group 
life benefit is available, and retired employees share in the cost of the health and dental benefits. 

The long term disability income benefit is provided on a contributory basis. 

Post retirement pension benefits are provided to specifically entitled employees who retired prior to 1993. The adjustments 
for a year are determined as the lesser of the amounts that can be provided by a weighted average percentage salary increase 
at the University, or the excess interest approach provided under the University of Manitoba Pension Plan (1993). One 
hundred percent of the adjustments are paid by the University. 

The University measures the fair value of assets and the accrued benefit obligations for the non-pension and post retirement 
pension adjustments as of March 31. A firm of consulting actuaries prepared an actuarial valuation for the post-retirement 
adjustments plan as at March 31, 2017. They also prepared extrapolations to March 31, 2017 of the 2015 actuarial valuations 
for the non-pension benefit plans. The actuarial gains and losses are amortized over nine years commencing in the year 
following the year the respective annual actuarial gains or losses arise. 
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The Accrued Benefit Obligations for the non-pension benefit plans and the post retirement adjustments are reported in the 
University’s Statement of Financial Position under Long Term Liabilities. 

Information about the University’s non-pension benefit plans and post-retirement adjustments as at March 31 is as follows: 

Non-Pension Post-Retirement 
Benefit Plans	 Adjustments		 Total	 Total

2017		  2016		  2017		 2016		 2017		 2016

Accrued Benefit Obligations	 $	 72,988	 $	 68,975	 $	 2,068	 $	 2,325	 $	 75,056	 $	 71,300
Unamortized Actuarial Gains		 5,863		 5,130		 134		 96		 5,997		 5,226

Employee Future Benefits 
   Liability	 $	 78,851	 $	 74,105	 $	 2,202	 $	 2,421	 $	 81,053	 $	 76,526

Benefit Cost	 $	 4,486	 $	 4,662	 $	 67	 $	 65	 $	 4,553	 $	 4,727
Plan Assets		 54,441		  48,739		  763		 863		 55,204		  49,602
Employer Contribution		 5,441		  5,623		  186		 210		 5,627		 5,833
Employees’ Contributions		 3,428		  3,616						  3,428		 3,616
Benefits Paid		 8,093		  7,549		  372		 420		 8,465		 7,969

Plan assets consist of:	 Non-Pension Post-Retirement 
Benefit Plans	 Adjustments

2017		  2016		  2017		 2016

Money Market Funds and Cash		 4.4%		 6.7%		 4.4%		 6.7%
Equities		 52.4%		  50.2%		  52.4%		 50.2%
Fixed Income		 21.1%		  21.2%		  21.1%		 21.2%
Pooled Real Estate		 9.6%		 9.6%		 9.6%		 9.6%
Mortgage Fund		 12.5%		  12.3%		  12.5%		 12.3%

Total		  100.0%		  100.0%		  100.0%		  100.0%

Non-Pension Post-Retirement 
Benefit Plans	 Adjustments

2017		  2016		  2017		 2016

Accrued Benefit Obligation at March 31:
Discount Rate		 5.5%		  5.6%		  5.5%		 5.6%
Benefit Cost for Year Ended March 31:
Discount Rate		 5.6%		  6.0%		  5.6%		 6.0%
Expected Rate of Return on Assets	 5.6%		 6.0%		 5.6%		 6.0%
Health Care Cost Trend Rates at  
   March 31:
Initial Rate		 7.5%		 7.5%
Ultimate Rate		 5.0%		 5.0%
Year Ultimate Rate Reached		 2027		 2027
Dental Care Cost Trend Rates  
   at March 31:	 5.0% to 2018,	 5.0% to 2018, 

4.5% thereafter	 4.5% thereafter

12. INTER-FUND ADVANCES AND LOANS
As at March 31, 2017, the General Funds owed the Restricted Funds $3,703 (2016, $18,887). 
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13. CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL ASSETS
Contributions recognized in the Capital Asset Fund include contributed building, capital equipment, library books and 
artwork of $979 (2016, $925). 

14. PENSION PLANS
The University is the sponsor of three pension plans, The University of Manitoba Pension Plan (1970), The University of 
Manitoba GFT Pension Plan (1986), and The University of Manitoba Pension Plan (1993). 

The University has separate Pension Committees to act as Plan Administrator for each of the 1993 and 1986 Plans. The 
University is the Plan Administrator for the 1970 Plan. 

Each of the 1993 Pension Committee and 1986 Pension Committee has the following responsibilities for their respective plans: 

•	 Monitor the operation of the plan;

•	 Take responsibility for the plan’s administration;

•	 Ensure that the plan is in compliance with all applicable legislation; and

•	 Act in an advisory capacity to the University Board of Governors, making recommendations as required.

All three pension plans issue their own financial statements, none of which form part of the University’s financial statements. 
The University’s pension liability for the 1993 Plan is the net of pension obligations less plan assets and adjusted for any 
unamortized actuarial gains or losses. For the 1986 Plan, the University has no pension liability as pension obligations equal 
plan assets. The University has no pension liability for the 1970 Plan. 

1993 PLAN 

The University of Manitoba Pension Plan (1993) is a money purchase plan with a defined benefit minimum. The following 
is a summary of the Plan: 

Staff members of the University, other than those eligible for membership in The University of Manitoba GFT Pension Plan 
(1986), are eligible for membership in The University of Manitoba Pension Plan (1993). The Plan members contributed 
at the rate of 9.0% of salary less an adjustment for the Canada Pension Plan during the year. The University matches these 
contributions. If an actuarial valuation reveals a deficiency in the fund, The Pension Benefits Act of the Province of Manitoba 
requires that the University make additional contributions to fund the deficiency. 

The Plan provides for full and immediate vesting on termination of employment, subject to the provisions of The Pension 
Benefits Act of the Province of Manitoba. 

At retirement, the Plan provides that the Member’s Contribution Account and University Contribution Account are applied 
to establish retirement income known as a plan annuity. This annuity is determined using a pension factor established by the 
Actuary and is paid from the Plan. The Plan provides that if the defined benefit pension based on a formula involving the 
member’s years of service and highest average earnings exceeds the plan annuity, the difference (known as a supplementary 
pension) is paid from the Plan. 

The Plan provides for retirement benefits paid from the Plan to be increased using an excess interest approach, provided such 
increase can be afforded by the Plan as confirmed by the Actuary. 

At the December 31, 2013 valuation of the Plan, there were 5,192 active member accounts with an average salary weighted 
age of 51.8 for academic staff and 47 for support staff, and 1,241 annuitants and other recipients. 

The actuarial method used to value the liabilities is the projected unit credit method, prorated on services. An actuarial 
valuation for accounting purposes was prepared by a firm of consulting actuaries as at December 31, 2013 and extrapolated 
to December 31, 2016. 
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The University uses a December 31 measurement date for reporting plan assets and obligations. Pension liability is calculated 
as follows:

		 2016		  2015

Accrued Benefit Obligations
   Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits, beginning of year	 $	 1,173,668	 $	 1,110,225
   Interest accrued on defined benefits		 24,924		 23,006
   Interest accrued on member accounts		 61,725		 28,988
   Benefits accrued		 57,093		 54,393
   Benefits paid		 (102,617)		 (99,343)
   Actuarial gains (losses)		 (8,839)		 3,650
   Change in actuarial assumptions		 (6,067)		 52,749

Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits, end of year		 1,199,887		 1,173,668

Plan Assets
   Fair value, beginning of year		 1,099,448		 1,091,432
   Actual return on plan assets		 99,919		 47,200
   Employer contributions calendar year		 34,092		 34,280
   Employee contributions		 25,462		 25,595
   Transfer from other plans		 198		 284
   Benefits paid		 (102,617)		 (99,343)

Fair value, end of year		 1,156,502		 1,099,448

Plan deficit		 43,385		 74,220
Contributions during fiscal year in excess of calendar year		 (8,994)		 (8,380)

Adjusted plan deficit		 34,391		 65,840
Unamortized net actuarial gains (losses)		 (10,048)		 (45,268)

Pension Liability	 $	 24,343	 $	 20,572

Net Benefit Plan Expense
Current service cost, net of employee contributions	 $	 31,433	 $	 28,514
Interest costs at discount rate		 62,383		 62,794
Expected return on plan assets		 (60,369)		 (64,310)
Amortization of net actuarial gains (losses)		 5,030		 (2,180)

Net benefit plan expense	 $	 38,477	 $	 24,818

Reconciliation of Unamortized Gains (Losses)
Expected average remaining service life		 9.00		 9.00
Net unamortized gain (loss), beginning of year	 $	 (45,268)	 $	 19,621
New net gain (loss) for current year		 30,190		 (62,709)
Amortization for current year		 5,030		 (2,180)

Net unamortized (loss), end of year	 $	 (10,048)	 $	 (45,268)

Plan Assets Measured at Fair Value Consist of: 
Cash and Other	 $	 20,867	 $	 29,262
Bonds and Debentures		 143,834		 248,350
Canadian Equities		 255,768		 300,379
Mortgages		  163,076		  134,234
Real Estate		 99,061		 68,205
Foreign Equities		 473,896		 319,018

$	1,156,502	 $	 1,099,448

Continued on page 47…
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Significant Long-term Actuarial Assumptions
Discount rate	 5.50%	 5.60%
Expected rate of return on assets	 5.50%	 5.60%
Rate of general salary increase	 1.5% to 2022, 2.5%	 2.0% to 2018, 3%

thereafter thereafter
Interest assumption for converting member	 3.75%	 3.75%
   accumulations to annuities
Mortality	 Canadian Pensioners’	 Canadian Pensioners’

Mortality 2014	 Mortality 2014
Public Sector Table,	 Public Sector Table,

with age-related	 with age-related
adjustments. adjustments.

Projected Projected
generationally 	 generationally

from 2014 using	 from 2014 using
Scale CPM-B.	 Scale CPM-B.

Pension Plan Assets are valued at market values. The expected rate of return on plan assets net of expenses is 5.5% (2015, 
5.6%). The actual return on pension fund assets was 9.3% (2015, 4.4%). 

In 2009, the Manitoba Pension Commission advised that the University was required to begin to make additional 
payments with respect to current service costs in excess of matching contributions of active members and the University. 
The additional annual current service cost payments required are based on a percentage (changes annually) of employee 
contributions. This total payment for fiscal 2017 was $3.5 million (2016, $3.6 million). 

The unamortized net actuarial gains (losses) shown above, which were determined on the basis of the 2013 actuarial 
valuation and the 2016 extrapolation for accounting purposes, are being amortized over a period of nine years (expected 
average remaining service life) starting in the year following the year the respective annual actuarial gains or losses arise. 
However, cash funding for the pension plan is based on the going concern funding valuation as described below. 

The going concern deficit that results from these and other sources of loss, as they apply to the valuation for funding 
purposes filed with the pension regulators, is being funded under The Pension Benefits Act over the maximum of fifteen 
years. The payments are $5.1 million annually until the going concern deficit is eliminated, based on the December 2013 
funding valuation. This total payment for fiscal 2017 was $5.1 million (2016, $5.1 million). 

In 2009, as permitted under the University Pension Plans Exemption Regulation, the University filed an election for an 
exemption to the solvency deficiency funding requirements under The Pension Benefits Act for the 1993 Plan. However, the 
Plan will continue to be subject to the going concern funding provisions of The Pension Benefits Act and the funding deficit 
payments are being paid by the University over the maximum of fifteen years as indicated above. 

1986 PLAN 

For the 1986 Plan, which is a money purchase plan for active members, the University recorded contributions of $1,976 
(2016, $2,114) and this is included in the Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances as an expense.

1970 PLAN 

There were no university employees earning pension entitlements in 2017 in the 1970 Plan. As a result, the University made 
no contributions to the Plan during the year. 

…Continued from page 46
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15. NET INVESTMENT INCOME
General		  Restricted		 Total		 Total 

		 Funds		  Funds		 2017		 2016

Non Portfolio Interest Income	 $	 2,984	 $	 10,199	 $	 13,183	 $	 12,240

Portfolio Investments:
   Interest		 1,781		 1,639		 3,420		 4,091
   Dividends				 11,754		 11,754		 11,925
   Net Gains on Sale of Investments				 28,582		 28,582		 29,781

1,781		  41,975		 43,756		 45,797

Total	 $	 4,765	 $	 52,174	 $	 56,939	 $	 58,037

16. INTEREST IN RELATED ENTITIES
UM PROPERTIES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

In 2008, the University purchased approximately 120 acres of land from the Southwood Golf and Country Club (Southwood 
lands). The University is pursuing the development of the Southwood lands through UM Properties Limited Partnership  
(the Partnership) which was created in 2016-17.

The Partnership is responsible for the planning and development of the infrastructure and roadways of the Southwood 
lands and will negotiate with builders/developers for the construction of residential and commercial buildings located on 
the Southwood lands. It is the intent of the University to transfer an interest in the lands to the Partnership by selling its fee 
simple interest, or by entering into a long term lease.

The Partnership has a sole general partner and sole limited partner. UM Properties GP Inc. is the general partner and a 
wholly owned subsidiary of the University. UM Properties Trust (the Trust) is a legal trust and is the limited partner.

UM Properties Holdings Inc. (the corporate trustee) is a wholly owned subsidiary of the University, and is the sole trustee 
of the Trust. Income will flow from the Partnership to the Trust. The corporate trustee is responsible to allocate the taxable 
income of the Trust in any given year. The University and the J.W. Dafoe Foundation are the beneficiaries of the Trust.

The Trust is taxable on any taxable income that is not allocated to the beneficiaries.

There was no financial activity in 2016-17.

THE UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA FOUNDATION U.S.A. INC. 

The University has an economic interest in the University of Manitoba Foundation U.S.A. Inc. (the Foundation) which is 
an Illinois Not-For-Profit Corporation incorporated in December 1989. The Foundation’s purpose is exclusively charitable, 
literary, scientific and educational and its activities include the promotion, encouragement, aid and advancement of higher 
education, research and training in the Province of Manitoba, in Canada and elsewhere. The Foundation is exempt from 
U.S.A. Federal Income Tax under Subsection 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. 

The Board of Directors of the Foundation is an independent board whose members direct and guide the Foundation’s 
actions. Members of the Board include, among others, certain senior staff of the University however, is one of many entities 
eligible to receive aid from the Foundation. The University must make application to the Foundation’s Board of Directors 
to request funds, which may or may not be granted. The University’s economic interest therefore is beneficial, as gifts and 
donations which are solicited by the Foundation may be transferred to the University from time to time. The gifts received in 
fiscal 2017 were $1,406.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



TRIUMF 

The University has an 8.33% (2016, 8.33%) interest in TRIUMF, a joint venture which operates a national laboratory for 
particle and nuclear physics. The University uses the modified equity method of accounting to record its interest in TRIUMF. 

Available financial information in respect of TRIUMF is disclosed below: 

U of M’s		 U of M’s
		 Proportionate		 Proportionate

March 31, 2016	 Share	 March 31, 2015	 Share

Statement of Financial Position:
Assets	 $	 32,020	 $	 2,667	 $	 26,369	 $	 2,197
Liabilities		 8,322		  693		 6,257		 522

Net Assets	 $	 23,698	 $	 1,974	 $	 20,112	 $	 1,675

Statement of Operations: 
Revenue	 $	 71,873	 $	 5,987	 $	 69,133	 $	 5,758
Expenses		  68,286		  5,688		 66,654		 5,552

Surplus for the Year	 $	 3,587	 $	 299	 $	 2,479	 $	 206

Statement of Cash Flows:
Cash Provided by (Used in):
Operating Activities	 $	 5,364	 $	 447	 $	 3,780	 $	 315
Investing Activities		 (7,171)		 (597)		 2,783		 232

Increase (Decrease) in Cash	 $	 (1,807)	 $	 (150)	 $	 6,563	 $	 547

TRIUMF’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with section 11B of the TRIUMF joint venture agreement. 
TRIUMF has adopted Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS), including accounting standards that apply to 
government not-for-profit organizations, except that all property, plant and equipment purchased or constructed for use 
at TRIUMF and related decommissioning costs (if any) are expensed in the period in which the costs are incurred. The 
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2017 are not available. 

TRIUMF follows the restricted fund method of accounting for contributions. 

17. OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The University has significant influence in Triple B Stadium Inc. (Triple B). Triple B is a for-profit corporation established 
to develop, own and operate a stadium as a venue for professional and university football and community athletics. The 
members of Triple B are the City of Winnipeg, the University of Manitoba and the Winnipeg Football Club. Activities 
of Triple B are managed by the directors comprised of the University, City of Winnipeg, Province of Manitoba and the 
Winnipeg Football Club. The University has an economic interest in Triple B related to the use of the stadium for university 
football games and events at nil charge. 

As at March 31, 2017 and for year then ended, the related party transactions pertaining to Investors Group Field, with Triple 
B and the Province of Manitoba are as follows: 

		 2017		  2016

Loans Receivable, including accrued interest	 $	 198,971	 $	 191,364
Loan Payable, including accrued interest	 $	 198,971	 $	 191,364
Revenue and Expenses:
   Investment Income	 $	 8,945	 $	 8,661
   Interest Expense	 $	 8,945	 $	 8,619
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The investment income from Triple B and related interest expense of $8,945 (2016, $8,619) has been included in the 
Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances. However, these amounts have not been included in Statement of 
Cash Flow supplementary information as the interest was neither received nor paid during the year. Any related payments 
received for the loan receivable and payments made on the related debt were applied against the outstanding principal. 

The University controls Partners for Health and Development in Africa (PHDA), a non-profit, non-governmental 
organization registered in Kenya. PHDA has a March 31 year end. Its main purpose is to promote health and economic 
development in Kenya and Africa, including promotion of health and economic services in HIV/AIDS and population and 
reproductive health. PHDA uses a modified cash basis of accounting. 

The University funds the operations of PHDA by the transfer of research grants. PHDA is not permitted under local 
government restrictions to transfer any assets back to the University. Available financial information in respect of PHDA is 
disclosed below. The financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2017 are not available. PHDA operates in Kenyan 
Schillings and the amounts below have been converted to Canadian dollars.

March 31, 2016 	 March 31, 2015

Statement of Financial Position: 
Assets	 $	 800	 $	 452
Liabilities		  354		  338

Net Assets	 $	 446	 $	 114

Statement of Operations:
Revenue	 $	 6,026	 $	 4,447
Expenses		  5,687		  4,334

Surplus for the Year	 $	 339	 $	 113

Cash Provided by (Used in):
Operating Activities	 $	 353	 $	 251
Investing Activities		 (60)		 (67)

Increase in Cash	 $	 293	 $	 184

Total transfers in 2016 to PHDA were $5,633 (2015, $1,476). 

18. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND CONTINGENCIES
The University is a member of the Canadian Universities Reciprocal Insurance Exchange (CURIE). CURIE pools the 
property damage and public liability insurance risks of its members. All members pay annual deposit premiums, which are 
actuarially determined and are subject to further assessment in the event members’ premiums and reserves are insufficient to 
cover losses and expenses. No additional assessment was necessary for the current year. 

Contractual obligations relating to Construction in Progress amounted to $39,950 (2016, $30,197). The contractual 
obligations relating to service contracts was $27,912 (2016, $24,899). 

The University of Manitoba Faculty Association (UMFA) has filed an application for remedy for unfair labour practice 
against the University. UMFA has brought forward these allegations with The Manitoba Labour Board and has alleged that 
the University failed to bargain collectively in good faith under The Labour Relations Act. UMFA is seeking both financial 
and non financial remedies. The financial remedies include the following:

•	 Payment of lost wages and benefits for the entire period of the strike;

•	 Compensate UMFA for all costs associated with the strike;

•	 Restoration of the monetary proposal that existed on September 13, 2016;

•	 $2 payment to UMFA; and

•	 $2 payment to each UMFA member.
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The University is actively defending these allegations and is participating in hearings with The Manitoba Labour Board. 
Initial hearings were held in May 2017 and are expected to be completed by October 2017, at which time The Manitoba 
Labour Board will convene to render a judgement which is expected some time in 2018.

The possible loss to the University depends on what financial restitution the University is ordered to pay and ranges from 
nil to $9,400 based on the requests of the application.

The members of the TRIUMF joint venture and the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission (CNSC) approved a 
decommissioning plan which requires all members to be severally responsible for their share of the decommissioning costs, 
which were estimated at $44,200 as of November 2011, as well as provide financial covenants to the CNSC for the amount 
of these costs. While there are no current intentions to decommission the facilities, and the facilities are estimated to have 
an indefinite useful life, the University’s share of the unfunded decommissioning costs, as at March 31, 2016 is estimated at 
$2,800 (2015, $2,800). The March 31, 2017 figures are not available. TRIUMF has put in place a plan for funding the cost of 
decommissioning which does not require any payments from the joint venture partners. 

19. EXPENSE BY FUNCTION
2017 2016 

		 General		  Restricted		 Total Total 
		 Funds Funds		  Funds Funds

Expense
Academic	 $	 330,127	 $	 125,565	 $	 455,692	 $	 469,117
Amortization				 54,645		  54,645 54,931
Student Assistance		  15,437 42,074		 57,511 55,619
Plant Maintenance		  43,315 20		  43,335 46,039
Administration and General		 33,047		 8,219		 41,266		 41,593
Ancillary Services		  25,699 				 25,699 27,725
Computing and Communications		 24,044				 24,044		 26,803
Other Academic and Research Support		 22,603		 3,315		 25,918		 20,834
Student Services		  19,397 				 19,397 20,328
Interest				 19,074		 19,074 19,062
Libraries		  16,991 16,991 18,462
External Relations		 11,174 11,174 12,169
Actuarially Determined Employee
   Future Benefits		 4,527				 4,527		 7
Change in Pension Liability		 3,771				 3,771		 (10,515)
Staff Benefits Contra		 (1,761)				 (1,761)		 (7,182)
Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets				 1,000		 1,000

Total	 $	 548,371	 $	 253,912	 $	 802,283	 $	 794,992
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20. STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES – GENERAL FUNDS
			 Expenses	
			 Funded	 2017	 2016 

General	 Specific	 From Future	 Total	 Total 
Operating	 Provisions	 Revenues	 General	 General 

Fund	 Fund	 Fund	 Funds	 Funds

Revenue
Tuition and Related Fees	 $	 163,571	 $		 $		 $	 163,571	 $	 159,987
Donations		 3,849						 3,849		 1,734
Non-Government Grants		 4,845						 4,845		 5,344
Net Investment Income (Note 15)		 4,765						 4,765		 4,348
Miscellaneous Income		 8,809						 8,809		 9,390
Government Grants:
   Manitoba Education and Training		 356,762						 356,762		 347,105
   Other Province of Manitoba		 24,601						 24,601		 22,493
   Government of Canada		 10,836						 10,836		 10,850
   City of Winnipeg		 51						 51		 51
Sales of Goods and Services		 34,595						 34,595		 32,233
Ancillary Services		  37,983						 37,983		  38,246

		 650,667						   650,667		  631,781

Expenses
Salaries		  350,262						   350,262		  356,627
Staff Benefits and Pay Levy		 78,461						 78,461		 59,766
Materials, Supplies and Services		 48,728						 48,728		 51,352
Student Assistance		  15,437						 15,437		  14,000
Professional Consulting and Externally
   Contracted Services		 19,220						 19,220		 16,010
Travel and Conferences		 11,209						 11,209		 11,314
Utilities, Municipal Taxes and Insurance		 19,174						 19,174		 19,442
Maintenance and Repairs		 5,880						 5,880		 7,652

		 548,371						   548,371		  536,163

Net Revenue from Operating Activities		  102,296						   102,296		  95,618
Inter-Fund Transfers (Note 22)		  (102,278)		 36,101		 (4,588)		 (70,765)		  (86,501)

Net Increase (Decrease) to Fund 
   Balances from Operating Activities		 18		 36,101		 (4,588)		 31,531		 9,117
Fund Balances from Operating Activities 
   Beginning of Year		 2,366		 97,668		 (65,345)		 34,689		 25,572

Fund Balances from Operating Activities
   End of Year		 2,384		 133,769		 (69,933)		 66,220		 34,689
Accumulated Remeasurements Gains
   (Losses) End of Year		 3						 3		 (139)

Fund Balances End of Year	 $	 2,387	 $	 133,769	 $	 (69,933)	 $	 66,223	 $	 34,550

Unrestricted Funds	 $	 2,387	 $		 $	 (69,933)	 $	 (67,546)	 $	 (63,118)
Internally Restricted Funds (Note 23)				  133,769 				  133,769		  97,668

$	 2,387	 $	 133,769	 $	 (69,933)	 $	 66,223	 $	 34,550
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21. STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES – RESTRICTED FUNDS
2017	 2016 

Capital	 Research	 Staff		 Total	 Total 
Asset	 and Special	 Benefits	 Trust	 Restricted	 Restricted 
Fund	 Fund	 Fund	 Fund	 Funds	 Funds

Revenue
Donations	 $	 4,788	 $	 595	 $		  $	 4,441	 $	 9,824	 $	 11,625
Non-Government Grants				  79,139						  79,139		  78,313
Net Investment Income (Note 15)		 9,646		 341		 579		  41,608		  52,174		  53,689
Miscellaneous Income		 2,693		  1,547		  3,460				 7,700		 8,002
Government Grants:
   Manitoba Education and Training		 7,015								 7,015		 7,015
   Other Province of Manitoba		 2,714		 32,147						 34,861		 51,295
Government of Canada		 9,366		 64,269						 73,635		 70,971
Sales of Goods and Services		 20		 486						 506		 1,011

		 36,242		  178,524		  4,039		  46,049		  264,854		  281,921

Expenses
Salaries				  39,366						  39,366		  40,471
Staff Benefits and Pay Levy				 7,323						 7,323		 7,088
Materials, Supplies and Services				 47,706		 4,248		 372		 52,326		 57,741
Amortization of Capital Assets		 54,645								 54,645		 54,931
Student Assistance				  22,994				  19,080		  42,074		  41,619
Professional Consulting and Externally  
   Contracted Services				 22,370		 133		 3,381		 25,884		 26,315
Travel and Conferences				 11,815						 11,815		 11,135
Utilities, Municipal Taxes and Insurance				 33						 33		 24
Interest		 19,074								  19,074		  19,062
Maintenance and Repairs				 372						 372		 443
Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets		 1,000								 1,000

	 74,719		  151,979		  4,381		  22,833		  253,912		  258,829

Net Revenue (Loss) from 
   Operating Activities		  (38,477)		  26,545		 (342)		  23,216		  10,942		  23,092
Inter-Fund Transfers (Note 22)	 83,284		  (7,809)		  (2,880)		  (7,725)		  64,870		  84,197

Net Increase (Decrease) to Fund 
   Balances from Operating Activities		 44,807		 18,736		 (3,222)		 15,491		 75,812		 107,289
Fund Balances from Operating  
   Activities Beginning of Year		 999,248		 123,386		 3,211		 202,755		  1,328,600		 1,221,311

Fund Balances from Operating  
   Activities End of Year		 1,044,055		 142,122		 (11)		 218,246		 1,404,412		 1,328,600
Accumulated Remeasurements  
   Gains (Losses) End of Year		 570		 70		 8,777		 (5,253)		 4,164		 (14,421)

Fund Balances End of Year	 $	1,044,625	 $	142,192	 $	 8,766	 $	212,993	 $	1,408,576	 $	1,314,179

Internally Restricted Funds (Note 23)	 $		 $	 7,296	 $	 2,729	 $	 64,105	 $	 74,130	 $	 68,333
Externally Restricted Funds (Note 24)				  134,896		 6,037		  148,888		  289,821		  247,267
Invested in Capital Assets(Note 24)		  1,044,625								   1,044,625		  998,579

$	1,044,625	 $	142,192	 $	 8,766	 $	212,993	 $	1,408,576	 $	1,314,179
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22. INTER-FUND TRANSFERS
Inter-Fund Transfers for the years ended March 31 are as follows: 

			 Expenses 
			 Funded 

General	 Specific	 From Future	 Total	 Total 
Operating	 Provisions	 Revenues	 General	 Restricted	Endowment 

Fund	 Fund	 Fund	 Funds	 Funds	 Fund

Funding of Capital Asset Additions:
   Current Year Acquisitions	 $	 (21,161)	 $		 $		 $	 (21,161)	 $	 21,161	 $
   Other Funded Projects		 (30,316)						 (30,316)		 30,316
   Faculty and Unit Funded Projects		 (13,778)		 1,072				 (12,706)		 12,706

Total Funding of Capital Asset Additions		 (65,255)		 1,072				 (64,183)		 64,183

Debt Funding:
   Ancillary Services		 (4,964)						 (4,964)		 4,964
   Faculties		 (1,542)						 (1,542)		 1,542
   Unit Capital Development Assessment		 (5,274)						 (5,274)		 5,274
   Student Contributions for Technology		 (2,784)						 (2,784)		 2,784
   Other		 (632)						 (632)		 632

Total Debt Funding		 (15,196)						 (15,196)		 15,196

Scholarships, Bursaries and Prizes:
   Faculty and Unit Funded		 (1,878)						 (1,878)		 1,874		 4
   Centrally Funded		 (7,051)						 (7,051)		 7,045		 6

Total Scholarships, Bursaries and Prizes		 (8,929)						 (8,929)		 8,919		 10

Transfers to Provisions for  
   Specific Projects:
   Faculty and Unit Funded		 (787)		 787
   Centrally Funded		 (17,913)		 17,913

Total Transfers to Provisions for Specific  
   Projects 		 (18,700)		 18,700

Benefit Premiums Net of Employer
   Contributions for Staff Benefits		 (1,704)						 (1,704)		 1,704
Student Contribution to University
   Development Fund		 (965)						 (965)		 195		 770
Overhead Recoveries		  6,527						  6,527		  (6,527)
Funding of General Operating Expenses		 22,784		 (9,474)				 13,310		 (13,310)
Net Change in Unit Carryover		 (25,803)		 25,803
Funding of Research Projects		 (4,211)						 (4,211)		 4,211
Employee Future Benefits		 4,527				 57		 4,584		 (4,584)
Pension Liability		 3,771				 (3,771)
Vacation and Sick Leave Liability		 874				 (874)
Other Net Transfers		 2						 2		 (5,117)		 5,115

March 31, 2017	 $	(102,278)	 $	 36,101	 $	 (4,588)	 $	 (70,765)	 $	 64,870	 $	 5,895

March 31, 2016	 $	 (95,534)	 $	 (1,306)	 $	 10,339	 $	 (86,501)	 $	 84,197	 $	 2,304
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23. INTERNALLY RESTRICTED FUND BALANCES
Internally restricted fund balances represent amounts set aside by the University for specific purposes. Within the Specific 
Provisions Fund is $89,758 (2016, $65,512) that is set aside at the request of faculties and units while $44,011 (2016,  
$32,156) has been set aside at the discretion of senior administration. Included in the $89,758 is faculty and unit carryover  
of $75,861 (2016, $50,068). Although the entire provision balance of $133,769 (2016, $97,668) is deemed internally restricted, 
senior administration is not able to repurpose the $89,758 (2016, $65,512) as it is bound by certain restrictions including 
collective agreements. 

		 2017		  2016

General Funds
   Specific Provisions	 $	 133,769	 $	 97,668

Restricted Funds
   Research and Special		 7,296		 7,832
   Staff Benefits		 2,729		 2,569
   Trust		 64,105		 57,932

		 74,130		  68,333

Total Internally Restricted Fund Balances	 $	 207,899	 $	 166,001

24. EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED FUND BALANCES
Externally restricted fund balances represent unexpended fund balances to be used in future years. External parties have 
imposed specific restrictions on how the funds can be used and the terms cannot be altered without explicit permission 
from these funders. Endowed fund balances represent donations received that must be held in perpetuity. The endowed 
contributions generate an investment return which is made available for spending in the Trust Fund. Invested in Capital 
Assets represents capital assets and the net assets held for capital purchases or debt repayment. 

		 2017		  2016

Endowed	 $	 468,296	 $	 398,732

Invested in Capital Assets		  1,044,625		 998,579

Restricted Funds
   Research and Special		 134,896		 115,352
   Staff Benefits		 6,037		 4,570
   Trust		 148,888		 127,345

		 289,821		  247,267

Total Externally Restricted Fund Balances	 $	1,802,742	 $	 1,644,578

25. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2016 have been reclassified, where appropriate, to conform with the 
presentation adopted for the year ended March 31, 2017.
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2500 - 201 Portage Ave., Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 3K6, Phone: (204) 775-4531, 1 (877) 500-0795  
  

 

 
Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To the Shareholder of Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd.:   
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd., which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at March 31, 2017 and the statements of operations and accumulated surplus, change in net assets (debt) and cash flows for 
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors' Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd. as at 
March 31, 2017 and the results of its operations, change in net assets (debt) and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 
 
 
 

Winnipeg, Manitoba 
        
June 7, 2017 Chartered Professional Accountants 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd. 
  Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 

For the year ended March 31, 2017 

Budget      2017       2016  

Sales   1,035,293  892,937    1,132,262 
Cost of sales      728,218  566,647  892,575 

Gross margin           307,075  326,290  239,687 
Operating expenses   (Schedule 2)        192,403  199,000  168,476 

Surplus from operations         114,672     127,290          71,211 

Other income (expense)  
Amortization            (22,561)   (22,627)         (103,511) 
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - (379,520)   - 
Loss on other asset transfer -  (25,184)   - 

 (22,561)   (427,331)   (103,511) 

Annual surplus (deficit)  92,111 (300,041)    (32,300) 

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year   388,345       388,345    420,645 
() 

Accumulated surplus, end of year   480,456         88,304      388,345 
(3 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

   Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd. 
 Statement of Change in Net Assets (Debt) 

For the year ended March 31, 2017 

Budget 2017  2016  

Annual surplus (deficit)  92,111 (300,041) (32,300)  

Amortization of tangible capital assets    22,561 22,627 103,511 
Use of prepaid expenses  -  5,129 31,750 
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets  -          379,520     - 
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets  -  23,000       - 

Change in net assets (debt)  114,672 130,235 102,961 
Net debt, beginning of year   (53,823)  (53,823)  (156,784)  

Net assets (debt), end of year   60,849 76,412  (53,823)  
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Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd. 
Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended March 31, 2017 

2017  2016  

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities 
Operating activities    

Cash received from customers    894,965  1,141,612 
Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (804,616)  (1,059,801)  
Interest received     783 242  
Interest paid    (1,282)  (4,470)  

89,850  77,583  

Financing activities  
Repayments of capital lease obligations -  (52,800)  

Investing activities  
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets    23,000   - 

Increase in cash resources    112,850  24,783 

Cash resources, beginning of year   232,491  207,708  

Cash resources, end of year  345,341   232,491 



Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended March 31, 2017 

1. Operations 

Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd. (the "Company") was incorporated under the Manitoba Corporations Act.  The issued shares 
are owned by the Province of Manitoba. 

The Province of Manitoba owns the Falcon Lake Golf Course and Games Area.  The Company operates this facility under a 
lease agreement with the Province of Manitoba. The Company is responsible for the operating costs of the golf course and 
games area, and, in return, is authorized to realize the revenue generated by their operations. These facilities are situated in 
the Whiteshell Provincial Park and are not subject to realty taxes. 

Effective January 1, 2017 the operating agreement has been transferred to another party and the Company has ceased 
operations. The financial statements as at and from December 31, 2016 have been prepared on a liquidation basis of 
accounting in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. Accounts receivable is recorded at net 
realizable value based on management’s estimates. Based on management's estimates tangible capital assets is 
appropriately recorded at the lower of its carrying amount and net recoverable amount, and as such is not impaired. It is 
management's intention to settle all liabilities, including related party balances within the next fiscal year. Management 
believes that the financial statements have been prepared within reasonable limits of materiality and within the framework of 
accounting policies summarized below.  As of the report date, no decision has been made on the future plans for the 
Company. 

The Company is exempt from paying income tax under subsection 149(1)(d) of the Income Tax Act. 

2. Significant accounting policies 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and 
including the following significant accounting policies: 

Cash 

Cash includes balances with banks and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less.  Cash subject 
to restrictions that prevent its use for current purposes is included in restricted cash. 

Inventory 

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out method. Net 
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business.  

Tangible capital assets  

Purchased tangible capital assets are recorded at cost. Contributed tangible capital assets are recorded at their fair value at 
the date of contribution. 

Amortization 

Amortization is provided using the straight-line method at rates intended to amortize the cost of tangible capital assets over 
their estimated useful lives. 

Rate 

Staff quarters 10 to 25  years  
Automotive 3  years  
Computer equipment 3  years  
Golf course improvements 10 to 40  years  
Equipment under capital lease 5  years  

These financial statements do not include the property and equipment of the Falcon Lake Golf Course and Games Area 
which are owned by the Province of Manitoba. 

Revenue recognition 

Revenues from the golf course, clubhouse and games area are recognized when services are provided and collection is 
reasonably assured. 



Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended March 31, 2017 

2. Significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting standards requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting period.

Accounts receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts is
provided where considered necessary. The Company currently has no allowance for doubtful accounts.  Amortization is
based on the estimated useful lives of tangible capital assets.  Inventory is valued net of slow moving or obsolete inventory
based on an estimate using historical sales of slow moving inventory.

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary they are reported in
operations in the periods in which they become known.

Leases

A lease that transfers substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership is classified as a capital lease.  At the inception
of a capital lease, an asset and a payment obligation is recorded at an amount equal to the lesser of the present value of the
minimum lease payments and the property’s fair market value.  Assets under capital leases are amortized using the
declining balance method, over their estimated useful lives.  All other leases are accounted for as operating leases and
rental payments are expensed as incurred.

An arrangement contains a lease where the arrangement conveys a right to use the underlying tangible asset, and whereby
its fulfillment is dependent on the use of the specific tangible asset.  After the inception of the arrangement, a reassessment
of whether the arrangement contains a lease is only made in the event that:

- there is a change in contractual terms; 
- a renewal option is exercised or an extension is agreed upon by the parties to the arrangement; 
- there is a change in the determination of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of 

the specific tangible asset; or 
- there is a substantial physical change to the specified tangible asset. 

Net financial assets 

The Company’s financial statements are presented so as to highlight net financial assets as the measurement of financial 
position.  The net financial assets of the Company is determined by its financial assets less its liabilities.  Net financial assets 
combined with non-financial assets comprises a second indicator of financial position which is accumulated surplus. 

Non-financial assets 

The Company’s tangible capital assets and other non-financial assets are accounted for as assets because they can be 
used to provide services in future periods.  These assets do not normally provide resources to discharge the liabilities of the 
Company unless they are sold. 



Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended March 31, 2017 

2. Significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Long-lived assets

Long-lived assets consist of tangible capital assets.  Long-lived assets held for use are measured and amortized as
described in the applicable accounting policies.

The Company performs impairment testing on long-lived assets held for use whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of an asset, or group of assets, may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recognized
when undiscounted future cash flows from its use and disposal are less than the asset's carrying amount.  Impairment is
measured as the amount by which the asset's carrying value exceeds its fair value.  Any impairment is included in surplus
(deficit) for the year.

Financial instruments

Amortized cost

The Company has classified the following financial assets in the amortized cost category:  cash and accounts receivable.
These assets are initially recognized at their fair value.  Fair value is approximated by the instrument’s initial cost in a
transaction between unrelated parties.  Transactions to purchase or sell these items are recorded on the trade date.

Cash and accounts receivable are subsequently measured at their amortized cost, using the effective interest method.
Under this method, estimated future cash receipts are exactly discounted over the asset’s expected life, or other appropriate
period, to its net carrying value.  Amortized cost is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition
less principal payments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method or any difference
between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and less any reduction for impairment or uncollectability.

The Company has classified the following liabilities in the amortized cost category: accounts payable and accruals, customer
deposits and advances from the Province of Manitoba. These liabilities are initially recognized at their fair value.   Fair value
is approximated by the instrument’s initial cost in a transaction between unrelated parties.  Transactions to purchase or sell
these items are recorded on the trade date.

Accounts payable and accruals, customer deposits and advances from the Province of Manitoba are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  Under this method, estimated future cash payments are
exactly discounted over the liability’s expected life, or other appropriate period, to their net carrying value.  Amortized cost is
the amount at which the financial liability is measured at initial recognition less principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortization using the effective interest method or any difference between that initial amount and the maturity
amount.

There is no remeasurement gains (losses) schedule as there are no remeasurement transactions during the year.

3. Cash

The Company has an operating line of credit with a limit of $250,000 (2016 - $250,000), bearing interest at Royal Bank of 
Canada's prime interest rate of 2.70% (2016 – 2.70%) and secured by the Province of Manitoba.  No amount was drawn on 
the operating line of credit at year-end. 

4. Inventory

The cost of inventories recognized as an expense and included in cost of sales amount to $31,260 (2016 - $70,731). 

5. Advances from the Province of Manitoba

The Advances from the Province of Manitoba are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand. These advances are 
related by virtue of the Province being the sole shareholder of the Company. 



Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended March 31, 2017 

6. Accumulated surplus 

2017  2016  

Equity in tangible capital assets 
Deficit 

   9,554 
    (3,564,750)  

434,701 
    (3,689,856)  

Share capital (Note 7) 3,643,500  3,643,500  

88,304  388,345  

7. Share capital 
2017  2016  

Authorized 

Unlimited Common shares 

Issued 

3,643,500 Common shares 3,643,500  3,643,500  

8. Government reporting entity - related parties

The following information is presented in accordance with a request by the Minister of Finance of The Government of the 
Province of Manitoba. 

As at March 31, 2017, the Company had the following balances with entities in the Government Reporting Entity: 

2017  2016  

Payable to (receivable from): 
Manitoba Hydro    - 1,393  

During the year, the Company had the following transactions with entities in the Government Reporting Entity: 

2017  2016  

Expenses paid to: 
Department of Conservation    - 114,700  
Manitoba Hydro 9,304  15,425  
Manitoba Liquor and Lotteries  150 150  
Manitoba Public Insurance  1,779   2,038  

11,233 132,313 

These transactions were in the normal course of operations and measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of 
consideration established by the related parties. 



Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended March 31, 2017 

9. Financial instruments

The Company, as part of its operations, carried a number of financial instruments.  It is management’s opinion that the 
Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks arising from these instruments except as otherwise 
disclosed. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change in the interest 
rates.  In seeking to minimize the risks from interest rate fluctuations, the Company manages exposure through its normal 
operating and financing activities.  The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk. 

10. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.



     Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd. 
Schedule 1 - Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets 

For the year ended March 31, 2017 

Schedule 1 
Staff quarters Automotive Computer 

equipment 
Golf course 

improvements 
Equipment 

under capital 
lease 

2017 2016 

Cost 
Balance, beginning of year 102,395  1,122,050  68,175  677,085           256,400 2,226,105 2,226,105 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets - - - -    - -    - 
Disposal of tangible capital assets (54,670)     (1,122,050) (68,175) (677,085) (256,400)  (2,178,380)      - 

Balance, end of year 47,725     -    -    -    - 47,725  2,226,105  

Accumulated amortization 
Balance, beginning of year 77,801 1,116,537  68,175  272,491  256,400 1,791,404 1,687,893 
Annual amortization 3,549  4,905    - 14,173       - 22,627  103,511  
Disposal  (43,179)     (1,121,442) (68,175) (286,664)  (256,400) (1,775,860)   - 

Balance, end of year 38,171      -    -    -    - 38,171 1,791,404  

Net book value of tangible capital assets 9,554     -      -       -      -    9,554 434,701 

2016 net book value of tangible capital assets 24,594  5,513      - 404,594       - 434,701 



Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd.
Schedule 2 - Schedule of Operating Expenses

For the year ended March 31, 2017 

Budget      2017    2016  

Computer software    1,050 1,013 1,013 
Credit card discount    25,903 23,886 25,877 
Directors' fees    15,614 19,774 7,586  
Insurance     8,879 13,664 10,648 
Interest and bank charges    1,158 1,282 1,412 
Membership fees    225 410 437  
Miscellaneous (recovery) - (265) (40) 
Office    - - 28 
Printing and stationery    1,246 1,467 972 
Professional fees    25,616 27,514 7,200  
Repairs and maintenance    2,645 2,301 1,705 
Salaries, wages and benefits  83,856 83,092 82,561  
Sales office rent    6,525 6,203 6,337  
Tee reservations    - - 2,324  
Telephone and postage    4,993 4,935 4,618  
Training and education    6,450 5,906 7,459  
Transportation    5,556 6,163 5,989 
Utilities    2,687 1,655 2,350  

192,403 199,000 168,476 
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Management�s Responsibility
Management of the Deposit Guarantee Corporation of Manitoba (DGCM) is responsible for the integrity and 
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements included in the annual report. The consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

In discharging its responsibility, management designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and 
related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, proper records 
are maintained, and assets safeguarded.

The Board of Directors of DGCM oversees management�s responsibilities for the financial reporting 
procedures and internal control systems. The Board reviews the consolidated financial statements in detail 
prior to approving the statements for publication.

The Board�s Finance & Audit Committee recommends the appointment of the external auditor and reviews 
the terms of the external audit engagement, annual fees, audit plans and scope, and management letter 
recommendations.

Vernon MacNeill, MBA S. Joe Nowicky, CPA, CMA
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed 
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Deloitte LLP
360 Main Street
Suite 2300
Winnipeg MB  R3C 3Z3
Canada

Tel: (204) 942-0051
Fax: (204) 947-9390
www.deloitte.ca

Independent Auditor�s Report 

To the Board of Directors of the Deposit Guarantee Corporation of Manitoba

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Deposit Guarantee Corporation 
of Manitoba, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016, the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2016, and notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor�s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Deposit Guarantee Corporation of Manitoba as at December 31, 2016, and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2016 in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

Chartered Accountants

March 3, 2017 
Winnipeg, Manitoba
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands of dollars)

As at December 31 2016 2015

ASSETS

Cash (Note 5) $ 913 $ 876

Investments (Note 6) 280,206 262,870

Assessments receivable (Note 7) 5,249 5,015

Current tax receivable (Note 8) 84 296

Deferred tax assets (Note 8) 335 48

Other assets (Note 9) 329 362

$ 287,116 $ 269,467

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 10) $ 267 $ 323

Defined benefit obligation (Note 11) 574 469

Deferred tax liability (Note 8) 12 15

Total liabilities 853 807

Contingent liabilities (Note 12)

CORPORATION EQUITY

Retained earnings 286,162 268,538

Accumulated other comprehensive income 101 122

Total corporation equity 286,263 268,660

$ 287,116 $ 269,467

Approved by the Board March 3, 2017

Bryan Rempel, CPA, CA 
Board Chair

Paul Gilmore
Finance & Audit Committee Chair

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income
(in thousands of dollars)

Year Ended December 31 2016 2015

REVENUES

Regular assessments (Note 13) $ 20,636 $  19,492

Investment revenue (Note 13) 2,027 2,225

22,663 21,717

EXPENSES

Operating expenses (Note 14) 5,409 4,988

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 17,254 16,729

Income tax recovery (Note 8) (370) (302)

NET INCOME 17,624 17,031

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
net income

Unrealized (losses) gains on available-for-sale assets (31) 41

Income tax recovery (expense) 3 (4)

Realized gains (losses) on available-for-sale assets 8 (1)

Income tax (expense) recovery (1) -

Total items that may be reclassified (21) 36

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME, NET 
OF INCOME TAX (21) 36

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $ 17,603 $ 17,067
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
(in thousands of dollars)

Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive 

Income 

[Unrealized Gains 
(Losses) Available-
For-Sale Financial 

Assets] Total

Balance at January 1, 2015 $ 251,507 $ 86 $ 251,593

Net income 17,031 - 17,031

Other comprehensive income - 36 36

Total comprehensive income 17,031 36 17,067

Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 268,538 $ 122 $ 268,660

Balance at January 1, 2016 $ 268,538 $ 122 $ 268,660 

Net Income 17,624 - 17,624

Other comprehensive loss - (21) (21)

Total comprehensive income (loss) 17,624 (21) 17,603

Balance at December 31, 2016 $ 286,162 $ 101 $ 286,263
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(in thousands of dollars)

Year Ended December 31 2016 2015

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income $ 17,624 $ 17,031

Non-cash recovery � deferred income taxes (290) (1)

Non-cash expense � depreciation 106 144

Net (increase) decrease in assessments receivable (234) 257

Net increase in prepaid expenses (20) (12)

Net decrease (increase) in current net tax receivable 212 (382)

Net (decrease) increase in accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities (56) 21

Net increase in defined benefit obligation 105 47

Cash flows generated by operating activities 17,447 17,105

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net increase in investments, net of deferred tax liability (17,357) (17,208)

Purchase of property and equipment, net of disposal 
proceeds (53) (36)

Cash flows used in investing activities (17,410) (17,244)

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 37 (139)

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 876 1,015

CASH, END OF YEAR $ 913 $ 876

SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Income taxes (recovered) paid $ (296) $ 86
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise noted)

1 Nature of organization
The Deposit Guarantee Corporation of Manitoba (DGCM) is a deposit guarantee corporation 
established under The Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires Act of Manitoba (The Act). All of the 
operational activities of DGCM are focused on achieving its legislated objectives:

Guarantee deposits in Manitoba credit unions and caisses populaires (hereinafter credit unions)
Promote credit union development of sound business practices to protect them from financial 
losses
Ensure the credit unions operate under sound business practices

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, DGCM shall do such things as are necessary to enable a 
credit union assigned to it to satisfy the claims of the members of the credit union for withdrawals of 
deposits. The registered address of DGCM is 390-200 Graham Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada.

2 Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 3,
2017.

3 Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of T.S.F. Holdings Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary, which was incorporated for the purpose of purchasing and collecting loans 
guaranteed by DGCM under merger and liquidation agreements.

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for 
available-for-sale financial assets, which are measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

Cash
Cash consists of cash on hand, and chequing and demand balances with Credit Union Central of 
Manitoba (CUCM) and chartered banks.
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Regular assessments, special assessments, and financial 
assistance repayments
Credit union regular assessments, special assessments, and financial assistance repayments are
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

Credit union regular assessments, special assessments, and financial assistance repayments are 
recognized as follows:

Credit union regular assessments are recognized when earned. Regular assessments are 
determined quarterly, and accrued for monthly. Credit union payments are received quarterly.
Special assessments are recognized when earned. Special assessments are only charged if, in 
the opinion of DGCM�s Board, the Guarantee Fund is, or is about to be, impaired.
Financial assistance repayments are recognized when received.

Financial assets
All financial assets are recognized and derecognized on trade date where the purchase or sale of a 
financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the 
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus 
transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit and loss 
(FVTPL), which are initially measured at fair value.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets �at FVTPL�,
�available-for-sale� (AFS) financial assets, and �loans and receivables�. The classification depends on 

the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

i. Classification
Cash Loans and receivables
Investments Available-for-sale
Assessments receivable Loans and receivables

ii. Available-for-sale (AFS)
AFS financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as
available-for-sale, or that are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity or
held-for-trading investments. Except as mentioned below, AFS financial assets are carried
at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in accumulated other
comprehensive income until realized when the cumulative gain or loss is transferred to
income.

AFS financial assets that do not have quoted market prices in an active market are
recorded at cost.

Interest on interest-bearing AFS financial assets is calculated using the effective interest
method and recorded in investment revenue.

iii. Loans and receivables
Cash, certain other assets, and assessments receivable with fixed or determinable
payments are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are accounted for
at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income
is recognized by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when
the recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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iv. Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those designated as FVTPL, are regularly assessed on an
individual basis for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets
are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated
future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include but is not limited to:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments
it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-
organization

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment loss 
recognized is the difference between the asset�s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset�s original effective interest 

rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all 
financial assets.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative losses previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to net income in the period. If,
in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the 
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through net income to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed 
what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized.

v. Derecognition of financial assets
DGCM derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If DGCM neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, DGCM recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If DGCM retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, DGCM continues to recognize the
financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for proceeds received.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or �other financial liabilities�.

i. Classification
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities

ii. Other financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities. Other
financial liabilities are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method and
include all financial liabilities, other than derivative instruments.
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Effective interest method
DGCM uses the effective interest method to recognize interest income or expense which includes 
transaction costs or fees, premiums or discounts earned or incurred for financial instruments.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a debt instrument and 
of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net 
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Transaction Costs
Transaction costs are expensed as incurred for financial instruments classified as FVTPL.
Transaction costs for financial assets classified as AFS, loans and receivables, and other financial 
liabilities are netted against the carrying value of the asset or liability and are then recognized over 
the expected life of the instrument using the effective interest method.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
DGCM does not have finance leases.

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

Employee benefits

i. Defined contribution plan
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to
pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are
recognized as an employee benefit expense in net income in the periods during which
services are rendered by employees.

ii. Defined benefit plan
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution
plan. DGCM�s defined benefit plan is a retirement allowance, limited to a single future

obligation, as a proportion of an employee�s annual salary. DGCM�s net obligation is

calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return
for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its
present value. The rate used to discount post-employment benefit obligations is determined
by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on high-quality corporate
bonds. The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit
credit method. Termination benefits are recognized as an expense at the earlier of the
following dates:

when DGCM recognizes costs for a restructuring within the scope of IAS 37 that 
includes the payment of termination benefits, or
when DGCM can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits

If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the reporting period, then they are 
discounted to their present value.
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iii. Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are obligations that are expected to be settled wholly within
12 months of the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render related
services. These obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis.

Provision for financial assistance to credit unions

The provision for financial assistance to credit unions is based on potential losses that may arise due 
to merger, liquidation arrangements, or dissolution. The provision is established based on an
individual credit union�s probability of requirement for assistance and an assessment of the 
aggregate risk in the credit union Systems.

Assets acquired from merger/dissolution of credit unions
Loans and real property acquired as a result of merger or dissolution proceedings are recorded at 
estimated net realizable value.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax. Tax is recognized as an
expense or recovery in net income except to the extent that it relates to items that are recognized 
outside net income.

i. Current income tax
Current income tax is based on taxable income for the year. Taxable income differs from
income as reported in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income because of
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. DGCM�s current tax liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities using the tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

ii. Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable income. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable income will be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilized.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in its subsidiary except where it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable income against which to utilize
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
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period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which DGCM expects, at each balance 
sheet date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority and DGCM intends to settle its current tax assets and 
liabilities on a net basis.

Changes in accounting policies
DGCM adopted the narrow scope of amendments to IFRS for Annual Improvements 2012-2014 
Cycles, amendments to IAS 16 which clarify acceptable methods of depreciation, and the 
amendments to IAS 1 which clarify the existing presentation and disclosure requirements of IAS 1 
and provide guidance to assist entities in determining what information to disclose, and how that 
information is presented in the financial statements. The amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. These amendments did not result in a material impact 
on DGCM�s consolidated financial statements.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations, are not yet effective 
for the year ended December 31, 2016, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated 
financial statements.

IFRS 9

In July 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) finalized the reform of financial 
instruments accounting and issued IFRS 9 (as revised in 2014), which will supersede IAS 39 -
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in its entirety. Key requirements of IFRS 9 are:

Financial Assets � All recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 - Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are required to be subsequently measured at amortized 
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model whose 
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortized 
cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business 
model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial 
assets, and that have contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. All other debt investments and equity 
investments are measured at their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In 
addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in 
the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held-for-trading) in other comprehensive income, 
with only dividend income generally recognized in profit or loss.

Financial Liabilities � With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as FVTPL,
IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable 
to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the 
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability's credit risk in other comprehensive income would 
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a 
financial liability's credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the 
entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as FVTPL is 
presented in profit or loss.

Impairment Methodology � In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an 
expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under lAS 39. The expected 
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credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those 
expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. 
In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are 
recognized.

Hedge Accounting � In November 2013, a standard was issued on a new general hedge accounting 
model, together with corresponding disclosures about risk management activity for those applying 
hedge accounting. The new model represents a substantial overhaul of hedge accounting that will 
enable entities to better reflect their risk management activities in their financial statements.

The standard is effective January 1, 2018. DGCM is evaluating the impact this standard will have on 
its financial statements.

IFRS 15

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers which provides a 
single revenue recognition standard to align the financial reporting of revenue from contracts with 
customers (credit union assessments) and related costs.

The revenue arising from financial instruments is not required to apply the revenue recognition 
requirements in IFRS 15. A company would recognize revenue when it transfers goods or services to 
a customer in the amount of consideration the company expects to receive from the customer.

The standard is effective January 1, 2018. DGCM is evaluating the impact of the adoption of this 
standard.

IFRS 16

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 � Leases. The most significant change introduced by 
IFRS 16 is a single lessee accounting model, bringing leases on-balance sheet for lessees. IFRS 16 
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. DGCM is evaluating the impact 
this standard will have on its financial statements.

4 Critical accounting judgments and key 
sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of DGCM�s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management is
required to make judgments, estimates, and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

a) Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
There are no critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made
in the process of applying DGCM�s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on

the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
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b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

i. Provision for financial assistance to credit unions

Individual provisions for credit union assistance

Individual provisions and contingencies for financial assistance are recognized in 
accordance with IFRS. The process defined below will be applied quarterly at 
minimum, and more frequently if required. Credit union analysis will consider:

o an individual credit union�s risk rating as established by DGCM
o an individual credit union�s financial strength, including capital strength to absorb

potential losses and earning trends
o whether a credit union appears to have appropriately valued assets
o whether levels of collective and individual allowances appear reasonable
o provisions and contingencies related to assisted mergers and arrangements

DGCM has determined that there are no individual provisions for credit union 
assistance required.

Collective provision for credit union assistance

The collective accrual for financial assistance is based on five-year, ten-year, and 
twenty-year averages of loss experience and other components that consider capital 
shortfalls and insufficient capital levels. This will include management�s judgment 

based on historical information and other factors.

In addition, a collective provision may be deemed necessary based on DGCM�s best 

estimate of current aggregate risk to DGCM as determined by evaluating the following 
conditions:

o market and economic conditions
o credit union analysis
o historic loss experience

DGCM has determined that there is no collective provision for credit union assistance 
required.

ii. Estimates of fair values
Financial instrument carrying values reflect the prevailing market and the liquidity premiums
embedded within the market pricing methods DGCM relies upon.

Fair values of marketable securities and other investments classified as AFS are
determined with reference to quoted market price, within the bid/ask spread, primarily
provided by third party independent pricing sources. Where prices are not quoted in a
normally active market, fair values are determined by valuation models. DGCM maximizes
the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs when
measuring fair value. DGCM obtains quoted prices in active markets, when available, for
identical assets at the balance sheet date to measure marketable securities and other
investments at fair value.
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5 Cash
Cash includes cash on hand, and current accounts with CUCM, CIBC Mellon, and Scotiabank. Cash at 
the end of the reporting period as shown in the statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related 
items in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

As at December 31 2016 2015

Cash on hand 1 1
CUCM 847 826
Scotiabank 4 2
CIBC Mellon 61 47

913 876

6 Investments
Investments include guaranteed investment certificates (GICs), treasury bills, government bonds,
corporate bonds, and shares held in CUCM and Concentra Financial. A summary of investments as 
reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position is as follows:

As at December 31 2016 2015

GICs 10,099 10,158
Treasury bills 108,413 29,574
Government bonds 62,554 149,439
Corporate Bonds 99,068 73,627
Other investments 72 72

280,206 262,870

Assets pledged as security
GICs with CUCM with a carrying amount of $10,000 (2015: $10,000) have been pledged to secure 
an operating line of credit for DGCM. The pledge agreement is renewed annually. DGCM is not 
permitted to pledge these assets as security for other borrowings or to sell them to another entity.

7 Assessments receivable
Assessments receivable are classified as loans and receivables and therefore measured at amortized 
cost.

Assessments receivable refer to the outstanding balance, owed by credit unions, for the fourth quarter 
assessment, or any special assessment, charged by DGCM. Significantly all of the outstanding 
balances are collected within 31 days of year-end.  

As at December 31 2016 2015

Assessments receivable 5,249 5,015
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8 Income taxes
Income tax recognized in net income

Year ended December 31 2016 2015

Current tax
Current tax recovery in respect of the current year (84) (302)
Adjustments recognized in the current year in 

relation to the current tax of previous year - -
(84) (302)

Deferred tax
Deferred tax recovery recognized in the current 

year (286) -

Total tax recovery relating to continuing 
operations (370) (302)

The expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting income as follows:

Year ended December 31 2016 2015

Income from continuing operations 17,254 16,729

Income tax expense at statutory rate 1,898 1,840
Non-taxable credit union assessments (2,270) (2,143)
Non-deductible operating expenses

- 1
Change in income tax rates

- -
Adjustments recognized in the current year in 

relation to the current tax of previous years
12 -

(358) (302)
Adjustments recognized in the current year in 

relation to the deferred tax of prior years (12) -

Income tax (recovery) expense recognized in net 
income (370) (302)

The tax rate used for the 2016 and 2015 reconciliations above is the corporate rate of 11% and 11%
respectively payable on taxable income under tax law in Manitoba.

Income tax recognized in other comprehensive income

Year ended December 31 2016 2015

Deferred tax
Fair value re-measurement of AFS financial 

assets (3) 4

Total income tax expense recognized in other 
comprehensive income (3) 4
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Current tax assets and liabilities

As at December 31 2016 2015

Current tax assets
Tax refund receivable 84 296

Current tax liability
Income tax payable - -

84 296

Deferred tax balances
The following is the analysis of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position:

As at December 31 2016 2015

Deferred tax assets 335 48

Deferred tax liability 12 15

2015
Opening 
balance

Recognized 
in net 

income

Recognized in 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

Closing 
balance

Deferred tax assets/
(liabilities) in relation to:

Property and equipment (4) - - (4)
Defined benefit obligation 47 5 - 52
AFS financial assets (11) - (4) (15)

32 5 (4) 33
Tax losses - - - -
Other - - - -

32 5 (4) 33

2016
Opening 
balance

Recognized 
in net 

income

Recognized in 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

Closing 
balance

Deferred tax assets/
(liabilities) in relation to:

Property and equipment (4) - - (4)
Defined benefit obligation 52 12 - 64
Loss carryforwards - 275 - 275
AFS financial assets (15) - 3 (12)

33 287 3 323
Tax losses - - - -
Other - - - -

33 287 3 323
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9 Other assets
Other assets include prepaid expenses, accounts receivable, employee loans, and property and 
equipment. A summary of other assets as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position 
is as follows:

As at December 31 2016 2015

Prepaid expenses 73 56
Employee loans 5 2
Property and equipment 251 304

329 362

10 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities and therefore 
measured at amortized cost.

Accounts payable refers to trades payable and insured savings accounts. Trades payable are 
outstanding invoices to vendors, payable upon receipt. Insured savings accounts are deposits 
acquired through mergers of credit unions. Accrued liabilities refer to obligations to vendors where no 
invoice has been received.

As at December 31 2016 2015

Accounts payable 39 43
Insured savings accounts 13 15
Accrued liabilities 215 265

267 323

11 Post-employment plans
Defined contribution plans
DGCM contributes to two defined contribution retirement benefit plans for all qualifying employees. 
These benefit plans are operated by the Co-operative Superannuation Society and Great-West Life 
Assurance Company. DGCM is required to match employee�s contributions of a specified 

percentage of earnings to the benefit plans. The only obligation of DGCM with respect to the 
retirement benefit plans is to make specified contributions.

The total expense recognized in the income statement of $172 (2015: $158) represents contributions 
payable to these plans by DGCM at rates specified in the rules of the plans. As at December 31,
2016, all contributions due in respect of the 2016 and 2015 reporting periods had been remitted to 
the plans.  



Deposit Guarantee Corporation of Manitoba

2016 Consolidated Financial Statements

Defined benefit plan
DGCM operates an unfunded defined benefit plan, referred to as a retirement allowance, for 
qualifying employees. Under the plan, employees are entitled to a one-time retirement benefit 
varying between 17% and 50% of the final salary on attainment of a minimum retirement age of 55. 
No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees.

This benefit is self-insured, with no plan texts between DGCM and any third-party. The benefit exists 
outside the scope of provincial and federal legislation, and is not subject to any regulatory 
framework. DGCM is solely responsible for the governance of the benefit.

The risks associated with the benefit are strictly financial in nature, primarily driven by any 
concentration in age groups of employees. Current evaluations show no material concentration of 
age groupings at December 31, 2016.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the defined benefit obligation was carried out in October 2016
by Eckler Ltd. The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and related current service cost 
and past service cost, were measured using the projected unit credit method.

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

As at December 31 2016 2015

Discount rates 3.10% 3.85%
Expected rates of salary increase 4.00% 4.50%
Assumed retirement age 62 62

Amounts recognized in net income in respect to this defined benefit plan are as follows:

Year ended December 31 2016 2015

Current service cost 57 58
Actuarial (gains) losses recognized in the year 34 (28)
Past service costs - -
Interest costs 20 17

111 47

Actuarial gains and losses, and service costs, including curtailments and settlements, are recognized 
immediately through net income, and recorded in salaries and employee benefits in the schedule of 
consolidated operating expenses.

The amount included in the statement of financial position arising from DGCM�s obligation in respect 

of its defined benefit plan is the present value of the unfunded defined benefit obligation.

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation in the current period were as 
follows:

Year ended December 31 2016 2015

Opening defined benefit obligation 469 422

Current service cost 57 58
Actuarial (gains) losses recognized in the year 34 (28)
Past service costs - -
Interest costs 20 17
Benefits paid (6) -
Closing defined benefit obligation 574 469
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DGCM does not hold plan assets to offset the defined benefit obligation. Funding is provided from 
cash accounts to pay benefits over a period of up to 24 months following employee retirement.  

The maturity profile of the obligation is outlined as follows:

As at December 31
2016 2015

Within one year - 6
Later than one year and not later than five years 230 113
Later than five years 344 350

574 469

12 Contingent liabilities
As at December 31, 2016, DGCM guaranteed $26.3 billion (2015: $25.2 billion) in credit union
deposits. Based on its ongoing monitoring procedures, DGCM has concluded that a provision for such 
contingencies does not need to be established at this time.

As at December 31, 2016, DGCM has provided a loan indemnification with a maximum exposure of 
$545 (2015: $608). DGCM has concluded that a provision for loss does not need to be established at 
this time.

13 Revenue
Year ended December 31 2016 2015

Assessment revenue
Regular assessments

20,636 19,492
Investment revenue
Interest income � loans and receivables 25 32
Investment income � AFS 1,992 2,190
Realized gains and losses on disposal of 

marketable securities 8 1
Dividends received 2 2

2,027 2,225

22,663 21,717

14 Operating Expenses
Year ended December 31 2016 2015
Corporate governance 155 148
Salaries and benefits 3,480 3,198
Contract and professional fees 300 260
CUCM program funding 322 291
Occupancy 402 373
Administration 427 431
Travel 204 191
Credit union and caisse merger expense 2 2
Other 117 94

5,409 4,988
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15 Financial instruments
Class disclosure
The following is the disclosure of financial assets by class:

As at December 31 2016 2015

Loans and receivables
Cash 913 876
Assessments receivable 5,249 5,015
Prepaid expenses and employee loans 78 58

6,240 5,949
AFS
Investments 280,206 262,870

286,446 268,819

The following is the disclosure of financial liabilities by class:

As at December 31 2016 2015

Other financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 267 323

Capital risk management
DGCM manages its capital to maintain a capital structure that provides the flexibility to provide 
liquidity to support its obligation to guarantee deposits in credit unions.

The capital structure consists of DGCM equity. In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, 
DGCM has a $10,000 line of credit agreement with CUCM. The facility bears an interest rate of 
2.50%, payable on demand, subject to annual review on or before March 31, 2017.

DGCM�s capital management objective is to maintain total equity (retained earnings and 
accumulated other comprehensive income) within a range of 95 to 115 basis points (bps) of deposits 
in credit unions. This equity target range has been approved by the Superintendent of Financial 
Institutions Regulations Branch. The Board of Directors reviews DGCM�s equity position quarterly to 

ensure prudent positioning within the target range. Where the aggregate shortfall of credit union 
capital exceeds one-sixteenth of one percent of total deposits and accrued interest, DGCM shall net 
the shortfall against its equity for this calculation.

Financial risk management
DGCM is exposed to risks of varying degrees of significance which could affect its ability to support 
its obligation to guarantee deposits in credit unions. The main objectives of DGCM�s risk 

management processes are to ensure that risks are properly identified and that the capital base is 
adequate in relation to these risks. The principal financial risks to which DGCM is exposed include 
interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk.

DGCM seeks to minimize the effects of these risks by utilizing a conservative investment policy. The 
investment policy contains written principles, addressing interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity 
risk. The investment policy is approved by the Registrar, in compliance with subsection 144(h) of The 
Act. Compliance with policy is monitored by the external investment manager on a continuous basis.

The Finance department reports quarterly to the Board of Directors on policy compliance and risk 
exposures.
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i. Interest rate risk management
DGCM is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates that could affect the cash flows from
GICs and marketable securities at the time of maturity and reinvestment of individual
instruments. These fluctuations could affect the fair values of financial assets and liabilities,
and DGCM�s ability to support its obligation to guarantee deposits in credit unions.

To manage interest rate risk, DGCM�s investment policy restricts duration of the portfolio to
within 0.25 years of the FTSE TMX Canada Universe Bond Index. To further mitigate
interest rate risk, the policy permits the allocation of some or all of the portfolio into cash
and short-term investments with an aggregate duration within 0.10 years of the FTSE TMX
Canada 60-day T-Bill Index for protection from loss of principal and ensure sufficient cash
is held to finance the operations of DGCM.

DGCM may use derivative financial instruments to manage interest rate risk. No derivative
financial instruments were used during the year.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to 
interest rates for financial instruments at the end of the reporting period.  A 50 bps
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management�s assessment of the possible 

change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 bps higher/lower and all other variables were held 
constant, DGCM�s:

o net income for the year ended December 31, 2016, would increase/decrease by
$934/$870 (2015: increase/decrease by $907/$905). This is attributable to
DGCM�s exposure to interest rates on current accounts and maturing
investments, and

o other comprehensive income for the year would decrease/increase by $359
(2015: decrease/increase by $323) mainly as a result of the changes in the fair
value of AFS fixed rate instruments.

DGCM�s net income and comprehensive income sensitivity to interest rates has 
increased during the current period due to a larger investment portfolio.

ii. Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to DGCM. DGCM�s exposure to credit risk consists principally

of:

fixed income securities with federal, provincial and municipal governments, and 
corporations
GICs with CUCM
assessments receivable from credit unions

Measures are taken to mitigate each exposure to credit risk:

DGCM�s investment policy only permits holding marketable securities of counterparties 
with an investment grade rating of at least A(low), or its equivalent. This information is 
supplied by independent rating agencies.
DGCM�s policy is to limit investments in CUCM, to those, pledged as security for the 
line of credit agreement ($10,000 as at December 31, 2016).
DGCM monitors the financial strength of individual credit unions on a monthly basis.
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Assessments receivable from credit unions are unrated. Significantly all of the outstanding 
balances are collected within 31 days of year-end. Historically, DGCM has not experienced 
bad debts related to any of these counterparties.

The table below shows the credit risk exposure of investments, by credit rating, at the end 
of the reporting period using DBRS� credit rating symbols:

As at December 31 2016 2015

Credit rating
AAA 108,413 141,594
AA 73,755 56,688
A 87,867 54,358

270,035 252,640
Unrated
CUCM GICs 10,099 10,158
Investment Shares 72 72

10,171 10,230
280,206 262,870

The table below shows the credit risk exposure of investments, by issuer, at the end of the 
reporting period:

As at December 31 2016 2015

Government 170,967 179,013
Corporate 109,167 83,785

280,134 262,798
Investment Shares 72 72

280,206 262,870

iii. Liquidity risk management
Liquidity risk is the risk of having insufficient financial resources to meet DGCM�s cash and

funding requirements in support of the guarantee of deposits in credit unions. DGCM�s

approach to manage its liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have cash,
demand and GICs, and marketable securities which meet its annual capital target.

Management expects that DGCM�s principal sources of funds will be cash generated from

credit union regular assessments and interest earned on its investments to support its
financial obligation to guarantee deposits in credit unions.

A $10,000 line of credit is secured with CUCM to meet any short-term deficiencies in
regular assessments and interest earned.

In the event that the investment portfolio must be drawn upon, DGCM�s policy is that all
investments are easily disposable in the secondary bond market.



Deposit Guarantee Corporation of Manitoba

2016 Consolidated Financial Statements

The following table details DGCM�s expected maturity for its financial assets and financial 
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities 
of the financial assets and financial liabilities including interest that will be earned on those 
assets and liabilities. Excluded from the table below are investment shares held with 
CUCM and Concentra Financial totaling $72 (2015: $72).

As at December 31 2016 2015

Financial assets
Less than three months 182,008 167,020
Three to six months 51,681 79,158
Six months to one year 39,271 8,265
One to five years 8,087 9,231
Over five years - -

281,047 263,674

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are due within one year.

iv. Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortized cost

DGCM considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recognized at amortized cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values.

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of 
measuring fair value

DGCM has categorized its assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value on a 
recurring basis, based on the priority of the inputs to the valuation techniques used to 
measure fair value, into a three level fair value hierarchy. Financial assets and 
financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis on the balance sheet are 
categorized as follows:

Level 1: Fair value measurements utilize observable, quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that DGCM has the ability to access. 
Assets utilizing Level 1 inputs include cash and treasury bills.

Level 2: Fair value measurements utilize inputs other than quoted prices included in 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 
assets include government bonds and corporate bonds, which use quoted prices for 
similar assets and liabilities in active markets as inputs for valuation. Level 2 assets 
also include GICs, which use interest rates and yield curves that are observed at 
commonly quoted intervals as inputs for valuations.

Level 3: Fair value measurements utilize one or more significant inputs that are not 
based on observable market inputs and include situations where there is little, if any, 
market activity for the asset or liability. Assets utilizing Level 3 are limited to other 
investments and are held at cost, which have been determined as representing fair 
value at the end of the reporting period.
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The following table presents DGCM�s assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value 
on a recurring basis. There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3, 
nor were there changes to the Level 3 assets in the current year; therefore a continuity 
schedule has not been provided.

As at December 31, 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets measured at fair value
Cash 876 - - 876
Treasury bills 29,574 - - 29,574
Government bonds - 149,439 - 149,439
Corporate bonds - 73,627 - 73,627
GICs - 10,158 - 10,158
Other investments - - 72 72
Total assets measured at      

fair value on a recurring basis 30,450 233,224 72 263,746

As at December 31, 2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets measured at fair value
Cash 913 - - 913
Treasury bills 108,413 - - 108,413
Government bonds - 62,554 - 62,554
Corporate bonds - 99,068 - 99,068
GICs - 10,099 - 10,099
Other investments - - 72 72
Total assets measured at      

fair value on a recurring basis 109,326 171,721 72 281,119

Liabilities measured at fair value
There are no liabilities carried at fair value on a recurring basis.

16 Related party transactions
Loans to related parties
Key management personnel are defined as the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Risk Officer, Chief 
Financial Officer, and Chief Operations Officer.

DGCM provides interest free loans to employees for:

medical equipment not covered under the insured benefits package and necessary for effective 
performance of their duties
computer equipment for the employee’s own use and consistent with the technology utilized by 

DGCM

The maximum loan size is $8, repayable by payroll deduction over a maximum period of three years.

Outstanding loans to key management personnel at the end of 2016 was nil (2015: nil).
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Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel is determined by the Board of Directors. The 
aggregate remuneration of key management personnel during the year was as follows:

Year ended December 31 2016 2015

Salaries 771 759
Short-term benefits 25 32
Post-employment benefits 102 78

898 869

Board members� remuneration and expenses
The remuneration of the Board of Directors is determined by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. The
remuneration of board members during the year was as follows:

Year ended December 31 2016 2015

Board member remuneration 113 102
Expenses 42 46

155 148

17 Operating lease arrangements
Lease arrangements
DGCM is the lessee on an operating lease related to a six-year agreement for office space. This 
agreement expires on December 31, 2018. DGCM has the option to renew the lease for one 
additional term of five years at the expiration of the existing term.

DGCM is the lessee on an operating lease related to a month-to-month agreement for a disaster 
recovery backup site. There is no expiry date on this lease agreement. DGCM is the lessee on 
operating leases related to four-year agreements for two corporate vehicles. The leases will expire 
February 23, 2017 and February 6, 2020. DGCM has the option to purchase the leased vehicles.

Payments recognized as an expense
DGCM recognized $197 (2015: $187) in lease payments for the year.

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

As at December 31 2016 2015

No later than one year 186 186
Later than one year and not later than five years 194 365
Later than five years - -

380 551

No liabilities have been recognized in respect of non-cancellable operating lease commitments.
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Management Report
For the year ended March 31, 2017

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management of the Manitoba Hydro-Electric 
Board (the corporation), who are responsible for the integrity, consistency and reliability of the information presented.  
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates and assumptions based 
on management’s judgments, particularly when transactions affecting the current period cannot be finalized with certainty 
until future periods. Estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience, current conditions and various other 
assumptions believed to be reasonable in the circumstances. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
includes information regarding the estimated impact of future events and transactions. Actual results in the future may 
differ from the present assessment of this information because future events and circumstances may not occur as expected. 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared within reasonable limits of materiality in light of information 
available up to July 5, 2017.

In meeting its responsibility for the reliability of financial information, management maintains and relies on a comprehensive 
system of internal controls, which is designed to provide reasonable assurance that the corporation’s assets are safeguarded 
and appropriately accounted for, that financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate, and that transactions are properly 
authorized and executed. The system includes formal policies and procedures as well as the appropriate delegation of 
authority and segregation of responsibilities within the organization. An internal audit function evaluates the effectiveness 
of these controls and reports its findings to management and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors, through the Audit Committee, is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibility 
for financial reporting and internal controls. The Audit Committee, which is comprised of outside and unrelated directors, 
meets periodically with management, the internal auditors and the external auditors to satisfy itself that each group has 
properly discharged its responsibility with respect to internal controls and financial reporting. The Audit Committee reviews 
the consolidated financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis and recommends their approval to the 
Board of Directors. The external auditors have full and open access to the Audit Committee, with and without the presence 
of management, to discuss their audit and their findings as to the integrity of the financial reporting and the effectiveness 
of the system of internal controls.

The consolidated financial statements were reviewed by the Audit Committee, and on their recommendation, were approved 
by the Board of Directors. The consolidated financial statements have been examined by Ernst & Young LLP, Chartered 
Professional Accountants, as appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. The external auditors’ responsibility is to 
express their opinion on whether the consolidated financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. The Auditors’ Report outlines the scope of their examination and their opinion.

On behalf of management:

Kelvin Shepherd, P. Eng 					  Jamie McCallum
President & Chief Executive Officer			 Chief Finance & Strategy Officer				

Winnipeg, Canada
July 5, 2017

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed 
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Board of Directors of Manitoba Hydro-Electric Board

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Manitoba Hydro-Electric Board, 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2017, and the consolidated 
statements of income, comprehensive loss, changes in equity, and cash flows for the year then ended,  
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion  
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness  
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well  
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for  
our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Manitoba Hydro-Electric Board as at March 31, 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Winnipeg, Canada, 
July 5, 2017							

Chartered Professional Accountants
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Consolidated Statement of Income
For the year ended March 31

millions of Canadian dollars

Notes 2017 2016

Revenues
Domestic 

Electric  1 419  1 399 

Gas  342  353 

Extraprovincial 5  460  415 

Other 6  106  91 

 2 327  2 258 

Expenses
Cost of gas sold  183  181 

Finance expense 7  645  620 

Operating and administrative 8  608  614 

Depreciation and amortization 9  402  394 

Water rentals and assessments  131  126 

Fuel and power purchased 10  132  117 

Capital and other taxes 11  135  123 

Other expenses 12  104  114 

Finance income  (17)  (23)

 2 323  2 266 

Net income (loss) before net movement in regulatory balances  4  (8)

Net movement in regulatory balances 20  55  47 

Net Income  59  39 

Net income (loss) attributable to:

Manitoba Hydro  71  49 

Non-controlling interests 28  (12)  (10)

 59  39 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



The Manitoba Hydro-Electric Board 66th Annual Report

Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31

millions of Canadian dollars

Notes 2017  2016

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 13  646  955 

Accounts receivable and accrued revenue 14  385  372 

Prepaid expenses  123  40 

Inventory 15  108  117 

 1 262  1 484 

Property, Plant and Equipment 16  19 757  17 208 

Non-Current Assets
Goodwill  107  107 

Intangible assets 18  293  194 

Loans and other receivables 19  353  300 

 753  601 

Total assets before regulatory deferral balance  21 772  19 293 

Regulatory deferral balance 20  566  486 

Total assets and regulatory deferral balance  22 338  19 779 

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

H. Sanford Riley Michael C. Pyle, MBA

Chair of the Board Chair of the Audit Committee

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed 
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Notes 2017  2016

Liabilities and Equity
Current Liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt 21  336  326 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 22  1 087  722 

Other liabilities 23  83  80 

Accrued interest  114  104 

 1 620  1 232 

Long-Term Debt 21  16 102  14 201 

Non-Current Liabilities
Other long-term liabilities 24  638  655 

Employee future benefits 25  818  859 

Deferred revenue 26  653  535 

Provisions 27  70  53 

 2 179  2 102 

Total liabilities  19 901  17 535 

Equity
Retained earnings  2 899  2 828 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (709)  (776)

Equity attributable to Manitoba Hydro  2 190  2 052 

Non-controlling interests 28  170  140 

Total equity  2 360  2 192 

Total liabilities and equity before regulatory deferral balance  22 261  19 727 

Regulatory deferral balance 20  77  52 

Total liabilities, equity and regulatory deferral balance  22 338  19 779 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31

millions of Canadian dollars

2017 2016

Operating Activities

Cash receipts from customers  2 314  2 331 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (875)  (988)

Interest received  17  23 

Interest paid  (584)  (582)

Cash provided by operating activities  872  784 

Investing Activities

Additions to property, plant and equipment  (2 924)  (2 322)

Additions to intangible assets  (122)  (32)

Additions to regulatory deferral balances  (88)  (90)

Contributions received  134  85 

Cash paid to the City of Winnipeg  (16)  (16)

Cash paid for mitigation obligations  (21)  (33)

Cash paid for major development obligations  (11)  (22)

Other  12  (4)

Cash used for investing activities  (3 036)  (2 434)

Financing Activities

Proceeds from long-term debt  2 186  2 165 

Retirement of long-term debt  (320)  (362)

Repayment from (advances to) external entities  (53)  164 

Proceeds from partnership issuances  42  30 

Sinking fund investment withdrawals  146  246 

Sinking fund investment purchases  (146)  (132)

Cash provided by financing activities  1 855  2 111 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (309)  461 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  955  494 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  646  955 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the year ended March 31

millions of Canadian dollars

2017 2016

Net Income  59  39 

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Items that will not be reclassified to income

Net experience gains (losses) on pensions  94  (8)

Items that will be reclassified to income

Cash flow hedges - unrealized foreign exchange losses on debt  (47)  (47)

Items that have been reclassified to income

Cash flow hedges - realized foreign exchange losses (gains) on debt  20  (1)

 67  (56)

Comprehensive Income (Loss)  126  (17)

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:

Manitoba Hydro  138  (7)

Non-controlling interests  (12)  (10)

 126  (17)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
 millions of Canadian dollars 

Notes
Retained 
earnings

 Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss)

Manitoba 
Hydro

Non-
controlling 

interests
 Total 

equity

 Balance as at April 1, 2015  2 779  (720)  2 059  120  2 179 

 Net income (loss)  49  -  49  (10)  39 

 Other comprehensive loss  -  (56)  (56)  -  (56)

 Comprehensive income (loss)  49  (56)  (7)  (10)  (17)

 Change in ownership interest 28  -  -  -  30  30 

 Balance as at March 31, 2016  2 828  (776)  2 052  140  2 192 

 Net income (loss)  71  -  71  (12)  59 

 Other comprehensive income  -  67  67  -  67 

 Comprehensive income (loss)  71  67  138  (12)  126 

 Change in ownership interest 28  -  -  -  42  42 

 Balance as at March 31, 2017  2 899  (709)  2 190  170  2 360 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2017

(in millions of Canadian dollars)

Note 1	 Reporting entity

The Manitoba Hydro-Electric Board and the Manitoba Power Commission were amalgamated in 1961 by 
enactment of The Manitoba Hydro Act to form a Crown corporation in the Province of Manitoba named 
Manitoba Hydro (the corporation). Manitoba Hydro’s mandate is to provide for the continuance of a supply of 
energy adequate for the needs of the Province and to engage in and to promote economy and efficiency in 
the development, generation, transmission, distribution, supply and end-use of energy. The head office of the 
corporation is located at 360 Portage Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba. 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Manitoba Hydro and its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries including Centra Gas Manitoba Inc. (Centra), Minell Pipelines Ltd. (Minell), Manitoba Hydro 
International Ltd. (MHI), Manitoba Hydro Utility Services Ltd. (MHUS), Teshmont LP Holdings Ltd. 
(which has a 40% ownership interest in the Teshmont Consultants Limited Partnership) and 6690271 
Manitoba Ltd. (a subsidiary that was formed to participate in the development of a new transmission 
line in the U.S.). These consolidated financial statements also include Manitoba Hydro’s 67% ownership 
interest in the Wuskwatim Power Limited Partnership (WPLP) and its 75% ownership interest  
in the Keeyask Hydropower Limited Partnership (KHLP). For purposes of consolidation, all significant 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 

Note 2	 Basis of presentation

(a)	 Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

These consolidated financial statements were approved for issue by the Manitoba Hydro-Electric 
Board on July 5, 2017.

(b)	 Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the 
following material items in the consolidated statement of financial position:

• Financial instruments accounted for in accordance with the financial instrument categories
defined in Note 3(n)

• Employee future benefits defined in Note 3(k)
• Provisions defined in Note 3(l)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

(c)	 Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of Canadian dollars, the functional 
currency of the corporation.

(d)	 Use of estimates and judgment

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported as assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

Areas of significant management estimates are outlined in the following summary and significant 
accounting policies included in Note 3:

• Accrued revenue for domestic electricity and natural gas deliveries not yet billed at year-end and
allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 3(b))

• Useful life estimates for depreciable assets (Notes 3(g), 16 and 18)
• Measurement of accrued liabilities (Note 22)
• Measurement of other long-term liabilities and underlying estimates of future cash flows (Note 24)
• Measurement of employee future benefits and underlying actuarial assumptions (Notes 3(k) and 25)
• Measurement of provisions and underlying estimates of future cash flows (Notes 3(l) and 27)
• Fair value measurement of financial instruments (Notes 3(n) and 29)

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Actual amounts could differ 
from those estimates, but differences are not expected to be material. 

Note 3	 Significant accounting policies

(a)	 Regulatory deferral accounts

In January 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued an interim standard, 
IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts, which provides guidance on accounting for the effects of rate 
regulation under IFRS. This guidance allows entities that conduct rate-regulated activities to continue to 
recognize regulatory deferral accounts. This interim standard is effective for financial reporting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2016. The corporation has elected to adopt IFRS 14 in its consolidated 
financial statements. The interim standard is only intended to provide temporary guidance until the IASB 
completes its comprehensive project on rate-regulated activities. IFRS 14 remains in force until either 
repealed or replaced by permanent guidance on rate-regulated accounting from the IASB.
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For the year ended March 31, 2017

(in millions of Canadian dollars)

Regulatory deferral account balances usually represent timing differences between the recognition of 
items of income or expenses for regulatory purposes and the recognition of those items for financial 
reporting purposes. Regulatory deferral account balances arising from rate-regulated activities are 
recognized and measured separately if they do not meet the criteria to be recognized as an asset or 
liability in accordance with other standards. The balances recorded as regulatory deferral balances will 
be recovered or refunded in future rates, based on approvals by the Public Utilities Board of Manitoba 
(PUB). These amounts would otherwise have been included in the determination of net income in the 
year they are incurred.

Under rate regulation, the prices charged for the sale of electricity and natural gas within Manitoba 
are subject to review and approval by the PUB. The rate-setting process is designed such that rates 
charged to electricity and natural gas customers recover costs incurred by Manitoba Hydro in providing 
electricity and natural gas service plus a sufficient contribution to retained earnings. 

The following regulatory deferral account balances are initially recorded at cost and amortized  
on a straight-line basis using the specified periods: 

Demand side management (DSM) programs	 10	 years*
Site restoration costs	 15	 years
Deferred taxes	 30	 years
Acquisition costs	 30	 years
Regulatory costs	 up to 5	 years

*The DSM regulatory deferral debit balance includes the differences between actual and planned
spending on electric and gas DSM for the 2013 to 2017 fiscal years with a corresponding regulatory 
deferral credit balance. The disposition of these balances will be determined by the PUB at a future 
regulatory proceeding.

The Affordable Energy Fund is amortized to the consolidated statement of income at the same rate as 
the obligation is drawn down. The purchased gas variance account (PGVA) is recovered or refunded over 
a period determined by the PUB. 

The amortization of the loss on disposal of assets, change in depreciation methodologies from average 
service life (ASL) to equal life group (ELG), deferred ineligible overhead and the impact of the 2014 
depreciation study will be determined by the PUB at a future regulatory proceeding. 
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(b)	 Revenue recognition

Domestic electricity and natural gas revenues are recognized upon delivery to the customer and charged 
in accordance with rates approved by the PUB. Unbilled revenues are recorded based on an estimated 
amount of electricity and natural gas delivered and not yet billed at year-end.

Extraprovincial electricity revenue is recorded upon the delivery of energy or settlement of the financial 
transaction.

Consulting, technology and maintenance services and other miscellaneous revenue is recognized when 
services are provided or goods are shipped to the customer. Revenue from fixed price contracts is 
recognized under the percentage-of-completion method. The percentage of completion is determined 
by comparing the costs incurred at the consolidated statement of financial position date to the total 
estimated costs, which include costs incurred plus anticipated costs for completing a contract.

Deferred revenue related to customer contributions is recognized over the life of the related asset  
for which the contribution was received.

(c)	 Cost of gas

Natural gas is recorded at purchased cost upon delivery to gas customers. 

(d)	 Finance expense and finance income

Finance expense includes interest on short and long-term borrowings and the provincial debt guarantee 
fee paid to the Province of Manitoba, foreign exchange gains and losses, accretion expense on provisions 
and other long-term liabilities, offset by interest capitalized for those qualifying assets under construction. 
All borrowing costs are recognized using the effective interest rate method. Finance income includes 
interest earned on loans and advances to external parties and temporary investments.

(e)	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(f)	 Inventory

Materials and supplies, fuel and natural gas inventories are valued at the lower of average cost and net 
realizable value. Replacement cost is used as management’s best estimate of the net realizable value for 
materials and supplies and fuel inventory. 
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(in millions of Canadian dollars)

Materials, supplies, fuel and natural gas are charged to inventory when purchased and not immediately 
required for use. These inventories are expensed or capitalized when used. Those materials, supplies and 
fuel purchased for immediate use are expensed directly.

(g)	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (PP&E) is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes 
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed 
assets includes the cost of materials, contracted services, direct labour and interest applied at the 
weighted average cost of debt outstanding during the period. Interest is allocated to construction until 
a capital project becomes operational or a decision is made to abandon, cancel or indefinitely defer 
construction. Once the transfer to in-service property, plant and equipment is made, interest allocated 
to construction ceases and depreciation and interest charged to operations commence.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line remaining life basis using the ELG procedure. The major 
components of generating stations are depreciated over the lesser of the remaining life of the major 
components or the remaining life of the associated generating station.

Generation			   4 – 125 years
Transmission lines		 10 –   85 years
Substations			  15 –   65 years
Distribution systems		 10 –   75 years
Other				    5 – 100 years

The estimated service lives of the assets are based upon depreciation studies conducted periodically  
by the corporation. A depreciation study was last completed in 2015. 

The net gain or loss on retirement of these assets is charged to depreciation in the period incurred and 
then removed through net movement in regulatory balances to a regulatory debit balance. When the 
costs of removing an asset from service are incurred to facilitate the installation of a new asset, the costs 
to remove the asset from service are added to the costs of the new asset. When an asset is retired from 
service and not replaced with a similar asset, the costs of removing the asset from service are treated 
similarly to the net gain or loss on retirement of assets. 

A reasonable estimate of the present value of the future cash flows required to retire an asset from 
service is recorded when the recognition criteria for a provision (Note 3(l)(i)) are met. An equivalent 
amount is added to the carrying cost of the related asset and is amortized over the asset’s remaining 
service life. The discount rate used to measure the cash flows reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
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(h)	 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the amount of the corporation’s investments in Centra and Winnipeg Hydro over 
and above the fair market value of the identified net assets acquired. The goodwill balance is evaluated 
annually to determine whether any impairment has occurred.

(i)	 Intangible assets

Intangible assets include computer application development costs, land easements and transmission 
rights. Intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. The cost of computer 
application development includes software, direct charges for labour, materials, contracted services 
and interest during development applied at the weighted average cost of debt outstanding during the 
period. The corporation’s intangible assets have finite useful lives and are amortized over their useful 
lives on a straight-line basis with the amortization included in depreciation and amortization expense. 
The expected useful lives are as follows:

Computer application developmen	 5 - 11	 years
Land easements	 75	 years
Transmission rights	 1 - 12	 years

Transmission rights are amortized over the contractual period of the right plus a one-term renewal. The 
estimated service lives of computer application development and land easements are based upon depreciation 
studies conducted periodically by the corporation. A depreciation study was last completed in 2015.

(j)	 Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets subject to impairment testing include goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant 
and equipment. The corporation tests goodwill and material intangible assets under construction at least 
annually for impairment. Assets subject to depreciation and amortization are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment test is performed by comparing the carrying amount of the asset or cash generating unit 
(CGU) to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is calculated as the higher of the fair value less 
costs to sell and the present value of the future cash flows from an asset or CGU. The corporation has 
determined its CGUs to be at the segment level. This is the lowest level for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows as rates for electricity and natural gas revenue are set by the PUB at the segment 
level. An impairment would be recognized as a charge against operations in the year of impairment if the 
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.
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(in millions of Canadian dollars)

(k)	 Employee future benefits

Manitoba Hydro provides future benefits, including pension and other benefits, to both existing and 
retired employees.

The costs and obligations of defined benefit pension plans and other benefits are determined by an 
independent actuary using the accrued benefit actuarial cost method and reflect management’s best 
estimate of future compensation increases, service lives and inflation. Pension expense consists of the 
cost of pension benefits earned during the year and net interest income or expense. Interest income 
on plan assets is determined by multiplying the fair value of the plan assets by the discount rate used 
to determine the accrued benefit obligation at the start of the annual reporting period. This considers 
any changes in the plan assets held during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. 
Interest expense on the accrued benefit obligation is determined by multiplying the accrued benefit 
obligation by the discount rate used at the start of the annual reporting period.

Experience gains or losses on the asset and actuarial gains or losses on the obligation are recognized 
in other comprehensive income (OCI) in the period in which they occur. Past service costs, which arise 
when a change is made to plan benefits, are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Other future benefits earned by employees include vacation, vested sick leave, severance and retirement 
health plans. Where applicable, the future costs of these benefits are determined by an independent 
actuary and reflect management’s best estimates.

(l)	 Provisions

In accordance with International Accounting Standards (IAS) 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets, a provision is required to be recognized where there is a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the timing or amount of which are uncertain.

(i)	 Asset retirement obligations

Asset retirement obligations are estimated by discounting the expected future cash flows at  
a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as  
a finance expense.

(ii)	 Affordable Energy Fund

The Affordable Energy Fund was determined based on Provincial Legislation. The timing  
of disbursements is uncertain due to the unpredictability of future customer participation.
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(iii)	 Mitigation

Provisions arising from Manitoba Hydro’s mitigation program are recognized when there 
is an expectation that expenditures will be incurred to address the adverse effects of past 
hydroelectric development on Indigenous and other communities. These provisions are 
based on management’s best estimate of the consideration required to settle the obligation.  
The corporation reviews its estimates of future mitigation expenditures on an ongoing basis.

(iv)	 Other provisions

Other provisions have been established for obligations discovered, which require recognition in 
the financial statements due to the likelihood of settlement and the presence of an obligation, 
either from past events or constructive in nature.

(m)	 Government grants

Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance they will be received and 
the corporation will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. Government grants that 
compensate the corporation for expenses incurred are recognized in profit or loss in the same period in 
which the expenses are recognized. Grants that compensate the corporation for the cost of an asset are 
recorded as deferred revenue and recognized in other revenue over the service life of the related asset.

(n)	 Financial instruments

All financial instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition as of the trade date. Transaction 
costs are included in the initial carrying amount of financial instruments except for those financial 
instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition of financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss are expensed as 
incurred. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on the classification of the instrument. Financial 
instruments are classified into one of the following categories: loans and receivables, fair value through 
profit or loss, available-for-sale or other financial liabilities.

Financial instruments classified as loans and receivables and other financial liabilities are carried at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method of amortization. Available-for-sale financial assets 
are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recorded in OCI until the 
instrument is derecognized or impaired. Financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or 
loss are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income in the period in which they arise.
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Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are subject to impairment testing at the end of each 
reporting period. Impairment losses are recorded when there is objective evidence that impairment has 
occurred due to one or more events such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, or 
significant financial difficulty experienced by the counterparty. Trade receivables that are not assessed 
for impairment individually are assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of 
impairment includes the corporation’s past historical loss rates applied to groups for which the historical 
loss rates were observed.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced with substantially different terms or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as derecognition 
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability is recorded at fair value. The differences in the 
respective carrying amounts are recognized as gains or losses in net income.

(o)	 Foreign currency translation

Revenues and expenses resulting from transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Canadian 
dollar equivalents at exchange rates approximating those in effect at the transaction date.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at 
the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date. Translation gains and losses are credited or charged 
to finance expense in the current period except for long-term debt obligations in hedging relationships 
with future export revenues. Translation gains and losses for long-term debt obligations in hedging 
relationships with future export revenues are recorded in OCI until such time that the hedged export 
revenues are realized, at which time accumulated exchange gains and losses are credited or charged  
to finance expense.

(p)	 Derivatives

The corporation does not engage in derivative trading or speculative activities. All derivative instruments 
are carried at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position with the exception of those 
that were entered into for the purpose of physical receipt or delivery in accordance with the corporation’s 
expected normal purchases and sales. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are not designated in a 
hedging relationship and do not qualify for the normal purchase and sale exemption are recorded in the 
consolidated statement of income.
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(q)	 Hedges

The corporation has designated cash flow hedges linking financial instruments to specific assets and 
forecasted transactions. Long-term cash flow hedges have been established between U.S. long-term 
debt balances and future U.S. export revenues as well as between U.S. interest payments on dual 
currency bonds and future U.S. export revenues. The corporation documents the relationship between 
the hedging instrument and the hedged item and assesses at inception, and on an ongoing basis, the 
effectiveness of the hedging relationship.

(r)	 Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests represent the outstanding ownership interests attributable to third parties in 
the corporation’s limited partnerships. The portion of the equity not owned by the corporation is reflected 
as non-controlling interests within the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial position. 
The portion of the net income or net loss attributable to the parent and non-controlling interests is 
reported on the consolidated statement of income.

Note 4	 Future accounting pronouncements

The following new standards and amendments are not yet effective for the year ended March 31, 2017, and 
have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. The corporation does not have 
any plans to early adopt the new standards and the full extent of the impact on adoption of the following 
standards is not known at this time:

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments was finalized in July 2014 and replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised guidance for the classification and measurement 
of financial assets and liabilities, a new expected credit loss model to measure impairment of financial 
assets and significant improvements in hedge accounting. It also carries forward the guidance on 
recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39. This new standard is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. 

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers was issued in May 2014 and replaces IAS 18 Revenue 
and IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers. The standard 
provides a single five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers to determine when 
to recognize revenue and at what amount. The underlying principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity 
recognizes revenue that shows the transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount that the 
entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. This new standard is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. 
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IFRS 16 – Leases

IFRS 16 Leases was issued in January 2016 and replaces current lease accounting requirements under 
IFRS. The standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring the recognition of assets and 
liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low 
value. This new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier 
application is permitted if IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers has also been applied. 

Note 5	 Extraprovincial revenue
2017 2016

Dependable sales 249 206
Opportunity sales 202 197
Other 9 12

460 415

Dependable sales are sourced from Manitoba Hydro’s hydraulic energy available during lowest water conditions 
and typically with a duration of greater than six months. Opportunity sales are based on excess energy, are 
generally over shorter periods and are transacted primarily in markets operated by an independent system 
operator such as the Midcontinent Independent System Operator. 

The majority of extraprovincial revenue is from sales to the U.S. The average effective exchange rate for the 
year was $1.00 U.S. = $1.31 Canadian (2016 - $1.00 U.S. = $1.30 Canadian). 

Note 6	 Other revenue
2017 2016

Consulting, technology and maintenance services  56  57 
Customer contributions  18  15 
Miscellaneous revenue  32  19 

 106  91 

Consulting, technology and maintenance services consist of professional consulting, operations, maintenance 
and project management services provided to energy sectors world-wide. 

Customer contributions are the recognition of deferred revenue related to contributions in aid of construction 
(Note 26) and the recovery of period costs from customers. 
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Note 7	 Finance expense
2017 2016

Interest on debt  711  654 
Provincial debt guarantee fee  136  122 
Accretion  29  30 
Interest capitalized  (248)  (177)
Foreign exchange gain (loss)  17  (9)

 645  620 

The Provincial debt guarantee fee during the year was 1.00% of the corporation’s total outstanding debt 
guaranteed by the Province of Manitoba (2016 - 1.00%). Interest was capitalized during the year at 4.89% 
(2016 - 5.03%). 

Note 8	 Operating and administrative
2017 2016

Salaries and benefits  457  461 
External services  99  99 
Materials, motor vehicles and supplies  35  35 
Other  17  19 

 608  614 

Additional salaries and benefits are included in other expenses (Note 12) in the amount of $19 million  
(2016 - $16 million).

Note 9	 Depreciation and amortization
2017 2016

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 16)  383  366 
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 18)  22  22 
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (3)  6 

 402  394 
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Note 10	 Fuel and power purchased
2017 2016

Wind purchases  73  63 
Transmission charges 46 43
Thermal fuel purchases 8 8
Power purchases 5 3

 132  117 

Note 11	 Capital and other taxes
2017 2016

Corporate capital tax  84  72 
Property tax and grants in lieu of tax  38  37 
Payroll tax  13  13 

 135  123 

Note 12	 Other expenses
2017 2016

Demand side management expenses  61  64 
Consulting, technology and maintenance expenses  33  38 
Restructuring costs 4 -
Miscellaneous  6  12 

 104  114 

Of the total other expenses, $67 million (2016 - $72 million) are subsequently deferred in regulatory deferral 
balances through net movement in regulatory balances (Note 20). 
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Note 13	 Cash and cash equivalents
2017 2016

Temporary investments  525  820 
Cash  116  132 
Restricted cash  5  3 

 646  955 

Temporary investments consist of cash invested with the Province of Manitoba and have a maturity of less 
than 30 days. Restricted cash consists of deposits held for letters of guarantees for customer contracts, 
callable at any time. 

Note 14	 Accounts receivable and accrued revenue
2017 2016

Trade accounts receivable  249  241 

Accrued revenue  85  79 
Current portion of loans and other receivables (Note 19)  21  22 
Other receivables  21  22 
Taxes receivable  20  18 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  (11)  (10)

 385  372 

Note 15	 Inventory
2017 2016

Materials and supplies  66  66 
Natural gas 25  32
Fuel  17  19 

 108  117 

Inventory recognized as an expense during the year was $41 million (2016 - $39 million). The write-down 
of inventory during 2017 was $1 million (2016 - nil). No reversals of write-downs occurred during the year 
(2016 - nil). 
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Note 16	 Property, plant and equipment

Generation
Transmission 

lines Substations
Distribution 

systems Other
Construction 

in progress Total

Cost or deemed cost

Balance, April 1, 2015  5 827  737  2 187  2 605  917  3 278  15 551 

Additions  135  13  82  196  47  1 889  2 362 

Disposals and/or retirements  (10)  -  (4)  (14)  (4)  -  (32)

Assets placed in service*  154  12  105  37  22  (330)  - 

Transfers to (from) PP&E  -  1  2  -  (3)  -  - 

Balance, March 31, 2016  6 106  763  2 372  2 824  979  4 837  17 881 

Additions  119  22  36  218  53  2 519  2 967 

Disposals and/or retirements  (7)  (3)  (5)  (15)  (18)  -  (48)

Assets placed in service*  47  15  87  64  32  (245)  - 

Transfers to (from) PP&E  (1)  1  1  (4)  1  (25)  (27) 

Balance, March 31, 2017  6 264  798  2 491  3 087  1 047  7 086  20 773 

Accumulated depreciation

Balance, April 1, 2015  119  13  75  71  51  -  329 

Depreciation expense  128  13  85  84  56  -  366

Disposals and/or retirements  (8)  -  (5)  (7)  (2)  -  (22)

Balance, March 31, 2016  239  26  155  148  105  -  673 

Depreciation expense  130  14  89  89  61  -  383 

Disposals and/or retirements  (6)  (1)  (6)  (10)  (17)  -  (40)

Balance, March 31, 2017  363  39  238  227  149  -  1 016 

Net book value

Balance, March 31, 2016  5 867  737  2 217  2 676  874  4 837  17 208 

Balance, March 31, 2017  5 901  759  2 253  2 860  898  7 086  19 757 

*Represents projects that were in construction in progress at the beginning of the year.

Included in additions is interest capitalized during construction of $245 million (2016 - $174 million). 
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Note 17	 Sinking fund investments

Manitoba Hydro is legislated under The Manitoba Hydro Act to make annual sinking fund payments to the 
Province of Manitoba of not less than 1% of the principal amount of the outstanding debt on the preceding 
March 31 and 4% of the balance in the sinking fund at such date. Payments to the sinking fund during the year 
were $146 million (2016 - $132 million). Interest earned on sinking fund investments is recognized in finance 
expense. As at March 31, 2017 sinking fund investments totaled nil (2016 - nil). 

Note 18	 Intangible assets

Computer application 
development

Land 
easements

Transmission 
rights

Under 
development Total

Cost or deemed cost

Balance, April 1, 2015  112  71  10  12  205 

Additions  7  13  -  15  35 

Retirements  (2)  -  -  -  (2) 

Assets placed into service*  3  3  -  (6)  - 

Balance, March 31, 2016  120  87  10  21  238 

Additions  12  38  29  20  99 

Retirements  (3)  -  -  -  (3)

Assets placed into service*  15  2  -  (17)  - 

Transfers  -  -  25  -  25 

Balance, March 31, 2017  144  127  64  24  359 

Accumulated amortization

Balance, April 1, 2015  18  1  3  -  22 

Amortization  20  1  2  -  23 

Retirements  (1)  -  -  -  (1)

Balance, March 31, 2016  37  2  5  -  44 

Amortization  21  2  2  -  25 

Retirements  (3)  -  -  -  (3)

Balance, March 31, 2017  55  4  7  -  66 

Net book value

Balance, March 31, 2016  83  85  5  21  194 

Balance, March 31, 2017  89  123  57  24  293 

Computer application development is a combination of internally developed and externally acquired 
intangible assets. 
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Note 19	 Loans and other receivables

2017 2016

Loan to Wuskwatim investment entity (Note 28)  135  128 
Loans to Keeyask investment entities (Note 28)  135  90 
Contract receivables and other  104  104 

 374  322 
Less: current portion (Note 14)  (21)  (22)

 353  300 

Accrued interest related to loans receivable is included in the loan balances above and is recognized in finance 
income. 
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Note 20	 Regulatory deferral balances

March 31, 2016
Balances arising 

in the year
Recovery / 

reversal March 31, 2017

Remaining 
recovery / 

reversal period

(years)

Regulatory deferral debit balances

Electric

DSM programs1  232  56  (35)  253 1 - 10

Site restoration  31  1  (4)  28 1 - 15

Change in depreciation method  60  31  -  91 *

Deferred ineligible overhead  40  21  -  61 *

Acquisition costs  10  -  (1)  9 15 - 18

Affordable Energy Fund  4  -  -  4 **

Loss on disposal of assets  9  1  -  10 *

Regulatory costs  4  4  (2)  6 1 - 5

Gas

DSM programs1  57  13  (9)  61 1 - 10

Deferred taxes  23  2  (4)  21 1 - 30

Site restoration  3  -  -  3 1 - 15

Loss on disposal of assets  6  3  -  9 *

Change in depreciation method  4  2  -  6 *

Regulatory costs  1  1  (1)  1 1 - 5

Deferred ineligible overhead  2  -  -  2 *

Change in depreciation rate - meters  -  1  -  1 *

 486  136  (56)  566 

Regulatory deferral credit balances

Electric

DSM deferral  43  6  -  49 *

Gas

DSM deferral  6  2  -  8 *

PGVA  1  (182)  198  17 ***

Impact of 2014 depreciation study  2  1  -  3 *

 52  (173)  198  77 

Net movement in regulatory balances  309  (254)  55 

1 Included in DSM programs is the difference between actual and planned expenditures for electric and gas DSM programs.

* The amortization periods for these accounts will be determined by the PUB as part of a future regulatory proceeding.

** The Affordable Energy Fund is amortized to the consolidated statement of income at the same rate as the provision
(Note 27) is drawn down.

***	 The PGVA is recovered or refunded in future rates.
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March 31, 2015
Balances arising 

in the year
Recovery / 

reversal March 31, 2016

Remaining 
recovery / 

reversal period

(years)

Regulatory deferral debit balances

Electric

DSM programs1  184  81  (33)  232 1 - 10

Site restoration  31  3  (3)  31 1 - 15

Change in depreciation method  29  31  -  60 *

Deferred ineligible overhead  20  20  -  40 *

Acquisition costs  11  -  (1)  10 15 - 18

Affordable Energy Fund  6  -  (2)  4 **

Loss on disposal of assets  6  3  -  9 *

Regulatory costs  1  4  (1)  4 1 - 5

Gas

DSM programs1  55  10  (8)  57 1 - 10

PGVA  32  181  (213)  - ***

Deferred taxes  25  2  (4)  23 1 - 30

Site restoration  3  -  -  3 1 - 15

Loss on disposal of assets  3  3  -  6 *

Change in depreciation method  2  2  -  4 *

Regulatory costs  1  1  (1)  1 1 - 5

Deferred ineligible overhead  1  1  -  2 *

 410  342  (266)  486 

Regulatory deferral credit balances

Electric

DSM deferral  16 27  -  43 *

Gas

DSM deferral  6  -  -  6 *

PGVA  -  -  1  1 ***

Impact of 2014 depreciation study  1  1  -  2 *

 23  28  1  52 

Net movement in regulatory balances  314  (267)  47 

1 Included in DSM programs is the difference between actual and planned expenditures for electric and gas DSM programs.

* The amortization periods for these accounts will be determined by the PUB as part of a future regulatory proceeding.

** The Affordable Energy Fund is amortized to the consolidated statement of income at the same rate as the provision
(Note 27) is drawn down.

***	 The PGVA is recovered or refunded in future rates.



The Manitoba Hydro-Electric Board 65th Annual Report

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

The balances arising in the year consist of additions to regulatory deferral balances. The recovery/reversal 
consists of amounts recovered from customers through the amortization of existing regulatory balances or 
rate riders. The net impact of these transactions results in the net movement in regulatory deferral balances 
on the consolidated statement of income. 

Balances arising in the year include $2 million (2016 - $2 million) for carrying costs on deferred taxes, the 
Affordable Energy Fund and the PGVA. 

The regulatory deferral debit balances of the corporation consist of the following:

DSM program expenditures are incurred for energy conservation programs to encourage residential, 
commercial and industrial customers to use energy more efficiently. 

Site restoration expenditures are incurred for the remediation of contaminated corporate facilities and 
diesel generating sites. 

Change in depreciation method represents the cumulative annual difference in depreciation expense 
between the ASL method of depreciation as applied by Manitoba Hydro prior to its transition to IFRS and 
the ELG method as applied by Manitoba Hydro under IFRS. 

Deferred ineligible overhead is the cumulative annual difference in overhead capitalized for financial 
reporting purposes under IFRS and overhead capitalized for rate setting purposes. 

Acquisition costs relate to costs associated with the acquisition of Centra and Minell (July 1999) and 
Winnipeg Hydro (September 2002). 

The Affordable Energy Fund relates to future DSM expenditures in connection with The Winter Heating 
Cost Control Act. The intent of the Affordable Energy Fund is to provide funding for projects that would 
not otherwise be funded by DSM programs. 

Loss on disposal of assets is the net asset retirement losses for those assets retired prior to or subsequent 
to reaching their expected service life as determined under the ELG method of depreciation. 

Regulatory costs are those incurred as a result of electric and gas regulatory hearings. 

Deferred taxes are the taxes paid by Centra (July 1999) as a result of its change to non-taxable status 
upon acquisition by Manitoba Hydro. 
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The regulatory deferral credit balances of the corporation consist of the following:

Purchased gas variance accounts are maintained to recover/refund differences between the actual cost of 
gas and the cost of gas incorporated into rates charged to customers as approved by the PUB. Purchased 
gas variance accounts are reflected as a regulatory debit or credit depending if the amounts represent  
a recovery from or a refund to the customers, respectively. 

Impact of 2014 depreciation study represents the cumulative unamortized difference in depreciation 
between the ASL method based on the 2010 depreciation study and the ASL method based on the 2014 
depreciation study. The PUB requires the use of 2010 ASL depreciation rates for Centra for rate setting 
purposes pending review at the next gas regulatory proceeding. 

DSM deferral - In Orders 43/13 and 85/13, the PUB directed that the differences between actual and 
planned spending on electric and gas DSM programs for the 2012-13 and 2013-14 fiscal years be 
recognized as a liability. In Order 73/15, the PUB further directed that the difference in fiscal 2014-15  
and 2015-16 spending be added to this deferral. Consistent with Order 73/15, the difference in spending 
for 2016-17 has been added to the deferral. The cumulative differences have been recorded as a 
regulatory deferral credit balance with an offsetting balance recorded as a regulatory deferral debit balance.  
The disposition of these balances will be determined by the PUB at a future regulatory proceeding.

Note 21	 Long-term debt

Advances from 
the Province

Manitoba 
HydroBonds

Manitoba 
Hydro-Electric 

Board Bonds Other* Total

Balance, April 1, 2015  12 485   76   158  (39)  12 680 

Issues  2 208  -  -  (43)  2 165 

Maturities  (300)  (50)  (12)  -  (362)

Foreign exchange adjustments  44  -  -  (2)  42 

Amortization of net premiums and
transaction costs - - (1)  3  2

Balance, March 31, 2016  14 437  26  145  (81)  14 527 

Issues  2 163  -  -  23  2 186 

Maturities  (301)  (19)   -  -  (320)

Foreign exchange adjustments  42  -  -  1  43 

Amortization of net premiums and
transaction costs  - -  - 2 2

 16 341   7  145  (55)   16 438  

Less: current portion  (310)  (6)  (20)  -  (336)

Balance, March 31, 2017   16 031   1  125  (55)  16 102 

*Other includes adjustments to carrying value of dual currency bonds, transaction costs and debt discounts and premiums.
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During the year, the corporation arranged long-term financing of $2 186 million (2016 - $2 165 million). 
The current year financing was in the form of provincial advances with the majority at fixed interest rates. 

Included in the current portion of long-term debt are $330 million (2016 - $301 million) of debt maturities 
and $6 million (2016 - $25 million) of floating-rate Manitoba HydroBonds with a maturity date in 2018. 
Floating rate Manitoba HydroBonds are redeemable at the option of the holder. 

Long-term debt is guaranteed by the Province of Manitoba, with the exception of Manitoba Hydro-Electric 
Board Bonds in the amount of $65 million (2016 - $65 million) issued for mitigation projects. 

Debt principal amounts (excluding adjustments to the carrying value of dual currency bonds, transaction 
costs, debt discounts and premiums) and related yields are summarized by fiscal years of maturity in the 
following table:

Years of maturity Canadian Canadian 
yields

U.S. U.S. yields 2017 Total 2016 Total

2018  336 6.5%  -  -  336  331 

2019  996 6.9%  -  -  996  996 

2020  174 3.7%  200 6.0%  374  345 

2021  975 3.0%  333 7.9%  1 308  1 299 

2022  253 1.8%  866 8.8%  1 119  847 

 2 734 3.8%  1 399 8.3%  4 133  3 818 

2023-2027  2 936 3.0%  200 2.6%  3 136  2 198 

2028-2032  1 126 7.9%  -  -  1 126  880 

2033-2037  515 5.0%  -  -  515  515 

2038-2042  2 194 4.6%  -  -  2 194  2 135 

2043-2047  3 402 3.5%  -  -  3 402  3 125 

2048-2064  1 986 3.7%  -  -  1 986  1 611 

 14 893 4.0%  1 599 7.4%  16 492  14 282 

Included in the above Canadian maturity amounts are seven dual currency bonds with the principal amount 
repayable in Canadian currency and interest payments denominated in U.S. currency. Six dual currency bonds 
mature in the 2018-19 fiscal year in the amount of $490 million Canadian while the seventh matures in the 
2025-26 fiscal year in the amount of $130 million Canadian. U.S. debt is translated into Canadian dollars 
at the exchange rate prevailing at the consolidated statement of financial position date, $1.00 U.S. = $1.33 
Canadian (2016 - $1.00 U.S. = $1.30 Canadian). 
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Note 22	 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2017 2016

Trade and other payables  970  601 
Employee payroll and benefit accruals  68  77 
Taxes payable  38  33 
Water rentals and assessments  11  11 

 1 087  722 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are accruals based on an estimated amount of services 
completed or goods and materials received but not invoiced. 

Note 23	 Other liabilities
2017 2016

Current portion of other long-term liabilities (Note 24)  78  77 
Current portion of deferred revenue (Note 26)  4  2 
Current portion of provisions (Note 27)  1  1 

 83  80 

The current portion of other long-term liabilities consists of the current portions of mitigation liability of 
$26 million (2016 - $30 million), major development liability of $31 million (2016 - $26 million), perpetual 
obligation to the City of Winnipeg for the acquisition of Winnipeg Hydro of $16 million (2016 - $16 million) 
and refundable advances from customers of $5 million (2016 - $5 million). 

The current portion of provisions represents the asset retirement obligation for the removal and disposal 
of polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) contaminated fluid in equipment bushings at transmission and distribution 
stations and for the decommissioning of the coal pile associated with the Brandon thermal generating station. 

The current portion of deferred revenue represents advance payments from customers for software 
maintenance and international consulting work. 
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Note 24	 Other long-term liabilities

2017 2016

Mitigation liability  209  215 
Major development liability  210  219 
Perpetual obligation  215  215 
Refundable advances from customers  79  80 
Other  3  3 

 716  732 
Less: current portion (Note 23)  (78)  (77)

 638  655 

Mitigation

Manitoba Hydro’s mitigation program addresses past, present and ongoing adverse effects of historical 
hydroelectric development. The mitigation program, established in the late 1970s to address project impacts 
through alleviation of adverse effects, remedial works and residual compensation, grew out of the experience 
of planning and development of the Lake Winnipeg Regulation and Churchill River Diversion Projects.  
The Northern Flood Agreement, signed December 16, 1977, created a process that addressed ongoing 
mitigation and compensation for adverse effects of hydroelectric development in five signatory Indigenous 
communities. The mitigation program was expanded to address impacts arising from all past hydroelectric 
developments (prior to the Wuskwatim Generating Station), particularly for Indigenous people residing or 
engaged in resource harvesting in the project areas, and it is essential for operating and future development 
purposes. 

Expenditures recorded or settlements reached to mitigate the impacts of historical hydroelectric development 
amounted to $63 million during the year (2016 - $31 million). In recognition of future mitigation payments, 
the corporation has recorded a liability of $209 million (2016 - $215 million). There are other mitigation 
issues, the outcomes of which are not determinable at this time. 

Included in mitigation liabilities are obligations assumed on behalf of the Province of Manitoba with respect 
to certain northern development projects. The corporation has assumed obligations totaling $146 million for 
which water power rental charges were fixed until March 31, 2001. The obligation outstanding as at March 
31, 2017 totaled $8 million (2016 - $9 million). 

The discount rates used to determine the present value of mitigation obligations range from 3.45% to 8.50%. 
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Major development

Beginning with the development of the Wuskwatim Generating Station, project-related adverse effects are 
identified and addressed during project planning (including the environmental assessment process), which is 
done in advance of project construction. As such, mitigation measures are built into project design where 
possible. The costs for these mitigation measures, as well as any residual compensation requirements, are 
therefore accounted for in the capital cost estimates for each individual project. 

Programs and adverse effects agreements have been negotiated to mitigate and compensate for all anticipated 
project-related impacts for major new generation and transmission development projects including 
Wuskwatim, Keeyask and Bipole III. The corporation has recorded a liability of $210 million (2016 - $219 
million) to reflect these agreements. These expenditures are included in the costs of the associated projects 
and amortized over the life of the assets. 

The discount rates used to determine the present value of the major development obligation range from 
3.45% to 5.05%.

Perpetual obligation

Effective September 3, 2002, the corporation acquired the net assets of Winnipeg Hydro from the City  
of Winnipeg. The obligation represents the net present value of payments to the City of Winnipeg of  
$16 million per annum in perpetuity.

The discount rate used to determine the present value of the perpetual obligation was 7.45%.

Note 25	 Employee future benefits

2017 2016

Net pension liability  540  588 
Other employee future benefits liability  278  271 

 818  859 

Pension plans

Manitoba Hydro and its employees are participating members of the Civil Service Superannuation Plan (the 
Plan) established under The Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA). Manitoba Hydro employees are eligible 
for pension benefits based on years of service and on the average earnings of the five best years. As a non-
matching employer, the provisions of the CSSA require the corporation to contribute approximately 50% of the 
pension disbursements made to retired employees. Manitoba Hydro provides its portion of pension benefits 
through a separately administered fund, the Manitoba Hydro Pension Fund (MHPF). Manitoba Hydro and 
employees make contributions based on a percentage of pensionable earnings in accordance with the CSSA. 
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Manitoba Hydro employees with pensionable service after June 1, 2006 are eligible for an additional pension 
benefit under the Enhanced Hydro Benefit Plan (EHBP). The EHBP improves the pension formula used 
to calculate pension benefits. Manitoba Hydro funds the enhanced pension benefit through contributions 
based on 0.50% of pensionable earnings to a separate trust account that is managed by the Civil Service 
Superannuation Board (CSSB). The EHBP funds are co-mingled with the Civil Service Superannuation Fund 
(CSSF) assets for investment purposes.

The former employees of Centra are entitled to pension benefits earned under the Centra curtailed pension 
plans. The Centra curtailed pension plans are Registered Pension Trusts as defined in the Income Tax Act 
(Canada). The Master Trust is made up of three individual plans including the Centra Gas Manitoba Inc. 
Pension Plan for Salaried Employees, the Centra Gas Manitoba Inc. Union Employees’ Pension Plan and the 
Centra Gas Manitoba Inc. (Rural) Local 681 Pension Plan. Centra is required to make special payments to the 
plans at amounts considered necessary to ensure that the benefits will be fully provided for at retirement as 
determined in the actuarial valuation dated December 31, 2015. The plans are registered with the Pension 
Commission of Manitoba and subject to the rules and regulations of The Pension Benefits Act of Manitoba. 
The Master Trust assets are held in trust with State Street Trust Company of Canada. The CSSB acts as the 
investment manager. 

MHUS employees are eligible for pension benefits under the Plan. As a matching employer under the CSSA, 
MHUS is required to match employee contributions at a prescribed rate. MHUS’ pension expense is recognized 
at the time contributions are made. Manitoba Hydro does not carry a pension asset or obligation on its 
consolidated financial statements related to MHUS. 

The former employees of Winnipeg Hydro continue to earn benefits under the Winnipeg Civic Employee 
Benefits Program (WCEBP), which upon the acquisition of Winnipeg Hydro, Manitoba Hydro became a 
participating employer. The WCEBP is a defined benefit plan that provides pension benefits based on years 
of service and on the average earnings of the five best years. Manitoba Hydro does not carry a pension asset 
or obligation on its consolidated financial statements related to the former employees of Winnipeg Hydro. 
The WCEBP is governed by an independent board of trustees and a trust agreement that limits Manitoba 
Hydro’s contribution rates. The structure of the trust agreement also limits Manitoba Hydro’s exposure to 
future unfunded liabilities. Contributions to the plan are accounted for similar to a defined contribution plan. 

MHI sponsors a defined contribution group registered retirement plan. MHI matches 100% of the employee 
contributions at prescribed contribution rates. The cost of the pension benefits is charged to pension expense 
as services are rendered. Manitoba Hydro does not carry a pension asset or obligation on its consolidated 
financial statements for the MHI defined contribution plan. 

An independent actuary calculates the liability for pension expense purposes as at December 31 each year 
with the most recent actuarial valuations being completed as at December 31, 2016. The next actuarial 
valuations for all plans will occur as at December 2017. 
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These valuations incorporate management’s assumptions and take into consideration the long-term nature 
of the pension plans. The actuary selects the demographic assumptions. The corporation’s management 
in consultation with the actuary determines the economic assumptions such as discount rate. The accrued 
benefit actuarial cost method with salary projection is used to determine the pension benefit obligation and 
current service cost.

The following table presents information pertaining to the Manitoba Hydro Plan, the EHBP and the Centra 
curtailed plans that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements:

Manitoba Hydro Plan EHBP
Centra curtailed 

pension plans Total

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Plan assets at fair value

Balance at beginning of year  938  974  24  21  121  126  1 083  1 121 

Return (loss) on assets  104  (13)  2  1  13  (2)  119  (14)

Employer contributions  37  36  2  2  1  2  40  40 

Benefit payments and refunds  (64)  (59)  (1)  -  (5)  (5)  (70)  (64)

 1 015  938  27  24  130  121  1 172  1 083 

Pension obligation

Balance at beginning of year  1 515  1 503   35   32   121   124  1 671  1 659 

Interest cost  59  55   1   1   5   5  65   61 

Current service cost  60  59   4   4  -  -  64   63 

Benefit payments and refunds  (64)  (60)  (1)  -  (5)  (5)  (70)  (65)

Actuarial losses (gains) arising from
changes in financial assumptions  (17)  (42)  (1)  (2)  -  (3)   (18)  (47)  

 1 553  1 515   38   35   121   121  1 712  1 671 

Net pension (liability) asset  (538)  (577)  (11)  (11)  9  -  (540)  (588)

The gain on pension fund assets for the MHPF for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2017 was 11.7%  
(2016 – (0.97)% return). The gain for the Centra curtailed plan fund assets for the year ended March 31, 2017 
was 11.9% (2016 – (1.39)% return). The weighted average term to maturity on fixed income investments is 
9.9 years (2016 - 9.8 years). 

The investment income earned on the EHBP funds is based on the market rate of return that is earned by the 
CSSF. For the year ended December 31, 2016, the CSSF earned a rate of return of 5.66% (2016 – 7.63%) 
on fund assets. 
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The most recent actuarial valuations for the pension plans for going concern funding purposes were prepared 
as at December 31, 2016, at which date the Manitoba Hydro Plan was 89% and the EHBP was 102% funded. 
The Manitoba Hydro Plan is exempt from the funding and solvency test funding requirements of The Pension 
Benefits Act. The Centra curtailed pension plans are subject to a solvency valuation for funding purposes with 
the latest valuation taking place as at December 31, 2016. The Centra Salaried, Union and Rural plans were 
94%, 99% and 90% funded, respectively, at that date.

The corporation’s pension expense related to each of the pension benefit plans is as follows:

Manitoba Hydro Plan EHBP
Centra curtailed 

pension plans
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Current service cost  60  59  4  4  -  - 
Interest on assets  (39)  (38)  (1)  (1)  (5)  (5)
Interest on obligation  59  55  1  1  5  5 
Administrative fees  4  3  -  -  1  - 

 84  79  4  4  1  - 

Pension expense for the former Winnipeg Hydro employees is equal to employer contributions to the 
WCEBP. Total contributions to the WCEBP during the year amounted to $1 million (2016 - $1 million) and 
reflect an employer contribution rate approximating 6.0% of pensionable earnings as of January 2, 2017. 
Pension expense for MHUS and MHI is equal to the employer contributions and is expensed during the year. 
The amounts are not material. 

Assumptions 

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the corporation’s pension and other employee 
benefit obligations are as follows: 

2017 2016

Discount rate - pensions 3.80% 3.90%
Discount rate - other benefits 3.80% 3.90%
Rate of compensation increase, including merit and promotions 0.00 - 2.00% 1.50 - 2.00%
Long-term inflation rate 2.00% 2.00%
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Sensitivity of assumptions

The sensitivities of the principle assumptions used to measure the defined benefit obligations are set out below:

Assumption
Change in 

assumption

Impact on 
Manitoba 

Hydro Plan
Impact on EHBP

Impact on  
Centra curtailed  

pension plans

Discount rate  + 0.50%  (106)  (3)  (7)

 - 0.50%  137  5  8 
Inflation rate  + 0.10%  (18)  -  (1)

 - 0.10%  18  -  1 
Wage rate   + 0.50%   31  2  1 

 - 0.50% (26) (2) (1)

The sensitivity analyses are based on a change in a significant assumption, keeping all other assumptions 
constant. The sensitivity analyses may not be representative of an actual change in the defined benefit 
obligation as it is unlikely that the changes in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another.

Benefit plan asset allocation

The following is a summary of the asset mix of the plans’ investments at fair value: 

       MHPF
Centra curtailed 

pension plans
  2017   2016   2017   2016

Equities 63% 62% 62% 61%

Bonds and debentures 20% 21% 20% 22%

Real estate 11% 11% 11% 11%

Infrastructure 5% 5% 5% 4%

Short-term investments 1% 1% 2% 2%

100% 100% 100% 100%
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Other employee future benefits

Manitoba Hydro also provides some unfunded non-pension employee future benefits including banked 
incidental days, vacation days, long-term disability, workers compensation, retiree health spending, sick leave 
vesting and severance. The following table presents information concerning other employee future benefits:

2017 2016

Balance at beginning of year  271  266
Interest cost  7  7
Current service cost  20  22
Benefit payments  (22)  (24)
Actuarial loss from changes in financial assumptions  2  -

Benefits liability  278  271

Key management personnel

The key management personnel of the corporation have been defined as members of the Manitoba Hydro-
Electric Board and Manitoba Hydro’s executives. The directors’ fees are authorized by the Lieutenant Governor 
in Council. Manitoba Hydro’s executives receive a base salary, in addition to non-cash benefits, employer 
contributions to the corporation’s post-employment defined pension plan and other post-employment benefits. 

Key management personnel compensation is as follows:

2017 2016

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits  3  3 
Post-employment benefits*  -  - 

 3  3 
*Amounts round to less than $1 million.

Note 26	 Deferred revenue

2017 2016

Contributions in aid of construction  455  434 
Bipole III contribution  196  100 
Deferred revenue  6  3 

 657  537 
Less: current portion (Note 23)  (4)  (2)

 653  535 
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Contributions in aid of construction are required from customers whenever the costs of extending service exceed 
specified construction allowances. These contributions include government grants. Contributions are initially 
recorded as deferred revenue and are subsequently recognized as revenue over the lives of the related assets. 

The PUB has directed that the following percentages of approved rate increases be set aside as a Bipole III 
contribution to be utilized to mitigate the required rate increases when Bipole III is placed in-service: 

-	 Order 43/13   1.50% of the approved 3.50%
-	 Order 49/14   0.75% of the approved 2.75%
-	 Order 73/15   2.15% of the approved 3.95%
-	 Order 59/16   3.36% of the approved 3.36%

During the year, $96 million (2016 - $51 million) was set aside for this purpose. The period over which this 
balance will be recognized into net income will be determined by the PUB at a future regulatory proceeding. 

Note 27	 Provisions

Mitigation 
provisions

Asset 
retirement 
obligation

Affordable 
Energy Fund

Other 
provisions Total

Balance, April 1, 2015  22  15  6 -  43 
Provisions made  -  15  - -  15 
Provisions used  -  -  (2) -  (2)
Accretion  1 -  - -  1 
Gain on derecognition  -  (3)  - -  (3)
Balance, March 31, 2016  23  27  4 -  54 

Provisions made  32  (20)  - 4  16 
Provisions used  -  (1)  - -  (1)
Accretion  1  1  - -  2 
Balance, March 31, 2017  56  7  4 4  71 

2017 2016 
Analyzed as:

Current (Note 23) 1  1
Non-current 70  53

71  54
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Mitigation 

A provision has been recognized for certain mitigation related obligations arising from ongoing adverse 
effects of past hydroelectric development. The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the 
consideration required to settle the obligation at the reporting date. Once a final settlement is reached, these 
obligations will be transferred to other long-term liabilities (Note 24). 

Discount rates used to determine the present value of mitigation related provisions range from  
3.75% to 4.15%. 

Subsequent to March 31, 2017, the corporation entered into discussions with a party regarding impacts  
of transmission development. Discussions are continuing and no agreement has been signed at this time.

Asset retirement obligations

An asset retirement obligation continues to be recognized for the future decommissioning of the Brandon 
Thermal Generating Station coal pile. The estimate was adjusted as a result of plans to repurpose parts of 
the station and only remove the coal pile. The corporation estimates the undiscounted cash flows required to 
settle the asset retirement obligations are approximately $3 million (2016 - $15 million), which is expected 
to be incurred in 2019. 

The corporation recognizes an asset retirement obligation for the removal and disposal of PCB contaminated 
fluid in equipment bushings at transmission and distribution stations. The estimated undiscounted cash flows 
required to settle the asset retirement obligation are approximately $4 million (2016 - $19 million), which  
is expected to be incurred by 2024. 

No funds are being set aside to settle the asset retirement obligations. The discount rates used to determine 
the fair market value of asset retirement obligations range from 0.75% to 1.30% (2016 - 3.88% to 3.92%).

Affordable Energy Fund

In accordance with the requirements of The Winter Heating Cost Control Act, Manitoba Hydro established an 
Affordable Energy Fund in the initial amount of $35 million for the purpose of providing funding for projects 
that would not otherwise be funded by DSM programs. Expenditures of nil (2016 - $2 million) during the 
year were charged to operations with the regulatory deferral balance and the provision reduced accordingly.

Other provisions 

Other provisions have been established for obligations discovered, which require recognition in the financial 
statements due to the likelihood of settlement and the presence of an obligation, either from past events  
or constructive in nature.
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Note 28	 Non-controlling interests

2017 2016

Wuskwatim Power Limited Partnership
  Taskinigahp Power Corporation  40  52 

Keeyask Hydropower Limited Partnership
  Cree Nation Partners Limited Partnership  78  52 
  Fox Lake Cree Nation Keeyask Investments Inc.  26  18 
  York Factory First Nation Limited Partnership  26  18 

 130  88 
 170  140 

Manitoba Hydro has entered into the WPLP with Taskinigahp Power Corporation (TPC) to carry on the 
business of developing, owning and operating the Wuskwatim Generating Station. TPC is owned beneficially 
by Nisichawayasihk Cree Nation (NCN). The generating station and associated transmission assets were placed 
into service during the 2012-13 year. 

The 33% ownership interest of TPC in the WPLP of $40 million (2016 - $52 million) is represented  
as a non-controlling interest within the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial position. 
TPC’s portion of the net loss of the WPLP during 2016-17 is $12 million (2016 - $10 million). 

In accordance with the partnership agreements, Manitoba Hydro provides debt financing to TPC for 
investment in WPLP. As at March 31, 2017, Manitoba Hydro has provided advances to TPC of $88 million 
(2016 - $88 million). In addition, Manitoba Hydro provides advances on future WPLP distributions to NCN.  
As at March 31, 2017, Manitoba Hydro has provided advances to NCN of $6 million (2016 - $6 million).  
The advances plus interest are repayable by TPC through distributions from the WPLP. 

Manitoba Hydro has also entered into the KHLP with Tataskweyak Cree Nation (TCN) and War Lake First 
Nation (War Lake) operating as Cree Nation Partners (CNP), York Factory First Nation (York Factory) and 
Fox Lake Cree Nation (Fox Lake) to carry on the business of developing, owning and operating the Keeyask 
Generating Station. Cree Nation Partners Limited Partnership (CNPLP) is owned beneficially by TCN and 
War Lake through CNP, FLCN Keeyask Investments Inc. (FLCNKII) is owned beneficially by Fox Lake and York 
Factory First Nation Limited Partnership (YFFNLP) is owned beneficially by York Factory. The generating 
station is currently under construction and projected to be placed into service in 2021. 

The 15% ownership interest of CNPLP, the 5% ownership interest of FLCNKII and the 5% ownership interest 
of YFFNLP in the KHLP totaling $130 million (2016 – $88 million) is represented as a non-controlling 
interest within the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial position. 
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In accordance with the partnership agreements, Manitoba Hydro provides debt financing to CNPLP, FLCNKII 
and YFFNLP. As at March 31, 2017, Manitoba Hydro has provided advances to CNPLP of $76 million (2016 
- $52 million), FLCNKII of $25 million (2016 - $17 million) and YFFNLP of $25 million (2016 - $17 million).  
The advances plus interest are repayable by CNPLP, FLCNKII and YFFNLP through distributions from the KHLP. 

Summarized financial information before intercompany eliminations for WPLP and KHLP are as follows:

2017 2016

WPLP
Current assets  13  16 
Non-current assets  1 526  1 548 

Current liabilities  24  23 
Non-current liabilities  1 393  1 383 

Revenue  80  86 
Net loss  (36)  (31)

KHLP
Current assets  89  8 
Non-current assets  3 202  2 316 

Current liabilities  152  169 
Non-current liabilities  2 398  1 651 
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Note 29	 Financial instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of the corporation’s non-derivative financial instruments were as follows: 

2017 2016

Level
Carrying 

value
Fair 

value
Carrying 

value
Fair 

value

Fair value through profit and loss 

Cash and cash equivalents 1  646  646  955  955 

Loans and receivables

Accounts receivable and accrued revenue * 364  364  350  350 

Loans and other receivables (including current portion) 2  374  397  322  347 

Other financial liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities * 1 087  1 087  722  722 

Long-term debt (including current portion) 2  16 438  18 456  14 527  16 948 

Mitigation liability (including current portion) 2  209  259  215  259 

Major development liability (including current portion) 2  210  244  219  240 

Perpetual obligation (including current portion) 2  215  370  215  375 

*carried at values that approximate fair value

The fair value measurement of financial instruments is classified in accordance with a hierarchy of three levels, 
based on the type of inputs used in making these measurements: 

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities; 
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable in active markets for the asset or liability; and 
Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. 

Fair value Level 2 measurements are derived from quoted market yields at the close of business on the 
consolidated statement of financial position date for similar instruments available in the capital market. There 
are nominal amounts measured at Level 3 that are based on internally developed valuation models, and 
consistent with valuation models developed by other market participants in the wholesale power markets. 
The carrying values of all other financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values. 

Financial risks

During the normal course of business, Manitoba Hydro is exposed to a number of financial risks including 
credit and liquidity risks and market risk resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency, interest rates and 
commodity prices. Risk management policies, processes and systems have been established to identify and 
analyze financial risks faced by the corporation and its subsidiaries, to set risk tolerance limits, establish controls 
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and to monitor risk and adherence to policies. An integrated risk management plan has been developed and 
reviewed by the Manitoba Hydro-Electric Board to ensure the adequacy of the risk management framework 
in relation to the risks faced by the corporation. The nature of the financial risks and Manitoba Hydro’s strategy 
for managing these risks have not changed significantly from the prior year.

(a)   Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss to the other party 
by failing to discharge an obligation. Manitoba Hydro is exposed to credit risk related to sinking fund 
investments, temporary investments and pension fund investments. The corporation limits its exposure 
to credit risk by only investing in government-guaranteed bonds, highly rated investments and well-
diversified investment portfolios.

The corporation is also exposed to credit risk related to domestic and export energy sales. Credit risk 
related to domestic sales is mitigated by the large and diversified electric and gas customer base. Customers 
participating in residential financing programs are subject to credit reviews and must meet specific criteria 
before they are approved for a residential loan or financing. Equity loans advanced to Indigenous partners 
are secured by their ownership investment units in the Wuskwatim and Keeyask Generating Stations. 
Credit risk in the export power market is mitigated by establishing credit requirements, conducting 
standard credit reviews of all counterparties and setting and monitoring exposure limits for each of these 
counterparties. Letters of credit and netting provisions are also in place to further mitigate credit risk.  
The maximum exposure to credit risk related to domestic and export energy sales is its fair value.

The values of the corporation’s aged accounts receivable and related allowance for doubtful accounts are 
presented in the following table:

Manitoba Extraprovincial  2017 2016

Under 30 days  169  29  198  193 
31 to 60 days  16  -  16  15 
61 to 90 days  7  -  7  8 
Over 90 days  28  -  28  25 

 220  29  249  241 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  (11)  -  (11)  (10)
Total accounts receivable  209  29  238  231 

The provision for bad and doubtful accounts is reviewed annually, based on an estimate of aged receivables 
that are considered uncollectible.
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(b)   Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that Manitoba Hydro will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
they come due. The corporation meets its financial obligations when due through cash generated from 
operations, short-term borrowings, long-term borrowings advanced from the Province of Manitoba and 
sinking fund withdrawals.

The following is an analysis of the contractual undiscounted cash flows payable under financial liabilities as 
at the consolidated statement of financial position date: 

Carrying 
value 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

2023 and 
thereafter

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  1 087  1 087  -  -  -  -  - 

Long-term debt*  16 552  1 228  1 838  1 156  2 063  1 803  23 073 

Mitigation liability  209  26  29  18  64  12  353 

Major development liability  210  31  15  15  15  15  552 

Perpetual obligation  215  16  16  16  16  16 16

 18 273  2 388  1 898  1 205  2 158  1 846  23 994 

*includes current portion and interest payments

**per year in perpetuity

(c)   Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices. Manitoba Hydro is exposed to three types of market risk: foreign exchange 
risk, interest rate risk and commodity price risk associated with the price of electricity and natural gas. 
Manitoba Hydro continually monitors its exposure to these risks and may use hedges or derivative 
contracts to manage these risks.

(i)	 Foreign exchange risk

Manitoba Hydro has exposure to U.S. dollar foreign exchange rate fluctuations primarily through the 
sale and purchase of electricity in the U.S. and through borrowing in U.S. markets. This exposure is 
managed through a long-term natural hedge between U.S. dollar cash inflows from export revenues 
and U.S. dollar cash outflows for long-term coupon and principal payments. 

To mitigate annual net income impacts due to foreign exchange rate fluctuations, long-term cash 
flow hedges have been established between U.S. long-term debt balances and future U.S. export 
revenues as well as between U.S. interest payments on dual currency bonds and future U.S. export 
revenues. Accordingly, translation gains and losses for U.S. long-term debt obligations in effective 
hedging relationships with future export revenues, are recognized in OCI until future hedged U.S. 
export revenues are realized, at which time the associated gains or losses in AOCI are recognized 

**
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in net income. For the year ended March 31, 2017, unrealized foreign exchange translation losses  
of $47 million (2016 - $47 million losses) were recognized in OCI and net losses of $20 million (2016 
- $1 million gain) were reclassified from OCI into net income. 

In addition to natural hedging relationships, cross currency swap arrangements transacted by the 
Province of Manitoba on the corporation’s behalf are utilized to manage exchange rate exposures 
and as a means to capitalize on favourable financing terms in either U.S. or Canadian capital markets. 
Cross currency agreements represent an exchange of principal and/or interest flows denominated in 
one currency for principal and/or interest flows denominated in another. Such transactions effectively 
amend the terms of the original debt obligation with the Province of Manitoba with the swapped debt 
arrangement. 

As at March 31, 2017, a change in the Canadian dollar of plus (minus) $0.10 relative to the U.S. 
dollar would decrease (increase) net income by $7.8 million (2016 - nil), while OCI would increase 
(decrease) by $120 million (2016 - $125 million).

(ii)	 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates. Manitoba Hydro is exposed to interest rate risk associated with 
temporary investments, floating rate short-term and long-term debt, fixed rate long-term debt 
maturing within 12 months, less sinking fund withdrawals, offset by the change in interest capitalization. 
As at March 31, 2017, an increase or decrease of 1% in the interest rate would reduce or increase net 
income, respectively, by $3 million (2016 - $4 million), with no impact to OCI. 

Interest rate swap agreements transacted by the Province of Manitoba on the corporation’s behalf 
are utilized to manage the fixed and floating interest rate mix of the total debt portfolio, interest 
rate exposure and related overall cost of borrowing. Interest rate swap agreements represent an 
agreement between two parties to periodically exchange payments of interest without the exchange 
of the principal amount upon which payments are based. The Province of Manitoba may also enter into 
forward start interest rate swap arrangements where the agreement to exchange interest payments 
commences at some future date. In either swap arrangement, the terms of the debt advanced by the 
Province of Manitoba to the corporation are amended by the swap. 
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(iii)	 Commodity price risk

The corporation is exposed to electricity price risk that results from volatility of market prices and natural 
gas price risk through its purchase of natural gas for delivery to customers throughout Manitoba. The 
corporation mitigates commodity price risk through its limited use of derivative financial instruments. 
Manitoba Hydro does not use derivative contracts for trading or speculative purposes. 

The corporation has entered into commodity derivative contracts as at March 31, 2017. The change 
in fair value of these contracts is reported as derivatives and carried at fair value on the consolidated 
statement of financial position in accounts receivable and accrued revenue. The unrealized fair value 
gains of $1 million (2016 - $1 million) are classified as Level 2 fair value measurements. 

Note 30	 Capital management

Manitoba Hydro manages its capital structure to ensure that there is sufficient equity to absorb the financial 
effects of adverse circumstances and to ensure continued access to stable low-cost funding for capital projects 
and ongoing operational requirements. 

The corporation monitors its capital structure on the basis of its equity ratio. Manitoba Hydro’s long-term 
target is to achieve a minimum equity ratio of 25%.  

The corporation’s equity ratio was as follows:
2017 2016

Long-term debt  16 102  14 201 
Current portion of long-term debt  336  326 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 13)  (646)  (955)
Net debt  15 792  13 572 

Retained earnings  2 899  2 828 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (709)  (776)
Contributions in aid of construction (Note 26)  455  434 
Bipole III contribution (Note 26)  196  100 
Non-controlling interest (Note 28)  170  140 
Total equity  3 011  2 726 

Equity ratio 16% 17%
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Manitoba Hydro issues debt for its capital requirements under the authority of The Manitoba Hydro Act, The 
Loan Act and The Financial Administration Act. The Manitoba Hydro Act grants the corporation the power to 
issue up to $500 million of short-term promissory notes. Manitoba Hydro submits annual requests under 
The Loan Act for the necessary borrowing authority for new capital requirements. Authority to refinance 
any maturing long-term debt is provided through The Financial Administration Act. The majority of Manitoba 
Hydro’s long-term debt is obtained through advances from the Province of Manitoba. 

Note 31	 Related parties

Manitoba Hydro is a Crown corporation controlled by the Province of Manitoba. As a result, the corporation 
has a related party relationship with all entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced 
by the Province of Manitoba. However, as permitted by IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, the corporation is 
exempt from disclosure requirements relating to transactions with the Province of Manitoba and any other 
entity that is a related party because the Province of Manitoba has control, joint control or significant influence 
over both the corporation and the other entity. 

Significant transactions with the Province of Manitoba and other related provincial entities consist of:

• Long-term debt – the corporation obtains the majority of its long-term debt through advances 
from the Province of Manitoba (Note 21),

• Provincial debt guarantee fee – the corporation pays the Province of Manitoba an annual fee
on the outstanding debt. The Provincial debt guarantee fee of $136 million (2016 - $122
million) for the year was 1.00% (2016 – 1.00%) of the corporation’s total outstanding debt
guaranteed by the Province of Manitoba,

• Sale of electricity and natural gas – energy sales to related parties,

• Water rentals – amounts are paid to the Province of Manitoba for the use of water resources
in the operation of the corporation’s hydroelectric generating stations. Water rental rates
during the year were $3.34 per MWh (2016 - $3.34 per MWh) totaling $122 million (2016
- $117 million), and

• Taxes – amounts are paid to the Province of Manitoba for corporate capital tax, payroll tax
(Note 11) and provincial sales tax, all of which are incurred in the normal course of business.

Routine operating transactions with related parties are settled at prevailing market prices under normal 
trade terms. 
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Note 32	 Commitments and contingencies

Manitoba Hydro has energy purchase commitments of $1 419 million (2016 - $1 454 million) that relate 
to future purchases of wind, natural gas (including transportation and storage contracts), coal and electricity. 
Commitments are primarily for wind, which expire in 2038, and natural gas purchases, which expire in 2020. 
In addition, other outstanding commitments principally for construction are approximately $3 334 million 
(2016 - $3 511 million). 

The corporation will incur future costs associated with the assessment and remediation of contaminated lands 
and facilities and for the phase-out and destruction of PCB mineral oil from electrical equipment. Although 
these costs cannot be reasonably determined at this time (except for items already recognized as asset 
retirement obligations), a contingent liability exists. 

Due to the size, complexity and nature of Manitoba Hydro’s operations, various legal and operational matters 
are pending. Management believes that any settlements related to these matters will not have an adverse 
effect on Manitoba Hydro’s consolidated financial position or results of operations. 

Manitoba Hydro provides guarantees to counterparties as part of its use of natural gas derivative commodity 
contracts. Guarantees issued as at March 31, 2017 totaled $313 million (2016 - $368 million) and do not 
have specific maturity dates. Letters of credit in the amount of $74 million (2016 - $68 million) have been 
issued for construction and energy related transactions with maturities until 2049.

Note 33	 Segmented information

Operating segments are reported consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of operations, has been identified as the President and Chief Executive Officer. The corporation 
is managed as three segments, electricity operations, natural gas operations and all other segments, based on 
how financial information is produced internally for the purposes of making operating decisions. 

Segment descriptions

Electric Operations 
Electric operations derives its revenue from the sale of electricity in both Manitoba and to the export markets. 
Manitoba Hydro’s electric operations also includes subsidiaries WPLP, KHLP and 6690271 Manitoba Ltd. 
Electricity is sold in Manitoba to residential, commercial and industrial customers while extraprovincial sales of 
electricity are to the U.S. and Canadian markets. Domestic electricity sales are regulated by the PUB. 

Natural Gas Operations 
The operations of Centra make up the entire natural gas operations segment. Centra is regulated by the 
PUB and generates revenue through the sale and distribution of natural gas to residential, commercial and 
industrial customers throughout Manitoba. 
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All Other Segments 
All other segments includes the operations of all other subsidiaries of the corporation, including MHI, MHUS, 
Minell and Teshmont. 

MHI derives its revenue by providing professional consulting, operations, maintenance and project management 
services to energy sectors world-wide, either exclusively or through partnerships. MHI also provides research 
and development services and products to the electrical power system industry. 

MHUS generates revenue by providing meter reading, interactive voice response systems and contracted 
services primarily to Manitoba Hydro and Centra. 

Minell operates a pipeline transmission system extending from Moosomin, Saskatchewan to Russell, Manitoba 
and is regulated by the National Energy Board. Revenues are derived through the rentals of Minell’s gas 
transmission facilities to Centra as they are used solely for the transportation of natural gas on behalf of Centra. 

Teshmont is a holding company established to acquire a 40% ownership of Teshmont Consultants Limited 
Partnership, which carries on a high voltage engineering and consulting practice. 

Segmented results

Results by operating segment for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 are shown below. Intersegment 
eliminations are presented to reconcile segment results to the corporation’s consolidated totals. Eliminations 
have been made for intersegment transactions and balances. 
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Electric 
operations

Natural gas 
operations

All other 
segments Eliminations Total

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Revenues

External revenue 1 927 1 845  344  355  56  58  -  -  2 327  2 258 

Intersegment revenue  -  -  1  1  9  9  (10)  (10)  -  - 

1 927 1 845  345  356  65  67  (10)  (10)  2 327  2 258 

Expenses

Cost of gas sold  -  -  183  181  -  -  -  -  183  181 

Finance expense  608  582  19  20  -  -  18  18  645  620 

Operating and administrative  536  543  65  67  17  16  (10)  (12)  608  614 

Depreciation and amortization  375  367  23  23  2  1  2  3  402  394 

Water rentals and assessments  131  126  -  -  -  -  -  -  131  126 

Fuel and power purchased  132  117  -  -  -  -  -  -  132  117 

Capital and other taxes  119  107  16  16  -  -  -  -  135  123 

Other expenses  60  65  12  10  35  42  (3)  (3)  104  114 

Finance income  (17)  (22)  -  -  -  (1)  -  -  (17)  (23)

Corporate allocation  8  8  12  12  -  -  (20)  (20)  -  - 

1 952 1 893   330  329  54  58  (13)  (14)  2 323  2 266 

Net income (loss) before net movement in

regulatory deferral balances  (25) (48)  15 27 11  9 3  4 4 (8) 

Net movement in regulatory deferral balances  66  75  (11)  (28)  -  -  -  -  55  47 

Net Income (Loss)  41  27  4  (1)  11  9  3  4  59  39 

Net income (loss) attributable to:

Manitoba Hydro  53  37 4  (1)  11  9  3  4  71  49 

Non-controlling interests  (12)  (10)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (12)  (10)

 41  27  4  (1)  11  9  3  4  59  39 



The Manitoba Hydro-Electric Board 65th Annual Report

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2017
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

Note 34	 Comparative figures

Where appropriate, comparative figures for 2016 have been reclassified in order to conform to the presentation 
adopted in 2017. 

Electric 
operations

Natural gas 
operations

All other 
segments

Eliminations Total

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Total assets 21 271 18 839  617  581  85  71  (201)  (198) 21 772 19 293 

Total regulatory deferral debit balances  462  390  104  96  -  -  -  -  566  486 

Total liabilities 19 474 17 125  503  482  15  13  (91)  (85) 19 901 17 535 

Total regulatory deferral credit balances  49  43  28  9  -  -  -  -  77  52 

Retained earnings  2 749  2 696  69  65  69  57  12  10  2 899  2 828 
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MANAGEMENT REPORT

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are the 
responsibility of management and have been prepared in 
accordance with the accounting policies stated in the consolidated 
financial statements.  Management has prepared the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.  In management’s opinion, the consolidated 
financial statements have been properly prepared within 
reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management’s best 
judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all other data 
available.  The financial information presented elsewhere in the 
Annual Report is consistent with that in the consolidated financial 
statements unless otherwise stated.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls 
over financial reporting for Manitoba Liquor and Lotteries 
Corporation.  Management designed such internal controls, or 
caused them to be designed under our supervision, to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with International Financial       
Reporting Standards. 

Management maintains internal controls to provide reasonable 
assurance of the reliability and accuracy of the financial 
information and that the assets of Manitoba Liquor and Lotteries 
Corporation are properly safeguarded.  As part of the financial 
statement audit performed by Ernst & Young LLP, they reviewed 
the corporation’s internal controls to the extent that they 
considered necessary and reported their findings to management 
and the Board of Directors.

The responsibility of Ernst & Young LLP is to express an 
independent opinion on whether the consolidated financial 
statements are fairly stated in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.  The Independent Auditors’ 
Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides 
the audit opinion.

The Board meets with management and Ernst & Young LLP 
to satisfy itself that each group has properly discharged its 
respective responsibilities and to review the consolidated financial 
statements before approving them.  The Board has reviewed and 
approved the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2017.

Original signed by 
Peter Hak 
President & Chief Executive Officer

Original signed by 
Heather Mitchell 
Chief Financial Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’  REPORT

To the Board of Directors of                                                    
Manitoba Liquor and Lotteries Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements of Manitoba Liquor and Lotteries Corporation, which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
March 31, 2017, and the consolidated statements of net income, 
comprehensive income and equity and cash flows for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated           
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud           
or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 

auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Manitoba 
Liquor and Lotteries Corporation as at March 31, 2017, and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants 
Winnipeg, Canada                                                                             
June 23, 2017	 	
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C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT MARCH 31 (IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS)

Liabilities and Equity
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 10 $ 106,324 $ 109,519
Payable to the Province of Manitoba 63,725 55,671
Current portion of long-term debt 11 52,610 48,286

222,659 213,476

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Long-term debt 11 327,989 320,968

Commitments and contingencies 15

EQUITY

Retained Earnings 5,000 5,000

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 555,648 $ 539,444

(see accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements)

Notes 2017 2016

Assets
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash $ 33,168 $ 38,053
Trade and other receivables 5 50,305 45,922
Inventories 6 51,600 49,870
Prepayments 7 5,190 5,235
Assets held for sale, net 8 8,887 -

149,150 139,080

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property and equipment, net 8 394,888 385,604
Intangible assets, net 9 11,610 14,760

406,498 400,364

TOTAL ASSETS $ 555,648 $ 539,444

On behalf of the Board

Original signed by 
Polly Craik 
Director & Chair of the Board of Directors

Original signed by 
Gary Timlick 
Director & Chair of the Audit & Finance Committee
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C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF NET INC OME, 
C OMPREHENSIVE INC OME AND EQUIT Y

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31 (IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS)

(see accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements)

Notes 2017) 2016)

REVENUE 12 $ 1,360,796) $ 1,327,352)

COST OF SALES 12 427,756) 414,890)

933,040) 912,462)

Operating expenses 12 248,780) 241,210)

Depreciation and amortization 49,289) 50,760)

Goods and Services Tax 2,973) 3,726)

301,042) 295,696)

OPERATING INCOME 631,998) 616,766)

Share of profit of Western Canada Lottery Corporation 13 62,572) 69,266)

Interest expense on long-term debt (10,636) (11,419)

Interest income 909) 890)

INCOME BEFORE ALLOCATIONS AND PAYMENTS 684,843) 675,503)

Allocations and payments 14 98,789) 92,332)

NET INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 586,054) 583,171)

EQUITY, BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 5,000) 5,000)

Allocation to the Province of Manitoba (586,054) (583,171)

EQUITY, END OF THE YEAR $ 5,000) $ 5,000)
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C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31 (IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS)

(see accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements)

2017) 2016)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income and comprehensive income $ 586,054) $ 583,171)

Add (deduct) items not involving cash:

Depreciation related to property and equipment 44,641) 45,569)

Depreciation on assets related to Conduct and Management agreements 4,755) 4,138)

Amortization related to intangible assets 4,648) 5,191)

Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment (397) 2,389)

639,701) 640,458)

Net change in non-cash working capital items:

Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables (4,383) 5,870)

Decrease (increase) in inventories (1,730) 112)

Decrease (increase) in prepayments 45) (700)

Decrease in trade and other payables (3,195) (12,586)

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 630,438) 633,154)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property and equipment (67,595) (62,807)

Purchase of intangible assets (1,498) (3,494)

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 425) 63)

CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (68,668) (66,238)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash distributions to the Province of Manitoba:

Current year (578,000) (592,500)

Prior year -) (4,978)

Proceeds from long-term debt 60,211) 69,300)

Repayment of long-term debt (48,866) (42,133)

CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (566,655) (570,311)

NET DECREASE IN CASH DURING THE YEAR (4,885) (3,395)

CASH, BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 38,053) 41,448)

CASH, END OF THE YEAR $ 33,168) $ 38,053)

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Interest paid $ 11,700) $ 11,566)
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NOTES TO C ONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT S 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017 (IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS)

1 . BACKGROUND

By consent of the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba, The Manitoba Liquor and Lotteries Corporation Act was enacted on December 5, 
2013 and came into force on April 1, 2014.  Under The Manitoba Liquor and Lotteries Corporation Act, Manitoba Liquor and Lotteries 
Corporation (Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries) was established as a Crown corporation.

The registered office of Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries is located at 830 Empress Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba. 

2 . SIGNIFICANT AC C OUNTING POLICIES

(a) BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements of Manitoba Liquor & 
Lotteries for the year ended March 31, 2017 were authorized for 
issue by the Board of Directors on June 23, 2017.

These consolidated financial statements were prepared on a going 
concern basis, using historical cost except for certain financial 
instruments which are reported at fair value. The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, the 
functional currency of Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries, and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000) except 
where otherwise indicated. 

(b) STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The consolidated financial statements of Manitoba Liquor & 
Lotteries have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and related interpretations 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

(c) BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements combine the accounts 
of Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries and MLC Holdings Inc.  This 
controlled entity was established to purchase capital assets, which 
are leased to Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries at cost.  

MLC Holdings Inc. has been fully consolidated since the date 
of inception and will continue to be consolidated until the date 
when control ceases.  The financial statements of MLC Holdings 
Inc. are prepared for the same reporting period as Manitoba 
Liquor & Lotteries using consistent accounting policies.  

All intercompany transactions and accounts have been 
eliminated on consolidation.

(d) WESTERN CANADA LOTTERY CORPORATION 

The Western Canada Lottery Corporation (WCLC) was 
incorporated without share capital under Part II of the Canada 
Corporations Act on May 13, 1974.  The provincial governments 
of Manitoba, Saskatchewan and Alberta are members in the 
WCLC, and the Yukon Territory, the Northwest Territories and 
Nunavut participate with the provinces as associate members 
in the sale of gaming products.  Each province and territory has 
appointed a lottery organization to assist the WCLC with the 
distribution of gaming products in its jurisdiction (Manitoba 
Liquor & Lotteries for the Province of Manitoba).  

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries has significant influence, but 
not control, over the financial and operating policies of the 
WCLC and therefore accounts for its share of the results of 
the operations of the WCLC (considered an associate) using 
the equity method.  The financial statements of the WCLC are 
prepared for the same reporting period and Manitoba Liquor & 
Lotteries’ share of the profits calculated based on relative sales 
levels by jurisdiction is disclosed in note 13.
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NOTES TO C ONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT S
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017 (IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS)

(e) FIRST NATIONS CASINOS AND SHARK CLUB 
GAMING CENTRE

The Government of Manitoba has overall control over gaming in 
Manitoba in accordance with the requirements of the Criminal 
Code of Canada, and has appointed Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries 
to act as its agent in the Conduct and Management (C&M) of the 
gaming regime.  

Through a selection process, the Government has provided 
certain First Nations the opportunity to operate casinos, with 
Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries maintaining the C&M authority 
over these casinos.  Effective December 1, 2005, Manitoba 
Liquor & Lotteries received approval from its Board of Directors 
to discontinue the recovery of general administrative and 
compliance costs from First Nations Casinos and to provide these 
services only upon request on a fee for service basis.  Manitoba 
Liquor & Lotteries will continue to recover all direct and/or 
gaming related expenses.

The Government has provided the TN Arena Limited 
Partnership the opportunity to establish the Shark Club Gaming 
Centre, with Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries maintaining the C&M 
authority over this gaming centre.  As part of this authority, 
Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries recovers all direct gaming related 
expenses.  In addition, Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries has entered 
into an agreement with the owner to perform management 
services on their behalf with respect to the gaming activity of the 
gaming centre.

(f) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries operates 
and is normally the currency in which Manitoba Liquor & 
Lotteries generates and expends cash. Each entity determines 
its own functional currency and items included in the financial 
statements are measured using that functional currency.  The 
functional currency and presentation currency of Manitoba 
Liquor & Lotteries is the Canadian dollar (CAD). 

Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded at the 
functional currency rate prevailing at the date of the transaction.  
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot rate 
at the reporting date and all differences are recorded in the 
consolidated statement of net income, comprehensive income 
and equity.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities and revenue and 
expenses that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the date of 

the initial transactions.  Non-monetary items measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate 
at the date the fair value is determined.

(g) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments are recognized in the statement of 
financial position when Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries becomes 
a party to the contractual terms of the instrument, which 
represents its trade date.  Upon initial recognition Manitoba 
Liquor & Lotteries designates its financial assets as fair value 
through profit and loss or loans and receivables and its financial 
liabilities as other financial liabilities. All financial instruments 
are initially measured at fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs.

The financial assets of Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries include 
cash and trade and other receivables.  The financial liabilities of 
Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries include trade and other payables, 
payable to the Province of Manitoba and long-term debt.

(i) Fair value through profit and loss

Cash is classified as fair value through profit and loss and is 
measured at fair value.  Any gains or losses arising on the 
revaluation to fair value are recorded in the consolidated 
statement of net income, comprehensive income and equity.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 
receivables which are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. After initial measurement, these financial 
assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate method, less impairment.  Any 
gains or losses and any losses arising from impairment are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of net income, 
comprehensive income and equity.

(iii) Other financial liabilities

After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method.  Any gains or losses are recognized in 
the consolidated statement of net income, comprehensive 
income and equity.

A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset have expired or Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries 
has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset. 
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NOTES TO C ONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT S 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017 (IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS)

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under 
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.  When an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing 
financial liability are substantially modified, such an exchange 
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability.  Any difference 
in the respective carrying amounts of the financial liability 
is recognized in the consolidated statement of net income, 
comprehensive income and equity.

(h) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.  Cost 
includes expenditures directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the assets. Subsequent costs are included in an asset’s carrying 
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries and 
the cost can be reliably measured. If the costs of a certain 
component of property and equipment are significant in 
relation to the total cost of the asset, these are accounted for and                  
depreciated separately.  All other repairs and maintenance 
costs are charged to the consolidated statement of net income, 
comprehensive income and equity as incurred. 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or 
sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective assets.            
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur.  
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs associated 
with the borrowing of funds.  

Depreciation is charged to the consolidated statement of net 
income, comprehensive income and equity based on cost, 
less estimated residual value, on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Furniture and equipment		 3-40 years 
Gaming equipment		 5-8 years 
Assets related to C&M agreements	 5-7 years 
Parking lots and roads		 15-25 years 
Leasehold improvements		 Over the remaining term 

of the lease 
Major building components	 5-50 years 
Building structures		 40-50 years

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of 
depreciation are reviewed at each fiscal year-end and are adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition 
of the asset is included in the consolidated statement of net 
income, comprehensive income and equity when the asset                          
is derecognized.

(i) LEASES

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, 
a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at 
inception date based on whether fulfillment of the arrangement 
is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Leases which transfer to Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as finance leases.  Upon initial recognition the leased asset is 
measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments.  Lease payments 
are apportioned between finance charges and a reduction of 
the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges 
are recognized in the consolidated statement of net income, 
comprehensive income and equity.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the leased asset is accounted 
for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that 
asset.  Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the 
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Property leases are analyzed into separate components for land 
and buildings and tested to establish whether the components 
are operating leases or finance leases.  Premiums paid for land 
are treated as a prepayment of an operating lease rental and 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease.

Other leases are classified as operating leases and the leased 
assets are not recognized on the consolidated statement of 
financial position.  Operating lease payments are recognized 
as an expense in the consolidated statement of net income, 
comprehensive income and equity on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease.  Any predetermined, fixed rental increases 
contained in a lease are recognized over the life of the lease.
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NOTES TO C ONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT S
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017 (IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS)

(j) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Acquired intangible assets of Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries 
consist of finite life computer software.  Intangible assets acquired 
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and 
any accumulated impairment losses.  Amortization is charged to 
the consolidated statement of net income, comprehensive income 
and equity on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life 
of the asset as follows:

Computer software	 3-15 years

The assets’ useful lives and methods of amortization are reviewed 
at each fiscal year-end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Gains or losses arising from the derecognition of an intangible 
asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized 
in the consolidated statement of net income, comprehensive 
income and equity when the asset is derecognized.

(k) INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of goods for resale and consumable supplies 
and are valued at the lower of average cost and net realizable 
value. Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present 
location and condition are accounted for as the purchase cost 
assigned on a weighted average basis and are comprised of the 
purchase price, import duties and freight. Net realizable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.  

Inventory write-downs are reversed if the estimated calculations 
of the recoverable amount change. Write-downs are reversed only 
to the extent that the carrying value does not exceed the carrying 
value that would have been determined if no write-down had 
been recognized.

(l) IMPAIRMENT

(i)	 Financial assets 

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries assesses at each reporting date 
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset is 
considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that 
one or more events have occurred after initial recognition 
that have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash 
flows of that asset.  Individually significant financial assets 

are tested for impairment on an individual basis.  The 
remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups 
that share similar credit risk characteristics. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has 
occurred, the amount of the loss measured at amortized cost 
is calculated as the difference between the financial asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the current effective    
interest rate. 

(ii)	Non-financial assets

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries assesses at each reporting 
date whether there is an indication that a non-financial 
asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  For the purposes 
of impairment testing, non-financial assets are grouped 
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of 
the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets, the cash-
generating unit (CGU).

The recoverable amount of a non-financial asset or CGU is 
the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use.  Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds 
its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and 
is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less 
costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. 

Impairment losses, if applicable, are recognized in the 
consolidated statement of net income, comprehensive income 
and equity. 

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether 
there is any indication that previously recognized impairment 
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  A previously 
recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the assumptions used to determine the 
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss 
was recognized.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been 
recognized.  Impairment loss reversals are recognized in the 
consolidated statement of net income, comprehensive income 
and equity in a manner consistent with the originally recognized     
impairment loss.
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NOTES TO C ONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT S 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017 (IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS)

(m) PROVISIONS

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, Manitoba 
Liquor & Lotteries has a present legal or constructive obligation 
that can be reliably measured and it is probable that an outflow 
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  The 
expense relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated 
statement of net income, comprehensive income and equity 
net of any reimbursement and, if the effect of the time value of 
money is material, is discounted using a rate that reflects, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  Where discounting 
is used, the increase to the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognized as a finance cost.

(n) PENSION PLANS 

In accordance with the provisions of the Civil Service 
Superannuation Act (CSSA), employees of Manitoba Liquor 
& Lotteries are eligible for pension benefits.  Plan members 
are required to contribute to the multi-employer Civil Service 
Superannuation Fund (Fund) at prescribed rates for defined 
benefits and will receive benefits based on the length of service 
and on the average of annualized earnings calculated on the best 
five years prior to retirement, termination or death that provides 
the highest earnings.  Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries is required to 
match contributions contributed to the Fund by the employees 
at prescribed rates, which is recorded as an operating expense.  
Under the CSSA, Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries has no further 
pension liability. Based on limited information available from the 
Fund, Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries has judged this information 
to be insufficient to properly allocate any potential pension 
plan deficits and is therefore not able to reliably determine its 
participation in any potential future deficit. As a result, Manitoba 
Liquor & Lotteries expenses contributions made to the pension 
plan as if the plan was a defined contribution plan.

For employees whose annual earnings exceed the limit under 
the Fund, a pension liability is established.  This liability is 
determined actuarially on an annual basis.  Actuarial gains and 
losses are recognized immediately in the consolidated statement 
of financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to 
operating expenses in the period in which they occur.

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries also makes contributions for certain 
employees and officers to a money purchase pension plan at 
prescribed rates, which are recorded as an operating expense.

(o) REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries and 
the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at 
the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, 
rebates and sales taxes.

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries assesses its revenue arrangements 
against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as 
principal or agent and has concluded that it is acting as principal 
in all of its revenue arrangements, with the exception of the 
third-party AIR MILES® program in which Manitoba Liquor 
& Lotteries participates.  The AIR MILES® program allows 
customers to earn AIR MILES® points when they purchase 
products in Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ retail liquor stores. 
The redemption of points by customers is the responsibility of 
the third-party AIR MILES® program. Consideration received is 
recorded net of related expenses as Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries 
is acting as an agent for the AIR MILES® program.

Revenue from product sales is recognized when the significant 
rewards of ownership of the products have passed to the 
buyer, usually on the delivery of products.  Lottery revenue 
is recognized as of the date of the draw with the exception of 
instant game revenue which is recorded at the time the ticket 
is activated by the retailer via the online accounting system for 
sale to customers.  Video lottery and other gaming revenue are 
recognized at the time of play, net of prizes paid.  

(p) PROMOTIONAL ALLOWANCES

Promotional allowances include the value of food, beverages and 
other items provided on a complimentary basis to casino patrons.  
The value of these complimentary items is included in gross 
revenue and then deducted as a promotional allowance to arrive 
at net revenue.

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries also operates a loyalty points 
program whereby patrons can earn points based upon their level 
of play on certain casino games.  Points can be redeemed for 
certain goods and services provided by the casinos.  Where a 
revenue transaction includes points awarded under the program, 
the revenue allocated to the points is deferred based on the fair 
value of the awards, which is assigned as $0.01 per point earned, 
and recognized as revenue when the points are redeemed and 
Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries fulfils its obligation to supply        
the awards.  
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(q) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX

In lieu of Goods and Services Tax (GST) on lottery and gaming 
revenue, Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries foregoes claiming 
input tax credits and pays an additional 5% GST on gaming 
expenditures, including retailer commissions. This additional 5% 
is reported as GST expense in the consolidated statement of net 
income, comprehensive income and equity.

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries collects GST on liquor sales, and 
applicable entertainment, food & beverage and casino retail store 
operations.  An input tax credit is claimed for GST paid on non-
gaming expenditures. 

(r) ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Assets held for sale are presented separately in the consolidated 
statement of financial position when the following criteria are 
met:  Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries is committed to selling the 
assets, an active plan of sale has commenced, and the sale 

is expected to be completed within 12 months.  Immediately 
before the initial classification of the assets as held for sale, the 
carrying amounts of the assets are measured in accordance 
with the applicable accounting policy.  Assets held for sale are 
subsequently measured at the lower of their carrying amount and 
fair value less cost to sell.

(s) CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

During the year, Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries chose to adopt the 
following standard:

(i) IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements was amended 
in December 2014 as part of the IASB’s major initiative to 
improve presentation and disclosure in financial reports 
(the Disclosure Initiative).  The amendments were effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016.  
The adoption of the amendments to IAS 1 did not have 
any impact on Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ consolidated 
financial statements.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of financial statements requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements.  Actual results could differ                        
from those estimates.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements of 
Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries are discussed below.

(a) DETERMINATION OF USEFUL LIVES FOR 
TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries has based the determination of the 
useful lives of tangible and intangible assets on a detailed review 
of all empirical data for the different asset classes.  Manitoba 
Liquor & Lotteries annually reviews the validity of the useful 
lives applied to the different asset classes based on current 

circumstances and considers the impact of any external or 
internal changes in Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ environment 
which may indicate the requirement to reconsider these       
useful lives.

(b) LOYALTY POINTS PROGRAM

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries operates a program whereby 
patrons can earn points based upon their level of play on certain 
casino games.  Points can be redeemed for certain goods and 
services provided by the casinos. 

The future redemption liability of $3,580 (2016 – $3,541) 
is included in trade and other payables and is based on an 
assessment of anticipated point redemptions and point value.  
Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries adjusts the estimated liability based 
on redemption experience and additional points earned and any 
adjustments will be recorded in the consolidated statement of net 
income, comprehensive income and equity.
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The following standards, which are reasonably expected to be 
applicable to Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries, have been issued but 
were not yet effective at the date of issuance of the consolidated 
financial statements.  

(i) IAS 7 – Statement of Cash Flows was amended in January 
2016 as part of the IASB’s major initiative to improve 
presentation and disclosure in the Disclosure Initiative.  
These amendments will not require any significant change 
to current practice, but should facilitate improved financial 
statement disclosures.  The amendments are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017 and 
Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries is currently evaluating the 
impact of adoption of the amended standard.

(ii) IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments introduces new 
requirements for the classification and measurement of 
financial instruments.  IFRS 9 requires all recognized 
financial assets that are within the scope of 
IAS 39 – Financial Instruments:  Recognition and 
Measurement, to be measured at amortized cost or fair 
value in subsequent accounting periods following initial 
recognition.  Requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial liabilities are largely carried 
forward from existing IAS 39 requirements with the 
exception that fair value changes due to credit risk for 
liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss 
would generally be recorded in other comprehensive 
income.  IFRS 9 also includes guidance on hedge accounting.  
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2018 and must be applied retrospectively 
with certain exemptions.  Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries 
is currently evaluating the impact of adoption of the              
new standard.

(iii) IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
was issued in May 2014 and supersedes existing standards 
and related interpretations including IAS 18 – Revenue 
and IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty Programmes.  IFRS 15 
introduces a single model for recognizing revenue from 
contracts with customers in a manner that depicts the 
transfer of goods or services to customers in amounts that 
reflect the consideration to which the entity is expected to 
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.  The new 
standard is intended to enhance disclosures about revenue, 
provide guidance for transactions not previously addressed 
and improve guidance for multiple-element arrangements.  
IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018 and Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries is currently 
evaluating the impact of adoption of the new standard.

(iv) IFRS 16 – Leases was issued in January 2016 and 
supersedes existing standard IAS 17 – Leases and related 
interpretations.  IFRS 16 sets out principles for the 
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure 
of leases for both parties to a contract, referred to as 
the customer (lessee) and the supplier (lessor).  IFRS 16 
introduces a single lessee accounting model, eliminating 
the classification of leases as either finance or operating 
and will require lessees to recognize assets and liabilities 
for most leases.  The new standard does not substantially 
change lessor accounting requirements therefore lessors will 
continue to classify leases as operating or finance.  IFRS 16 
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2019 and Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries is currently 
evaluating the impact of adoption of the new standard.

4 . STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
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6 . INVENTORIES

2017 2016

Warehouse $ 34,465 $ 33,301
Retail locations 16,817 16,398
Consumable supplies 318 171

$ 51,600 $ 49,870

7 . PREPAYMENT S

2017 2016

Maintenance contracts $ 2,846 $ 2,824

Rent 960 963

Deposits and other 1,037 1,113
Insurance 347 335

$ 5,190 $ 5,235

5 . TR ADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2017 2016

Trade $ 43,161 $ 40,274

Goods and Services Tax 4,912 4,169
Western Canada Lottery Corporation 2,232 1,479

$ 50,305 $ 45,922

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ exposure to credit risk related to 
trade and other receivables is disclosed in note 16 (d).

The amount of unpaid and unrecorded Customs and Excise duties 
on owned merchandise held in bond is approximately $4,865 at 
the end of the 2017 fiscal year (2016 – $4,501).
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8 . PROPERT Y AND EQUIPMENT

Land

Buildings, 
parking lots 

and roads
Leasehold 

improvements
Gaming 

equipment

Furniture 
and 

equipment

Assets related 
to C&M 

agreements

Work in 
progress 

(WIP) Total)

COST 
April 1, 2015 $      25,427) $   280,286) $      24,601) $   204,318)  $   138,572)  $      33,697) $      37,984) $   744,885)
Additions 845) 9,811) 2,797) 23,032) 6,099) 329) 19,894) 62,807)
Transfers from WIP -) 3,313) 76) 5,884) 3,010) 1,091) (13,374) -)
Disposals -) (64) (2,446) (16,050) (13,897) (172) -) (32,629)
March 31, 2016    26,272)  293,346) 25,028) 217,184) 133,784) 34,945) 44,504) 775,063)
Additions -) 3,648) 172) 7,876) 6,176) 3,423) 46,300) 67,595)
Transfers from WIP -) 7,544) 45) 272) 146) 1,763) (9,770) -)
Reclassified as 
held for sale (845) (7,266) -) -) -) -) (1,141) (9,252)
Disposals -) (34) (46) (16,902) (1,491) (469) -) (18,942)
March 31, 2017 $     25,427) $   297,238)  $      25,199) $   208,430) $   138,615) $     39,662) $      79,893) $   814,464)

DEPRECIATION
April 1, 2015 $                -)   $   112,634) $      11,031) $   116,465) $   109,801) $      19,998) $                -) $  369,929)
Depreciation -) 8,963) 2,308) 24,256) 10,042) 4,138) -) 49,707)
Disposals -) (64) (2,446) (13,599) (13,896) (172) -) (30,177)
March 31, 2016             -)   121,533) 10,893) 127,122) 105,947) 23,964)                 -) 389,459)
Depreciation -) 8,869) 2,357) 24,349) 9,066) 4,755) -) 49,396)
Reclassified as held 
for sale -) (365) -) -) -) -) -) (365)
Disposals -) (34) (46) (16,902) (1,463) (469) -) (18,914)
March 31, 2017 $          -)   $  130,003) $      13,204) $   134,569) $   113,550) $     28,250)  $                 -)   $  419,576)

NET BOOK VALUE
March 31, 2017 $      25,427) $  167,235) $      11,995) $     73,861) $     25,065) $     11,412) $      79,893)    $  394,888)  
March 31, 2016    26,272) 171,813) 14,135) 90,062) 27,837) 10,981) 44,504) 385,604)

Capital assets related to C&M agreements consist primarily of the 
cost of the gaming equipment and related computer equipment 
for the First Nations Casinos and Shark Club Gaming Centre.  

Property and equipment not yet in use is classified as work in 
progress and is stated at cost.  No depreciation is recorded for 
these assets.

At the end of the 2017 fiscal year, assets held for sale relate to 
the land, building, and parkade at 233 Kennedy Street and 218 
Edmonton Street in Winnipeg, Manitoba, which were offered 
for sale in January 2017.  The assets held for sale are presented at 
their carrying amount in the consolidated statement of financial 

position. The sale was completed during the 2018 fiscal year and is 
disclosed in note 19.

The amount of borrowing costs capitalized during the 2017 fiscal 
year was $1,062 (2016 – $143).  The rate used to determine the 
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization was 1.950%, 
the effective interest rate of the specific borrowing.

The net book value of buildings and parking lots held under 
finance leases at the end of the 2017 fiscal year is $3,076          
(2016 – $3,355) and consists of land being used for parking 
facilities at the McPhillips Station Casino and the Video Lotto 
office building located in Morris, Manitoba.
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9 . INTANGIBLE ASSET S

Computer software - acquired

COST
April 1, 2015 $   42,250)                      
Additions 3,494)
Disposals (756)
March 31, 2016 44,988)
Additions 1,498)
Disposals (197)
March 31, 2017 $   46,289)

AMORTIZATION 
April 1, 2015 $   25,793)
Amortization 5,191)
Disposals (756)
March 31, 2016 30,228)     
Amortization 4,648)
Disposals (197)     
March 31, 2017 $   34,679)                                             

NET BOOK VALUE
March 31, 2017 $   11,610)                        
March 31, 2016 14,760)      

10. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

11 . LONG-TERM DEBT

2017 2016

Province of Manitoba, bearing interest at rates ranging from 1.750% to 5.050%, repayable in monthly principal 
installments ranging from $6 to $685 plus interest with maturity dates ranging from August 31, 2016 to 
November 30, 2035. $ 380,599 $ 369,213

Finance lease obligation to the Province of Manitoba, with a 7.630% implicit interest rate and annual minimum 
lease payments of $64 until January 1, 2017. - 41

380,599 369,254
Less current portion of long-term debt 52,610 48,286

$ 327,989 $ 320,968

All long-term debt is unsecured and the fair market value at March 31, 2017 is $389,041.  

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ exposure to liquidity risk related to long-term debt is disclosed in note 16 (c).

2017 2016

Trade $    69,540     $    71,015     

Employee benefits 30,987 32,124

Province of Manitoba taxes 2,807 3,726

Jackpot liability 2,990 2,654

$ 106,324     $ 109,519     
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12. REVENUE, COST OF SALES AND EXPENSES BY NATURE

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ revenue consists of the following:
2017 2016

Liquor sales $  770,054 $ 752,882 
VLT 344,037 334,606
Casino and online gaming 218,044 217,278
Non-gaming revenue 28,661 22,586

$ 1,360,796     $ 1,327,352     

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ cost of sales consists of the following:
2017 2016

Liquor cost of sales $ 376,765      $ 365,233      
VLT commissions 33,013 32,477
Gaming direct expenses 9,561 9,203
Non-gaming cost of sales 8,417 7,977

$ 427,756    $ 414,890    

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ operating expenses by their nature are as follows:

2017 2016

Employee benefits $ 166,916     $ 159,855     
Bank charges 3,574 3,430
Community support 4,443 4,158
Consultant and professional fees 3,891 4,157
Freight and delivery 3,726 3,430
Grants in lieu of taxes 6,277 6,345
Maintenance 22,621 23,767
Marketing and public awareness 11,817 11,730
Rents 9,164 7,808
Sundry 1,836 2,642
Supplies and equipment 5,079 4,969
Telecommunications 3,994 3,624
Transportation and vehicles 1,546 1,587
Utilities 3,896 3,708

$ 248,780 $ 241,210

Gaming direct expenses consist primarily of costs associated with 
the operation and maintenance of the Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries 
electronic gaming equipment, table games equipment and online 
gaming site.  

Non-gaming revenue and cost of sales consists primarily of 
revenue and costs associated with Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ 
entertainment, food & beverage and casino retail store operations.
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13 . SHARE OF PROFIT OF WCLC

2017 2016

Revenue $ 228,978      $ 248,698      

Prizes, commissions and other cost of sales 159,331 172,783
WCLC partner equalization 4,701 4,372
Payment to Government of Canada 2,374 2,277
Profit $ 62,572     $ 69,266     

14 . ALLO CATIONS AND PAYMENT S

2017 2016

LGA funding and Crown Corporations Council levy $ 4,713      $ 5,218      
First Nations allocation 55,306 48,627
Tourism contribution 24,253 24,016
Social responsibility funding 9,776 9,834
Casino bingo volunteer program and other community funding 4,741 4,637

$ 98,789     $ 92,332     

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries provides funding to the Liquor and 
Gaming Authority of Manitoba (LGA) through the payment of 
annual licence fees for employees, electronic gaming devices and 
retail liquor locations; as well as additional amounts directed to be 
paid under The Liquor and Gaming Control Act.  Manitoba Liquor 
& Lotteries also provides funding to the Crown Corporations 
Council through the payment of an annual levy.

First Nations VLT siteholders receive an allocation of VLT 
revenue to provide sustainable social and economic benefits and 
opportunities within the siteholders’ communities in Manitoba.  

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries provides contributions towards 
supporting tourism in Manitoba through the VLT program.

The WCLC earned revenue in the 2017 fiscal year in the amount 
of $1,330,359 (2016 – $1,480,442), of which Manitoba Liquor 
& Lotteries’ share calculated based on relative sales levels by 
jurisdiction is 17% (2016 – 17%).  The WCLC’s total profit for 
the 2017 fiscal year was $454,821 (2016 – $506,582) of which 
Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ share is 14% (2016 – 14%).

The Province of Manitoba is a member in the WCLC.  An 
agreement is in place with the Provinces of Alberta and 

Saskatchewan where Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries provides 
economic benefit equalization specific to salary costs of head 
office employees residing in Manitoba.

Effective January 1, 1980 the Government of Canada terminated 
its involvement in lotteries. In return, the ten provinces are to 
contribute an annual sum of $24,000, adjusted for inflation, to the 
Federal Government.
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Social responsibility funding includes amounts paid to the 
Addictions Foundation of Manitoba and other organizations 
for their research and programming that promote responsible 
gaming and responsible liquor consumption.  Manitoba Liquor 
& Lotteries is required to allocate 2% of annual anticipated 
consolidated net income and comprehensive income to social 
responsibility initiatives.  Any liability associated with this 
funding is included in trade and other payables.

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries provides charitable and 
community organizations the opportunity to raise funds for 
their organizations by assisting in the bingo events held at its 
casinos and by providing funding to various community groups 
throughout Manitoba.

15 .C OMMITMENT S AND C ONTINGENCIES

(a) LEASE OBLIGATIONS 

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries has entered into commercial leases 
on certain buildings and parking lots which have an average 
remaining term of 1 to 17 years.  In addition, Manitoba Liquor 
& Lotteries has entered into commercial leases on certain motor 
vehicles which have a remaining term ranging between 1 to 2 
years.  The future minimum rental payments relating to operating 
leases are as follows:

2018 $     7,984 
2019 7,291
2020 6,722
2021 6,146
2022 5,563
Subsequent years 33,440

$   67,146 

(b) LEGAL CLAIMS

Incidental to the nature of its business, Manitoba Liquor & 
Lotteries is defending various pending legal actions and claims.  
While the outcome of these claims cannot be determined, 
management is of the opinion that the appropriate adjustments 
have been made in the accounts, and the ultimate outcome will 
not have a material adverse effect on the financial position of 
Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries.

(c) PURCHASE COMMITMENTS

At the end of the 2017 fiscal year, Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries 
had purchase commitments of $36,073 related to casino and retail 
liquor store construction projects.
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Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries is exposed to interest rate, 
currency, liquidity and credit risks arising from financial 
assets and liabilities.  Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ objectives 
in managing these risks are to protect from volatility and to 
minimize exposure from fluctuations in market rates and does 
so through a combination of a system of internal and disclosure 
controls, effective cash management strategies and sound                  
business practices.

Risk management policies have been established to identify and 
analyze the risks faced by Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and 
adherence to limits.  Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ management 
oversees the management of these risks in accordance with the 
risk management policies and framework approved by the Board 
of Directors.  

(a) INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk is the risk to Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ 
income that arises from fluctuations in interest rates and the 
degree of volatility of these rates.  Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries 
does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure 
to interest rate risk, though risks associated with interest rate 
fluctuations are mitigated based on 100% (2016 – 100%) of long-
term debt having a fixed interest rate.  

(b) CURRENCY RISK

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries is exposed to currency risk through 
liquor inventory purchase transactions that require settlement in 
foreign currencies.  Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates is 
mitigated by the policy of adjusting purchase or selling prices to 
maintain approved liquor profit margins. Purchases denominated 
in foreign currencies during the 2017 fiscal year were $7,732 
(2016 – $9,933). Accordingly, a 10% increase or decrease in the 
exchange rate between the Canadian dollar and other foreign 
currencies would result in a total increase or decrease of $773 
(2016 – $993) assuming the inventory purchased had been sold by 
the end of the year.

(c) LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries will 
encounter difficulties in meeting its financial liability obligations.  
Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries manages this risk through effective 
cash and long-term debt management.  Trade and other payables 
are due within one year and a significant portion of the long-term 
debt is repayable in either quarterly or monthly installments.  
Liquidity risk is further mitigated by collection terms on trade 
and other receivables being set at less than or equal to the 
payment terms of trade and other payables.

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of Manitoba 
Liquor & Lotteries’ financial liabilities as at year-end based on 
contractual undiscounted payments.

2017 On demand
Less than 

1 year 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years > 5 years

Trade and other payables $  2,990 $  103,334 $            - $            - $            - $            - $           - $              -
Payable to the Province of Manitoba - 63,725 - - - - - -
Long-term debt - 52,610 50,547 47,626 36,457 35,838 35,375 122,146

$ 2,990 $ 219,669 $ 50,547 $ 47,626 $ 36,457 $ 35,838 $ 35,375 $ 122,146

2016 On demand
Less than 

1 year 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years > 5 years

Trade and other payables $ 2,654 $  106,865 $            - $           - $           - $            - $           - $              -
Payable to the Province of Manitoba - 55,671 - - - - - -
Long-term debt - 48,286 46,068 44,004 41,084 29,915 29,875 130,022

$ 2,654 $ 210,822 $ 46,068 $ 44,004 $ 41,084 $ 29,915 $ 29,875 $ 130,022

16 . FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT S
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2017 On demand
Less than

1 year 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years > 5 years

Trade and other payables $  2,990 $  103,334 $            - $            - $            - $            - $           - $              -
Payable to the Province of Manitoba - 63,725 - - - - - -
Long-term debt - 52,610 50,547 47,626 36,457 35,838 35,375 122,146

$ 2,990 $ 219,669 $ 50,547 $ 47,626 $ 36,457 $ 35,838 $ 35,375 $ 122,146

2016 On demand
Less than

1 year 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years > 5 years

Trade and other payables $ 2,654 $  106,865 $            - $           - $           - $            - $           - $              -
Payable to the Province of Manitoba - 55,671 - - - - - -
Long-term debt - 48,286 46,068 44,004 41,084 29,915 29,875 130,022

$ 2,654 $ 210,822 $ 46,068 $ 44,004 $ 41,084 $ 29,915 $ 29,875 $ 130,022

(d) CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk to Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries that a 
counterparty will fail to perform its obligations or pay amounts 
due causing a financial loss.  Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries 
mitigates this risk through centralized credit management and 
collection practices and, where applicable, the establishment of a 
reasonable allowance for non-collectible amounts which is netted 
against trade and other receivables.  Trade and other receivables 
are non-interest bearing and generally have 30 day terms.  The 

requirement for impairment is analyzed at each reporting date 
for every customer on an individual basis and trade and other 
receivables are written off when management determines that 
they cannot be collected.  The maximum credit risk exposure 
is the carrying value of each class of financial asset disclosed in 
note 5 and it is management’s opinion that Manitoba Liquor & 
Lotteries does not have significant concentration risk. 

The aging of trade and other receivables at the end of the 2017 
fiscal year is as follows:

Neither impaired nor past due $    50,077 
Not impaired and past due as follows:
   Within 30 days 36
   31 to 60 days 91
   61 to 90 days 14
   Over 90 days 87      
Allowance for doubtful accounts -

$   50,305  

(e) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ capital is comprised of long-
term debt and equity.  Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ objectives 
when managing its capital structure are to continue its ability to 
meet its financial obligations and to finance growth and capital 
expenditures.  These objectives are considered in the preparation 
of an annual budget and in the monitoring of cash flows and 
actual operating results compared to budget and have remained 
unchanged over the fiscal years presented.	

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries is subject to capital growth 
restrictions as the result of the requirement to allocate 100% of 
annual consolidated net income and comprehensive income to 
the Province of Manitoba.

(f) FAIR VALUE

The fair value of Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ financial 
instruments on initial recognition is the transaction price, which 
is the value of the consideration given or received.  Financial 
instruments recognized at fair value must be classified in one of 
the following three fair value hierarchy levels:

Level 1 - measurement based on quoted prices (unadjusted) 
observed in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  
An active market for an asset or liability is a market in which 
transactions for assets or liabilities occur with sufficient frequency 
and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Level 2 - measurement based on inputs other than quoted prices 
included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability such 
as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in 
markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or 
can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially 
the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 - measurement based on inputs that are not observable 
(supported by little or no market activity) and that are significant 
to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
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2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash $  33,168  $           - $           - $  33,168    

$  33,168  $           - $            - $  33,168  

2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash $  38,053  $           - $           - $  38,053 

$  38,053  $           - $           - $  38,053  

	 2017 	 2016

Short-term employee benefits $        2,555 $        2,477
Post-employment pension and medical benefits 157 159
Termination benefits 687 189

$        3,399 $        2,825

17 . REL ATED PART Y DISCLOSURES

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ financial instruments consist of 
cash, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, 
payable to the Province of Manitoba and long-term debt.  Unless 
otherwise stated, the fair value of Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries’ 
financial instruments approximates their carrying value.  

Financial instruments recorded at fair value, classified using the 
fair value hierarchy, are as follows:

Manitoba Liquor & Lotteries is related to various other 
government agencies, ministries and Crown corporations 
under the common control of the Government of Manitoba.  
All transactions with these related parties are in the normal 
course of operations and are measured at terms equivalent to 
those that prevail in arm’s length transactions.  Outstanding 
balances at year-end are unsecured and settlement occurs in cash.  

These transactions include long-term debt with the Province 
of Manitoba as disclosed in note 11 of these consolidated       
financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of Manitoba Liquor 
& Lotteries, which is recognized as an operating expense during 
the year, is as follows:
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18 . C OMPAR ATIVE FIGURES

19 . EVENT S AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Comparative figures are presented where available.  The 
comparative consolidated financial statements have been 
reclassified from statements previously presented to conform 

to the presentation of the current year’s consolidated              
financial statements.

On June 20, 2017, the sale of the assets identified in Note 8 as 
held for sale, which included the land, building, and parkade at              
233 Kennedy Street and 218 Edmonton Street in Winnipeg, 

Manitoba was finalized.  The gain on disposal of property and 
equipment of approximately $5,784 will be realized during the 
2018 fiscal year.
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